

Agyepong, I.A.; Sewankambo, N.; Binagwaho, A.; Coll-Seck, A.M.; Corrah, T.; Ezeh, A.; Fekadu, A.; Kilonzo, N.; Lamptey, P.; Masiye, F.; Mayosi, B.; Mboup, S.; Muyembe, J.J.; Pate, M.; Sidibe, M.; Simons, B.; Tlou, S.; Gheorghe, A.; Legido-Quigley, H.; McManus, J.; Ng, E.; O'Leary, M.; Enoch, J.; Kassebaum, N.; Piot, P. (2017) [Accepted Manuscript] The path to longer and healthier lives for all Africans by 2030: the Lancet Commission on the future of health in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet. ISSN 0140-6736 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31509-X

Downloaded from: http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/4398506/

DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31509-X

Usage Guidelines

 $Please \ refer \ to \ usage \ guidelines \ at \ http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html \ or \ alternatively \ contact \ researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.$ 

Available under license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/

## The path to longer and healthier lives for all Africans by 2030

## The Lancet Commission on the Future of Health in Sub-Saharan Africa

## DRAFT REPORT, 21 April 2016 NOT FOR CIRCULATION OR CITATION

*The Lancet* Commission on the future of health in sub-Saharan Africa, Irene Agyepong<sup>1</sup>, Nelson Sewankambo<sup>2\*</sup>, Agnes Binagwaho<sup>3</sup>, Awa Marie Coll-Seck<sup>4</sup>, Tumani Corrah<sup>5</sup>, Alex Ezeh<sup>6</sup>, Abebaw Fekadu<sup>7</sup>, Nduku Kilonzo<sup>8</sup>, Peter Lamptey<sup>9</sup>, Felix Masiye<sup>10</sup>, Bongani Mayosi<sup>11</sup>, Souleymane Mboup<sup>12</sup>, Jean-Jacques Muyembe<sup>13</sup>, Muhammad Pate<sup>14</sup>, Myriam Sidibe<sup>15</sup>, Bright Simons<sup>16</sup>, Sheila Tlou<sup>17</sup>, Adrian Gheorghe<sup>18</sup>, Helena Legido-Quigley<sup>19</sup>, Joanne McManus<sup>20</sup>, Edmond Ng<sup>21</sup>, Maureen O'Leary<sup>22</sup>, Jamie Enoch<sup>23</sup>, Nicholas Kassebaum<sup>24</sup>, Peter Piot<sup>25\*</sup>

\*Correspondence to: Prof Nelson Sewankambo, Makerere University Medical School, Kampala, Uganda (<u>sewankam@infocom.co.ug</u>) and Prof Peter Piot, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK (peter.piot@lshtm.ac.uk)

Affiliations

- 1. Prof, PhD; School of Public Health, University of Ghana, Accra, Ghana
- 2. Prof, MD; Makerere University Medical School, Kampala, Uganda
- 3. Prof, MD; University of Global Health Equity, Rwanda
- 4. Prof, MD; Ministry of Health, Dakar, Senegal
- 5. Prof, MD; MRC Gambia, Banjul, The Gambia
- 6. PhD; African Population and Health Research Center, Nairobi, Kenya

7. MD; Center for Innovative Drug Development and Therapeutic Trials for Africa, Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

8. PhD; National AIDS Control Council, Ministry of Health, Nairobi, Kenya

9. Prof, MD; FHI 360, Durham, USA; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

- 10. Prof, PhD; Department of Economics, University of Zambia, Lusaka, Zambia
- 11. Prof, MD; Faculty of Health Sciences University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa

12. Prof, PhD; Bacteriology Virology Laboratory of the University Hospital Centre Aristide Le Dantec, Dakar, Senegal

- 13. Prof, PhD; National Institute for Biomedical Research, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo
- 14. MD; Duke Global Health Institute, Durham NC, USA
- 15. DrPH; Unilever, Nairobi, Kenya
- 16. PhD; mPedigree Network, Accra, Ghana
- 17. PhD; Regional Support Team for Eastern and Southern Africa, UNAIDS, Geneva, Switzerland

18. PhD; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK; Oxford Policy Management, Oxford, UK

19. PhD; Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health, National University of Singapore, Singapore 20. BSc; Independent, Oxford, UK

- 21. MSc; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK
- 22. PhD; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK
- 23. MSc; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK
- 24. MD; Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, Seattle, USA
- 25. Prof, MD; London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

## Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A SOBERING LEGACY, A PROMISING FUTURE
SECTION 1. HEALTH IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA: CURRENT SITUATION AND PROJECTIONS TO 2030 8
SECTION 2. THE PATH TO LONG AND HEALTHY LIVES FOR ALL AFRICANS BY 2030
SECTION 3: PEOPLE-CENTRED HEALTH SYSTEMS
SECTION 4. STEWARDSHIP IN SHAPING THE FUTURE OF HEALTH IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA
SECTION 5. TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FINANCING FOR HEALTH
SECTION 6. ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL HEALTH COMMODITIES
SECTION 7. STRENGTHENING PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEMS AND CONTAINING EPIDEMIC THREATS37
SECTION 8. A HEALTH WORKFORCE COMMENSURATE WITH AFRICA'S HEALTH NEEDS
SECTION 9. RESEARCH AND HIGHER EDUCATION: KEY DRIVERS OF BETTER HEALTH AND
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
SECTION 10: EMBRACING INNOVATION
SECTION 11. SECURING THE FUTURE: AN AGENDA FOR ACTION

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Sub-Saharan Africa's health challenges are numerous and wide ranging. Most countries face a double burden of traditional, persisting health challenges such as infectious diseases, malnutrition, and child and maternal mortality, as well as emerging challenges from a rising prevalence of chronic conditions, mental health disorders, injuries, and health problems related to climate change and environmental degradation. Though there has been real progress on many health indicators, life expectancy and most population health indicators remain behind most low- and middle-income countries in other parts of the world.

Our Commission was prompted by the region's potential to improve health on its own terms, and largely with its own resources. The spirit of this report is one of evidence-based optimism, with a caution. We recognise that major health inequities exist and that health outcomes are worst in fragile countries, in rural areas, urban slums, and conflict zones, and among the poor, disabled, and marginalised. In addition sub-Saharan Africa is facing the challenges and opportunities of the largest cohort of young people in history, with the youth population under 25 nearly double from 230 million to 450 million by 2050. The future of health in Africa is bright, but only if no one is left behind.

Sub-Saharan countries face difficult development agendas in the decades to come, but also immense opportunities to be acted upon without delay. A key message of this Commission is that the opportunities ahead cannot be unlocked with more of the same. Continuing at the current pace of progress, using models of service delivery and population health that are struggling with results, equity, and sustainability across the world, including in high-income countries, is a recipe for failure. This is why we are advocating an approach based on people-centred health systems and inspired by recent progress that can be adapted in line with each country's specific needs. Moreover, we believe firmly that better health will not only benefit countries' populations directly, it will also act as a catalyst enabling the successful pursuit of all other development agendas summarised in the Sustainable Development Goals.

Leadership on Africa's health, scientific, and development challenges must come from Africans in close collaboration with the global community, including non-traditional development partners. In addition to aligning with the host country's priorities, harmonising the different global and domestic health mechanisms is key to reduce transaction costs of service delivery and reporting.

A comprehensive approach and system-wide changes are required. A fragmented health agenda will deliver some results but it will not succeed in strengthening health service delivery and public health systems, and it will not address the determinants of health. Broad partnerships beyond the medical and health community are essential to move the health agenda forward. Without a serious shift in mindsets across all levels of society, all sectors of government, and all institutions it will be difficult to have meaningful and sustainable change. Africa's young people will be key to bringing about the transformative changes needed to rapidly accelerate efforts to improve health and health equity across sub-Saharan Africa.

We highlight 12 strategic options that all sub-Saharan countries should consider in their policies and plans. They are connected to the health-related Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and integrate commitments made by regional African bodies. They are as much about promoting health and preventing disease as they are about expanding access to treatment.

Building health systems commensurate to the challenges of 21<sup>st</sup> century Africa requires action in the critical areas of:

- people-centred health systems, universal health coverage, the social determinants of health, and health outcomes
- leadership, stewardship, civil society engagement, and accountability at all levels
- financing for health
- commodity security (i.e. medicines, technologies, essential equipment, tools, supplies, etc)
- public health systems
- health workforce development
- research and higher education
- innovation in products, service delivery, and governance.

These eight interconnected areas are covered in separate sections of the report. We describe the different areas where changes are needed and make recommendations for the way forward, recognising the great diversity within the region.

This Commission's vision and aspiration is that by 2030 Africans should have the same opportunities for long and healthy lives that new technologies, well functioning health systems, and good governance offer people living on other continents. The report concludes with an agenda for action based on the following key messages.

# A paradigm shift is needed to deliver better health outcomes through people-centred health systems and universal health coverage.

Current paradigms rely on hospitals and individual care and are unlikely to lead to the achievement of greatly improved health for all Africans. A rapid expansion of new, African-bred approaches to people-centred health systems focused on prevention, primary care, and public health supported by clinical referral systems and quality tertiary care is required to move to the next stage of better health. Universal health coverage should be designed with local values, sustainability, and equity in mind from the onset.

#### There are historic, not to be missed opportunities to improve health within the next decade.

Given the region's economic growth and societal changes, and building on the momentum from the beginning of the SDG era, most sub-Saharan countries have an opportunity to bring some traditional health challenges under control and to prevent others from taking hold and having the same devastating impact seen in other regions of the world. Examples include eliminating polio and guinea worm, meeting demand for modern contraceptives, reducing maternal mortality and water borne diseases, greatly reducing the mortality and incidence of HIV infection, making significant progress on sanitation, and preventing an epidemic of tobacco-related diseases, among others.

## Achieving good health for all citizens should be a political and investment priority for every sub-Saharan country.

In addition to a better life for people, investing more in health will contribute to economic growth and sustainable development. Good health for all citizens is a central responsibility of the state and its elected bodies, requiring considerable investment of public funds, a legislative framework, and a whole-of-society response. Accountability requires mechanisms to hold duty-bearers to account, and people need to have the capacity to demand their rights.

#### Each country needs to chart its own sustainable path to improve health outcomes.

Each country needs home-bred solutions, building the required systems based on its own culture while making maximal use of international experiences and evidence, strengthened stewardship of health, and commitment to accountability. All domestic and external resources for health should be aligned to a country's national health strategy, with actions evaluated by specific health outcomes.

#### All countries can and should invest more in health and do more to address inefficiencies.

Governments need to identify new funding sources and maintain steady progress over time towards increasing the share of pre-paid contributions in total health expenditure and towards prioritising health in domestic budgets. Although there is no single benchmark to determine funding needs, targets to aim for include 5% of GDP, 15% of government expenditure, and US\$ 86 per capita. Improving access and outcomes for the poor must remain a priority and requires more effort in identifying and reaching these groups. Improving public financial management is the foundation of better health spending and must be complemented with taking a systemic approach to implementing reforms with a view to reducing fragmentation and inefficiencies across health system functions, public sector portfolios, and stakeholders.

## Closing health equity gaps should be a core concern for policy and action.

The poor in Africa still have disproportionately less access to health services and are more exposed to impoverishing expenditure compared to the non-poor. All efforts to improve health must explicitly address the crying inequities within countries. Health inequities are greatest among the very poor, rural populations, those who are marginalised or excluded from society, and those who live in humanitarian settings and conflict zones. A key priority is reducing out-of-pocket payments: despite overall progress during the past decade, some countries have had little reduction in their share of total health expenditure. In more than a third of the countries such payments make up more than 40% of total health expenditure, and in only five countries (Botswana, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, and South Africa) they represent less than 10%. Further progress is needed in removing user fees and ensuring the poor benefit the most from health insurance schemes.

## Investments in higher education and research are essential for better health and sustainable development.

Higher education is vital for developing an adequate and skilled health workforce and increasing health research capacity and should receive a higher priority in national and regional agendas. Because of the importance of context in improving health and delivering health services, local research is necessary to identify challenges, set priorities, devise original solutions, and make the best use of limited resources.

#### Generating and using innovation will accelerate better health outcomes and reduce inequities.

Capitalising on innovation is key to the future of health in sub-Saharan Africa and can support "leapfrogging" health improvements. There is huge scope for innovative, low-cost vaccines, diagnostics, therapies, and IT applications for prevention and care. Also urgently needed are innovations in health professional education, health service delivery, and governance, particularly those using information and communication technologies.

#### Stronger regional cooperation will add value to national health efforts.

Pooling resources among sub-Saharan countries and collaborating on issues related to commodity security, surveillance, emergency response, governance, the health workforce, and research and development would benefit population health and the quality of care in countries and the region as a whole, and would facilitate more proactive sharing of data, innovations, and technical expertise.

In summary, through sustained commitment towards good governance and health investment, cross-sectoral action, and leadership geared towards innovation, closing the health gap in a generation is within reach.

## A SOBERING LEGACY, A PROMISING FUTURE

Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) comprises 49 very different countries with clusters of common culture and history. It is difficult, if not impossible, to envisage the future without considering history. In the case of Africa this includes the heaviest burden of infectious diseases, maternal and child mortality, and malnutrition in recent times, and more broadly a legacy of colonisation, even over 50 years since independence for most nations, and a turbulent recent history in several countries.

The early twentieth century, a time of ecological and economic disruption due to European colonisation,<sup>1</sup> saw epidemics of trypanosomiasis (from which one-third of the population around Lake Victoria died between 1901 and 1905),<sup>2</sup> and the 1918-19 H1N1 pandemic which caused 2 million deaths across SSA.<sup>3</sup> Malaria exerted a heavy toll; even in Nairobi at 1800m, over 14 000 cases were recorded in 1913.<sup>4</sup> Tuberculosis was unknown in areas like Tanzania until colonisation,<sup>5</sup> and miners were disproportionately affected. There were significant outbreaks of syphilis across SSA, gonorrhoea in the Central African region,<sup>1</sup> and meningococcal meningitis in the Sahel and sub-Sahel; a 1921 meningitis epidemic in Nigeria caused 45 000 deaths in Sokoto Province (population 1.36 million) alone.<sup>6</sup> SSA had a high incidence of smallpox relative to other regions; even by 1962, the estimated incidence rate in Republic of Congo was 144/100 000, compared to India's 10/100 000.<sup>7</sup>

Before European colonisation, health-care services based on indigenous knowledge systems were widely available in urban and rural communities. Traditional practitioners used herbs and other remedies to treat a variety of ailments, and people trusted them. The popularity of traditional medicine continues today. However, European colonisation and the subsequent emergence of western medicine and Christianity created tensions between the two care systems. As SSA moves forward the existence of the traditional medicine system and these tensions can no longer be disregarded.

Perhaps the most visible legacy of up to five centuries of European colonisation relates to official working languages, health worker education, and nurses' uniforms. This historic impact is also reflected in the organisation of the health system. Francophone countries inherited a mixed system of heavily centralised disease control programmes ("la lutte contre les grandes endémies " often managed by military physicians in colonial times) and primary care services, whereas anglophone countries traditionally embraced more a decentralised health system with multiple layers. Christian missions and non-government organisations (NGOs) have been playing a major role in former Belgian and Portuguese colonies. In general, public health systems aimed to ensure a workforce for whatever the agricultural, mining, or industrial needs were of the coloniser.

Human resources for health were woefully inadequate at independence in almost every sub-Saharan country, but Belgian and Portuguese colonies were the least prepared for managing their health systems. This is partly because colonial governments focused on training low level cadres of health workers like nursing aides and auxiliaries or clinical assistants. It was only much later in the 1930s to 1950s when higher level training (e.g. medical education for doctors) was established, and trainees had to be registered in Europe. By 1960 only six medical schools existed in SSA outside of South Africa. This is in marked contrast to the explosion of medical schools and other health professional training schools in the past 20 years. Nevertheless, many countries still have a major shortage of

health-care workers, the result of weak educational systems in general, inadequate investments in training, and losses of doctors, nurses, and midwives to high-income countries. There are different patterns among countries in terms of human resources: some have not enough positions in the public sector, while they have enough qualified medical staff, others have vacant positions and yet cannot absorb them. Health services have also expanded significantly since independence to reach rural areas although quality and equity remain huge issues. The legacy of apartheid in South Africa with continuing inequalities including in the face of health and illness is a special case in point and has been well described in a special series in *The Lancet*.<sup>8</sup>

Africa's colonial past explains why the World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Africa is based in hard-to-reach Brazzaville as it was the capital of French Central Africa, and not in Addis Ababa, where the region's main political and economic institutions are based. Donor preferences and private investments in particular countries are also largely reflecting history. Such continuing European influence is probably most extreme in a number of francophone countries: they use the CFA franc as currency, which is linked to the Euro through the French Treasury, and France has a strong influence on national policy and budgets in several countries. Finally, with the notorious exception of Ethiopian Airlines and Kenyan Airways, airline connections in Africa are often more directed to either Europe or South Africa, making regional and sub-regional cooperation more difficult and expensive.

Post-colonial history has also had a major impact on health and health systems. For example, health systems in several sub-Saharan countries have yet to recover from the impact of the structural adjustments and other economic reforms imposed by the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the World Bank, and other international agencies in the wake of the economic downturn in the 1970s. Many countries have a health system under the Ministry of Health and other parallel health systems managed by funders and NGOs.

Another significant factor is the failure of some societies and governments to uphold human rights, freedom of information, freedom of speech and habeas corpus: generally, a failure to legally and politically empower citizens and patients. Moreover, while genocides such as in Rwanda and Darfur are extreme examples, large parts of the continent have had a heavy and prolonged share of armed conflict and predatory leaders, including a diversion of much needed public resources for health and education, besides directly and indirectly causing the death of millions of people. The failed states that have emerged at different times are unable to provide sound governance, leadership, and funding to their health systems and even minimum coordination of international partners. Several countries continue to be in fragile situations and their health challenges require special approaches, as discussed later.

SSA's health challenges are numerous, wide ranging, and well documented. Though nowhere near the scale of other infectious diseases such as HIV, tuberculosis, malaria, respiratory infections, and diarrhoeal diseases, the Ebola epidemic in 2014–2015 was a stark reminder that the public health infrastructure in many countries is not fit for purpose. Climate change will likely affect Africa very profoundly. Less widely reported are achievements and the possibilities to greatly improve health outcomes within a generation. Failure to date is more likely to be inadequate and poor implementation of the most important current ideas, inadequate health workforce, and lack of investment in health systems rather than a paucity of novel ideas. Importantly, the solutions to many of SSA's health challenges lie beyond the domain of the health sector, in public finances, legal frameworks, education, nutrition, water, sanitation, social protection and poverty reduction, safer roads, and cleaner air.

Our Commission was prompted by the region's potential to improve health on its own terms, and largely with its own resources. The spirit of this report is one of evidence-based optimism, with a caution. We recognise that major health inequities exist and that health outcomes are worst in fragile countries, in rural areas, urban slums, and conflict zones, and among the poor, disabled, and marginalised. The future of health in Africa is bright, but only if no one is left behind.

Our report could not come at a more opportune time. It is the dawn of the United Nation's "2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development" and the African Union's "Agenda 2063". The WHO's Regional Director for Africa, Dr Matshidiso Moeti, is providing much needed leadership; among other things she is implementing internal reforms, strengthening accountability for results and resources, and urging African governments to follow her lead.<sup>9</sup> What is missing is a comprehensive, inclusive, multisector strategy to improve the health and wellbeing of all people and all communities, everywhere in SSA. Our report builds on numerous recent publications, including several African declarations and reports (panel 1 and table 3), and some Lancet Commissions.<sup>10-15</sup>

The Commissioners represent various disciplines and sectors and include current and former ministers of health, heads of medical schools and research institutes, scientists, and individuals from NGOs and the business world. The Commission met three times—in Accra, Ghana, on May 7–8, 2013, in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on Jan 14–15, 2014, and in London, UK, on May 15, 2015. From March–May 2015 most Commissioners were interviewed, either in person or by phone. Key themes were extracted and consolidated from the meetings and interviews, and key policy documents/reports and scientific publications were reviewed. Additional analyses were conducted to examine the dynamic nature and sustainability of African countries' health financing efforts towards universal health coverage (UHC) over time, and to assess trends in out-of-pocket payments and external funding (section 5). A core writing group assembled the information and drafted the report, which was then circulated to Commissioners for comments and revised accordingly.

Panel 1: African health-related initiatives, declarations, and reports

# SECTION 1. HEALTH IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA: CURRENT SITUATION AND PROJECTIONS TO 2030

## Life expectancy, mortality, and outcomes

Life expectancy in SSA, though still far behind the rest of the world, has been steadily increasing since 2000. Figure 1 shows the variations in country trajectories since 1980. For example, in South Africa and Zimbabwe, AIDS led to a drop in life expectancy until the early 2000s when the curve began to increase as antiretroviral therapy started to become more widely available, whereas Ethiopia has had three decades of steady increases and no dips. In a growing number of sub-Saharan countries people born today can expect to live well into their 60s. In addition to increased access to health interventions, improvements in life expectancy have been due to reductions in extreme poverty and hunger, more girls and boys spending more years in school, and increased access to clean drinking water.

## Figure 1: Life expectancy at birth, selected sub-Saharan countries and regions, 1980–2014

Progress aside, the need remains great. Table 1 shows key health-related data for all 49 sub-Saharan countries, and some significant differences between countries. For example, in 2015 the estimated

antiretroviral therapy (ART) coverage among adults living with HIV was 78% in Botswana and 24% in The Gambia and Liberia; in the same year, the population using improved sanitation facilities was reported to be 98% in the Seychelles and 7% in South Sudan.

## Table 1: Key health indicators, 49 sub-Saharan countries (latest year available)

Most African countries now face a double burden of 1) traditional persisting health challenges such as infectious diseases, malnutrition, and child and maternal mortality; and 2) emerging challenges from a rising prevalence of chronic diseases, mental health disorders, injuries, and health problems related to climate change and environmental degradation.

## Maternal, newborn, and child health

The under-5 mortality rate and the maternal mortality ratio in SSA both fell by 49% between 1990 and 2013.<sup>16</sup> Projections by the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation for this Commission to 2030 suggest that the rates of the projected decline will vary across and within the four sub-Saharan regions (figures 2 and 3). Sharper declines in child mortality from 2013 are projected for Central Africa and Southern Africa than the other two sub-regions while the projection for Southern Africa is expected to almost meet the SDG target of 25 per 1000 live births. The maternal mortality ratios are projected to decline in all sub-regions except Southern Africa where the projection plateaued at the lowest level of 200 per 100 000 live births among the four sub-regions. Although the maternal mortality ratios Central Africa are projected to fall as well, they remain at very high levels of around 400 per 100 000 live births.

## Figure 2: Under-5 mortality rates in four sub-Saharan regions, 1990–2015, with projection to 2030

*Figure 3: Maternal mortality ratios (per 100 000 live births) in four sub-Saharan regions, 1990–2015, with projection to 2030* 

The biggest challenge for Africa in terms of child mortality is neonatal mortality, which has distinct causes and needs specific programmatic solutions, as well as stillbirths. During the Millennium Development Goal (MDG) era the number of neonatal deaths in Africa actually increased due to slow progress in reducing the neonatal mortality rate and ongoing increases in birth rates. At current rates of progress it will be more than 110 years before African newborns have the same chance of survival as newborns in high-income countries.<sup>17</sup>

These projected trajectories suggest efforts above and beyond the levels seen in the MDG era will be required by many sub-Saharan countries in order to meet the SDG targets to reduce the maternal mortality ratio to less than 70 per 100 000 live births and to end preventable deaths of newborns and under-5 children by 2030. The 24 fragile states in SSA (classified as on "alert" or worse in the Fragile States Index 2015) are least likely to achieve these targets: by 2030, according to the World Bank, 11 will not have met the less ambitious MDG 4 target for child mortality and only 5 will have met the MDG 5 target for maternal mortality.<sup>18</sup>

Although there have been substantial reductions in low birth weight, childhood underweight, suboptimal breastfeeding, and vitamin deficiencies (burdens have declined between 37% and 85% in the past 25 years), these risk factors remain prevalent, especially in poor communities and in lower-income countries.<sup>19</sup> Half of the children aged under 5 years in SSA are iron deficient and one-quarter are deficient in vitamin A.<sup>20</sup> The prevalence of low birth weight ranges from 7% to 35%, and emaciation or wasting due to acute undernutrition ranges from 1% to 23%.<sup>21</sup> Stunting in under-5 children due to chronic undernutrition, which has a long-term impact on personal and cognitive

development, ranges from 8% in the Seychelles to 58% in Burundi; underweight in under 5 children ranges from 4% in the Seychelles to 39% in Eritrea (table 1).

## Infectious diseases

Infectious diseases remain the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in SSA with HIV/AIDS, lower respiratory infections, malaria, diarrhoeal diseases, and tuberculosis ranking 1–4 and 6 in agestandardised DALYs in 2015 (figure 4). However, there are some success stories. Guinea worm, or dracunculiasis, is on the brink of becoming the second human disease to be eradicated, and Africa is close to being declared polio free. It is estimated that hepatitis B, *Haemophilus influenzae* type B, rotavirus, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* vaccines have prevented more than 1 million deaths in successive birth cohorts in Africa.<sup>22</sup> Vaccines are also responsible for dramatic falls in measles, mumps, and rubella. New vaccines being introduced on the continent include a pentavalent vaccine, meningococcal and pneumococcal conjugate vaccines, and rotavirus vaccines, and a malaria vaccine is being introduced in piloted projects. However, epidemics of vaccine coverage and interruption of immunisation programmes, and as also illustrated by a recent epidemic of yellow fever in Angola and the DR Congo.

# *Figure 4: Leading causes of age-standardised disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) in sub-Saharan Africa, 1990 and 2015*

Great strides have been made in controlling malaria and HIV/AIDS. Malaria mortality in the WHO African Region was reduced by 48% from 2000–2015; among the under-5 age group mortality fell by 58% over the same period.<sup>23</sup> Malaria elimination is now becoming a realistic goal in several African countries, though not yet in those in malaria's heartland where outbreaks, such as recently in Rwanda, continue to emerge, illustrating that disease control and clinical strategies must adapt on the road to elimination. AIDS-related deaths in SSA decreased by 36% between 2000 and 2015 to 800 000 and the number of new HIV infections decreased by 43% to 1.4 million.<sup>24</sup> However, this still represents over 65% of all new HIV infections globally,<sup>25</sup> and since 2005 the decrease has been negligible (an annualised rate of change in incidence of -0.03 from 2005 to 2015) with most of the decline due to preventing mother-to-child transmission. Reaching the UN's goal to end AIDS as a public health problem by 2030 will require more attention to combination prevention and increased treatment adherence. Rising prices of treatments for co-morbidities and opportunistic infections, such as ultra-resistant TB in South Africa, are also a concern. Ending HIV will require a vaccine .<sup>12</sup>

While the overall downward trend in infectious diseases is encouraging, the gains to date are fragile and this is no time for complacency or scaling back programmes. If continued investment is not made in disease control there will be an upward surge, as seen for example with malaria in the 1960s, and with HIV in several communities on the continent.<sup>26,27</sup> Looking forward, the biggest risks are resistance to antibiotics, artemesinin-based therapies, and antiretrovirals, a rise in HIV incidence, regional conflicts leading to a breakdown in disease control programmes, and regional epidemics or a new pandemic. Climate change, habitat destruction, population growth, urbanisation, and international mobility favour the spillover of infections from animal reservoirs, the dissemination of disease vectors, and the spread of infections in human populations. Late detection and response, as seen with the West African Ebola epidemic, can lead to explosive epidemics, with devastating consequences for society.

#### A perverse convergence: the rise of chronic diseases and conditions

SSA is facing a growing burden from chronic disease with ischemic heart disease, stroke, diabetes, major depressive disorders, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease ranking among the top 20 causes of health loss in 2015 (figure 4).<sup>28</sup> SSA has among the highest incidence rates of cervical and liver cancer as a result of high rates of human papillomavirus and hepatitis B infection, while breast cancer in women is low but increasing as well.<sup>29</sup> There is however evidence that age-standardised death rates from cardiovascular disease may not be increasing in SSA, and are actually falling in countries such as the Seychelles and South Africa.<sup>30</sup> These mortality trends indicate that the epidemic of cardiovascular disease may be prevented in SSA if appropriate public health action is taken.<sup>31</sup>

A combination of changing food habits due to urbanisation, increased income and affluence, an ageing population, more sedentary lifestyles, and a lack of preventive and treatment programmes mean that risk factors for chronic conditions are present and on the rise in many African populations. Smoking rates, though lower than elsewhere, have been increasing in several African countries since 2000.<sup>32</sup> Recent reviews showed hypertension was prevalent in nearly all studies conducted in SSA (figure 5).<sup>33</sup> Obesity is also rapidly increasing: a global survey found that in 2014 obesity rates in South African women were as bad as among American women, even if overall the body mass indexes in African populations were below the global average (figure 6).

## Figure 5: Prevalence of hypertension across sub-Saharan Africa by rural, urban, or mixed setting

## Figure 6: Age-standardised mean body mass index of females globally, 2014

A major question for the continent is whether a rise in chronic conditions can be prevented or whether a perverse kind of convergence will occur, with prevalence rates on par with the rest of the world. Together with preventing a major tobacco epidemic—SSA's greatest historic public health opportunity—this perverse convergence can be averted, but countries will need to take decisive action now in order to reap the long-term health benefits.<sup>34,35</sup> With the exception of some antismoking programmes, few countries have prevention and management strategies and plans of action in place. In a 2013 WHO survey, only 18% of respondent countries reported having an "operational multisectoral national policy, strategy or action plan that integrates several non-communicable diseases and shared risk factors".<sup>36</sup> Operational and health systems research is urgently needed to develop an African evidence base for practical policies to prevent and treat chronic conditions, especially in countries with weak governance structures, weak accountability mechanisms, and weak health systems.

Limited information on mental health in sub-Saharan countries suggests that mental health disorders are rising and that the overall majority of treatable cases are untreated, with at times gross violations of human rights. This treatment gap could be as wide as 90% or more even for schizophrenia, psychoses, and other severe and disabling mental disorders, due in part to chronic underinvestment.<sup>37</sup> In addition, several countries in Western and Eastern Africa are experiencing emerging drug use epidemics. The burden of mental and substance use disorders is set to grow by 130%, according to one estimate.<sup>38</sup> Researchers have proposed novel training initiatives to tackle the substantial shortfall in service provision and workforce in this area,<sup>39</sup> and a formal role for traditional practitioners remains largely unexploited.

Injuries are also increasing. Between 1990 and 2015 the number of deaths in SSA due to injuries rose by 20% to over 614 000 (15% rise in DALYs).<sup>28,40</sup> The three leading causes were road injuries (33% increase), self-harm (87%), and interpersonal violence (58% increase). The levels of burden differed by cause, gender, and age. For example, four-fifths of road injury deaths amongst adults aged 15 to

49 were male while half of the fall deaths amongst women were aged 70 or over.<sup>40</sup> Personal safety has become a major issue in several countries, particularly in urban areas. Violence not only affects people directly, it can also be a major obstacle to access health services and prevention programmes.

Occupational safety and health issues contribute to injuries and ill health. In rural areas, for example, agricultural workers are known to mishandle agricultural chemicals, with dire carcinogenic effects. Poor handling of electronic and electrical waste presents major health challenges among those who make their living close to urban dumps and peri-industrial clusters. Most African artisanal mechanics and sanitation workers use no protective clothing.<sup>41</sup> To address the complex causes of different injuries, intersectoral and targeted prevention strategies must be identified and implemented.

## Sub-national health inequities

National data often hide significant and inequitable sub-national differences in health outcomes. For example, the 2008 Ghana Demographic and Health Survey showed a range in under 5 mortality from 50 per 1000 live births in the Greater Accra and Volta regions to 142 per 1000 live births in the Upper West Region;<sup>42</sup> and the Ghana Maternal Health Survey of 2007 showed pregnancy related mortality ratios varying from 308 in the Ashanti region to 594 per 100 000 live births in the Eastern region.<sup>43</sup>

Poverty, ethnicity, living in rural areas, and lack of education contribute to health inequities within countries. For example, in Cameroon 49% of children under 5 in the lowest wealth quintile are stunted vs 12% in the highest; in Nigeria the under 5 mortality rate is 188 per 1000 live births among those in the lowest wealth quintile and 72 for those in the highest; in Ethiopia the percentage of births attended by skilled health personnel is 5% in rural areas and 52% in urban areas (table 2). In South Africa, the distribution of combined acute and chronic conditions displays socioeconomic disparities, with the heaviest burden for poor black communities in urban areas, which reflect the historic racial disparities under apartheid.<sup>44,45</sup> In Kenya, 52% of women with secondary or higher education reported using modern contraceptive methods compared with only 12% among those who never went to school; in Madagascar, the diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus (DPT) immunisation coverage is 89% among the 1-year-olds whose mothers completed secondary or higher education and 50% for mothers who had no education (table 2). Additional years of education beyond primary school have a significant impact on demand for health services as women with more education are better informed and empowered to participate in decision making.<sup>46</sup>

A full understanding of health outcomes and disparities within and between sub-Saharan countries is difficult at present. This is because many national health information systems are unable to provide reliable, up-to-date data, and data are often not disaggregated by gender, age, race, and ethnicity. Moreover, current service coverage monitoring frameworks only capture a limited perspective as they often do not include indicators related to hypertension, diabetes, and mental health services, among others.

Table 2: Health inequities in sub-Saharan Africa, selected indicators and countries

## The broader context: opportunities and challenges

We conclude this section by briefly describing transitions and megatrends that will have an increasingly significant impact on health in sub-Saharan countries over the next few decades.

*Economic growth:* Gross domestic product (GDP) in SSA grew by 4.5% in 2014 and 3.0% in 2015.<sup>47</sup> GDP growth for 2016 and 2017, though still projected to be faster than in most other regions of the world, has been downwardly revised due to low commodity prices, tightening global financial conditions, and drought in parts of the region. SSA's collective annual GDP—US\$1.573 trillion in 2015<sup>21</sup>—is expected to rise to \$3.5 trillion by 2025, according to one estimate.<sup>48</sup> Gross national income (GNI) per capita has increased from \$505 in 2000 to \$803 in 2005 to \$1628 in 2015.<sup>21</sup> However, economic growth and per capita GNI vary greatly among and within countries and large portions of the population continue to live in poverty. In order to improve health outcomes, the benefits of economic growth need to be more equitably distributed, and government spending on the health sector and sectors that enable health needs to increase at least in line with increases in GDP. The case for investing in health, particularly in low- and middle-income settings, has most recently been made in *The Lancet* Commission on Investing in Health<sup>10</sup> and the report of the High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth.<sup>49</sup> Overall, this economic growth makes an increase in domestic resources for health very realistic.

*Demographic transition:* SSA's population is expected to rise from 962 million people in 2015 to 1.40 billion by 2030. Half of the world's population growth from 2015 to 2050 will be concentrated in nine countries and five of these are in SSA: DR Congo, Ethiopia, Nigeria, Tanzania, and Uganda.<sup>50</sup> The demographic transition in SSA has been much delayed, primarily due to its high fertility rates (5.1 children per woman). However, population growth rates are projected to decline (figure 7). Some countries are closer to completing the transition than others.<sup>51</sup> All five countries in SSA with current fertility rates below 4.0, and thus with a completed or nearly completed demographic transition, are in Southern Africa: Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa, and Swaziland. Fertility rates were higher and varied across the other sub-regions due in part to different cultural ideals of family size. The ideal number of children reported ranged from 4.6 among Eastern African women to 5.9 for Western and 6.0 for Central African women. The total demand for family planning among married women was also found to be higher in Eastern Africa (63%) than other two sub-regions (52% for Central and 42% for Western Africa).<sup>52</sup> By 2035, more than 30 sub-Saharan countries will have fertility levels below 4.0 and 11 countries lower than 3.0.

## *Figure 7: Demographic transition in sub-Saharan Africa, estimates (1950–2015) and projections (2015–2050)*

Demography is now more aligned than it has ever been to support health investments as a means to increase not only individual, but also social welfare.<sup>53</sup> SSA has the largest cohort of young people in history—405 million people aged 0 to 14 in 2014; by 2040, its labour force will be bigger than that of India and China.<sup>50</sup> Accelerating the transition of a dependent, youthful population to less dependency brings prospects of the demographic dividend. Up to 30% of the increase in GDP growth in the East Asia tigers was attributed to the demographic dividend. Improved nutrition can super-charge the dividend by an additional 1%–3% growth through better cognitive capacity, school enrolment and completion, jobs, and lifetime income.<sup>54</sup> In addition, more attention to adolescent health will be necessary to give them maximal opportunities in life and to ensure healthy adulthoods. However, ensuring relevant good quality education, jobs and meaningful democratic participation will be essential securing Africa's peaceful future and development, and may represent one of the continent's greatest challenges.

**Urbanisation:** People are increasingly concentrated in urban areas: the number of megacities in SSA rose from 10 in 1990 to 28 in 2014.<sup>55</sup> 37% of the population in SSA lived in urban areas in 2014; a figure that is projected to rise to 45% by 2030, and continue to rise thereafter. Since many of the

region's future megacities do not yet exist, there is an opportunity to build a healthier urban environment and an urban health system, learning lessons from Latin America's and Asia's experience. However, much of Africa's urbanisation to date, including Africa's largest city Lagos with an estimated population of 21 million in 2016, has been rapid and unplanned. This has led to an increase in slum dwellers (an estimated 62% of SSA's urban population live in slums<sup>56</sup>), gridlock on roads, a worsening of air pollution, and inadequate public transportation, water supply and sanitation—all of which increase the risk of illness and preventable death. If the inexorable rise of Africa's megacities translates into more of the same there will be major negative repercussions for health.<sup>57</sup> New solutions are needed: cities are growing so quickly that plans developed even a decade ago are now obsolete. Better convergence between urban planners' policies and the health sector is imperative and will require visionary leadership and effective governance, in addition to the development of a stronger evidence base.

*Environmental degradation and climate change:* There is a real risk that the combination of rapid economic growth, urbanisation, and a growing population that is increasingly dependent on natural resources will lead to an increase in diseases and illnesses related to environmental degradation. In addition, climate change has several direct and indirect impacts on health in SSA. Directly, higher temperatures can increase mortality. For example, studies from the INDEPTH network in Burkina Faso have demonstrated associations between higher temperature and the daily mortality rate, with a particularly strong effect on under-5 mortality.<sup>58</sup> Indirectly, especially in fragile or conflict affected states, extreme weather can gravely affect health by exacerbating food and water insecurity. For example, drought in the Horn of Africa region in the 2010-2012 famine is estimated to have caused 258 000 deaths in Somalia, over half of whom were children under five.<sup>59</sup> Research on the links between weather patterns and malnutrition also suggests that in Central, Southern and Eastern Africa, the effects of climate change may offset expected reductions in child stunting linked to socioeconomic development.<sup>60</sup>

Climate change is also likely to exacerbate existing vulnerabilities to various infectious and chronic diseases, including outbreaks of cholera and cardiovascular disease.<sup>61</sup> Modelling suggests that highland areas above 2000m, especially in East Africa, are likely to become malarial zones.<sup>62</sup> More research is needed to strengthen the evidence base around climate change and risk of specific diseases; and to quantify the co-benefits of climate adaptation/mitigation measures for both the environment and public health (such as clean cooking fuels, which reduce climate altering pollutants and disease from air pollution).

*Information and communications technologies* (ICTs) and social media have been and will continue to be significant enablers of Africa's transformation. Countries are experiencing an unprecedented increase in mobile phone subscriptions, internet connections, and mobile phone financial transactions, and a decline in the price of devices and services. There are an estimated three mobile phones for every four people in SSA with variations across regions (figure 8).<sup>21</sup> Mobile phone based money transfer services such as M-pesa (launched in Kenya in 2007) and others are revolutionising business and power relations. ICTs can transform the work environment, introducing flexibilities that encourage positive lifestyles, and mobile phones and wearable devices can help people to exercise and make other healthy behaviour choices and thus impact the burden of chronic conditions. But ICTs can also lead to sedentary behaviour in young children, adolescents, and adults and thus precipitate exactly the opposite outcome. The potential of ICT innovations for "leapfrogging" opportunities in Africa to address health workforce constraints and improve people's access to quality health services is discussed in section 10.

*Figure 8: Mobile telephones, internet users, and urban population in four sub-Saharan regions, 2000–2015* 

*Civil society, peace, and security:* Alongside countries' deepening democracy, citizens in several countries are finding their voices and exercising their power (e.g. the ousting of Blaise Compaoré in Burkina Faso, peaceful democratic elections and hand over to the opposition in Nigeria, peaceful democratic transitions in Senegal and Botswana since independence, six peaceful back-to-back elections in Ghana with handover to the opposition in two cases). Local conflicts still occur, but wars have become less deadly. Age-standardized DALYs per 100 000 due to war and illegal interventions fell dramatically from a ranking of 19 in 1990 to 60 in 2015 (figure 4). However, some countries have been chronically politically unstable and in a fragile situation for decades, terrorism is on the rise in some parts of SSA, and continuing civil unrest in some areas has damaged the health system's capacity to deliver basic health care, with health systems in countries such as Central African Republic and South Sudan being reduced to a bare minimum. Large numbers of disenfranchised unemployed youth may represent another risk for civil unrest.

In summary, sub-Saharan countries are experiencing a convergence of old and new challenges and opportunities which require a long-term vision and resolute action on health adapted to the new realities.

# SECTION 2. THE PATH TO LONG AND HEALTHY LIVES FOR ALL AFRICANS BY 2030

This Commission's vision and aspiration is that by 2030 Africans should have the same opportunities for long and healthy lives that new technologies, well functioning health systems, and good governance offer people living on other continents. Table 3 presents 12 strategic options that all African countries should consider in their policies and plans. They are connected to the SDGs and integrate commitments made by regional African bodies. They represent a combination of the unfinished agenda of infectious diseases, maternal and child health, and malnutrition, and new health challenges. As is evident from the table, the strategic options are as much about promoting health and preventing disease as they are about expanding access to treatment. They are a mixture of health outcomes and ways of achieving health. Moreover, while some are health-sector led and primarily Ministry of Health responsibility, more than half are determined in large part by the policies and programmes of ministries other than health. The options are not listed according to any particular priority, as relative needs may vary by country. We recognise that progress will be unequal among countries and that some countries, particularly those in continuing conflict, will probably not reach the SDGs by 2030. However, all countries can and should reduce health inequities.

## Table 3: Strategic options to reach the health-related SDGs by 2030

In order to realise in an equitable and accelerated way the health outcomes and the SDGs listed in table 3, there is a need for a paradigm shift in health systems. A renewed and multi-pronged approach with people at the centre and focusing on outcomes is necessary is necessary to achieve better health and wellbeing. Continuing to build health systems at the current pace of progress, and using models of service delivery and population health that are struggling with results, equity, and sustainability across the world, including in high-income countries, is a recipe for failure.

African countries have a historic opportunity to build health systems commensurate to the challenges of 21<sup>st</sup> century Africa. This will require all sub-Saharan countries to take action in the critical areas of:

- people-centred health systems, universal health coverage, the social determinants of health, and health outcomes
- leadership, stewardship, civil society engagement, and accountability at all levels
- financing for health
- commodity security (i.e. medicines, technologies, essential equipment, tools, supplies, etc)
- public health systems
- health workforce development
- research and higher education
- innovation in products, service delivery, and governance.

These interconnected areas are covered in sections 3–10, the operational part of the report. We describe the different areas where changes are needed and make recommendations for the way forward, recognising the great diversity within SSA. This Commission strongly emphasises that health systems require country-born solutions that relate to specific contextual factors. At the same time we strongly endorse the high premium both the AU's Agenda 2063 and the UN's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development have given to strengthening regional action and cooperation, and it is a recurring theme in several sections below.

## SECTION 3: PEOPLE-CENTRED HEALTH SYSTEMS

## Health systems in sub-Saharan Africa

Despite progress in virtually all types of performance indicators during the last decade, health systems in sub-Saharan countries remain weak. Details are provided in the following sections but in short, health expenditure, health infrastructure, and skilled health professionals are insufficient relative to population needs, resulting in poor coverage and poor quality of health services. Population coverage of most essential health services ranges between 40% and 50%, below both WHO recommended levels and other regions, with only one indicator (DTP3 immunization) approaching the recommended coverage level of 80%.<sup>63</sup> Less than half the children under 5 with acute respiratory infection, diarrhoea, or fever receive appropriate care.<sup>21</sup> Financing and service delivery for chronic diseases<sup>64</sup> and palliative care<sup>65</sup> have received little attention comparative to infectious diseases, leaving a gap which patients suffering from complex co-morbidities (e.g. patients living with HIV and mental health disorders<sup>66</sup>) feel the most.

Inequity is a major concern as the little available resources tend to be concentrated so as to favour the wealthier groups. Poor governance affects health systems' performance<sup>67</sup> and their ability to cope with shocks. As such, not only do insufficient and sub-optimally allocated resources attend the health needs of populations with some of the more complex health challenges in the world, but people's trust in health systems is shaken by frequent stock-outs of essential medicines<sup>68-70</sup> and overstretched health personnel, particularly in low-level health facilities and poor areas.<sup>71,72</sup> People's access to health services is in many cases is further obstructed by long distances, high travel costs, high out-of-pocket (OOP) payments, cultural beliefs, and queues. Barriers to access have been primarily researched for rural settings, but are equally relevant for those hard to reach in urban settings.<sup>73</sup>

Lack of financial protection is a significant financial barrier to access and can lead to catastrophic health expenditures. Available data for eight sub-Saharan countries (Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Niger, Senegal, Uganda, Tanzania, and Zambia) suggest that more than a quarter of the population may be further pushed into poverty by OOP payments on health services.<sup>16</sup> Although some sub-Saharan countries have health financing social protection mechanisms in place (often using mixed financing approaches) either as a national integrated policy or as specific schemes, very few countries has attained near universal coverage (80% or more).

Building adequate health systems and overcoming inequalities in access to quality health services, including promotion and prevention, remain among the biggest challenges to achieving the Commission's vision.

## Universal health coverage as a vehicle for achieving equity

The pursuit of UHC is one of the key health targets in the SDGs and has featured highly on health policy agendas, following its initial endorsement by the WHO in 2005,<sup>74</sup> its prominence in the WHO World Health Report 2010,<sup>75</sup> and its endorsement by the UN General Assembly in 2012.<sup>76</sup> Many sub-Saharan countries now have a UHC agenda or are thinking about UHC and have some kind of policy documents/statements on the issue. Defined as enabling all (universal) to access quality health services and interventions when they need them without undergoing undue financial hardship, UHC is a concept that has equity at its core. It is predicated on the basic assumption that equitably improving health-care and intervention access for those in need, while ensuring equitable financial protection, also leads to better population health. This can only be the case if population health, prevention, and health promotion are an explicit and fully funded part of UHC. This is unfortunately usually not the case in terms of policies and practice . It is important that for a healthy future in SSA the conceptualisation of UHC is along these broad lines that encompass public (preventive as well as promotive) health and not only narrowly focused on curative care (see section 7 for more on public health systems).

There is no one size fits all UHC implementation approach. Each country has to identify its own needs, priorities, resources, and approaches to pursuing UHC.<sup>77</sup> While South Africa is currently reforming its health system by introducing a national insurance programme with the aim of achieving UHC, its path will be distinct from other sub-Saharan countries. In this case it will be shaped by its political history, the considerably big size of its private sector, and the predominance of a decentralised approach.<sup>78</sup> Therefore, in order to ensure that UHC is a key instrument to advance population health and equity in the region for decades to come, it must be complemented with strategies that address its current conceptual shortcomings. It remains uncertain how the three key dimensions of UHC—service coverage, population coverage, and financial protection—are to be achieved in countries with largely different levels of development and health indicators.<sup>79</sup> The current conceptualisation of UHC has come under criticism<sup>80</sup> for imposing an overly medicalised model of care to the detriment of prevention and health promotion. Furthermore, some service coverage expansion interventions may actually accentuate inequities by tending to favour the wealthy over the poor, at least in the short term. Most importantly, UHC is ultimately a process and focussing on its delivery may completely lose out of focus what matters the most, namely improving health outcomes.

By definition UHC increases access to health-care services, but the effects of universal coverage schemes on health outcomes and financial protection are highly variable across settings.<sup>81</sup> It is the pragmatic "how" of implementing UHC reforms, particularly financing, service delivery, and governance arrangements, which makes the difference between UHC reforms achieving their stated

objectives or not. For example, cross-country evidence suggests a causal link between higher levels of publicly pooled health spending and better mortality outcomes,<sup>82</sup> but experiences in SSA show that only a full understanding of the barriers to benefitting from UHC reforms, which go beyond financial access and are faced particularly by the disadvantaged, can hope to fully deliver the UHC promise.<sup>83</sup>

Overall, there is wide consensus that pursuing UHC makes economic sense<sup>84</sup> and the commitment to pursuing UHC in SSA is firm.<sup>85</sup> There is also agreement on UHC as a social as well as technical goal that can only be achieved if the drive for attainment is country led. For example, Ghana's UHC journey started in 2003, when the National Health Insurance Act was passed by parliament, and with a coalition of social, technical, and political forces that have driven the process and continue to drive it.<sup>86</sup>

Whilst the experience in Africa is still emerging, experience from high-income countries, Latin America, and countries in Asia that achieved UHC while still in the middle-income country bracket (e.g. South Korea, Sri-Lanka, Taiwan, and Thailand) show that public financing and public regulation of the resource allocation—whether funds are raised through taxes, social insurance contributions, or a mix—is a must if equity is an objective. Private insurance funding arrangements cannot be relied upon as the vehicle for UHC, although they can be considered for supplementary packages. Service provision, on the other hand, could be public or private or a mix and equity objectives could still be attained with the right choice of regulatory mechanisms and strategic purchasing approaches.

## Why people centred health systems are the way forward

At the heart of health systems are people in varying and interdependent roles, their interactions and relationships. Essentially *"health systems are also human systems"*.<sup>87,88</sup> The Commission proposes the development of "people-centred health systems" underpinned by the principles and values of public health and primary health care including the values of respect, dignity, and compassion as critical for a healthy future in sub-Saharan Africa. Central elements of such systems include strong household, community, and patient engagement, and a chain of accountability throughout the system. These values also need to be held internally within ministries of health, health directorates, hospitals, and health centres. The required new approach understands innovation as a catalyst for people-centeredness, as well as advocating for nationally bred solutions that are embedded in the realities of each country and each community.

People centeredness involves a recognition of the importance of people, processes, systems, power relations, and values in the foundation and the pillars of any effort to improve health and wellbeing. To transform health systems to benefit people's health, sub-Saharan countries need to recognise the centrality of health systems software (people and processes) in determining what the hardware (the WHO "building blocks" of financing, governance, information systems, human and other resources) is able to achieve. The tendency to focus on building blocks to the neglect of the "people" dimension of the "how" and the "why" of the functioning and ultimate outcomes of health systems is a major challenge in Africa as in the rest of the world.

Recently WHO has been working on an integrated, people-centred health services framework, which was adopted by the Sixty-ninth World Health Assembly.<sup>89</sup> The framework starts from the premise that the development of more integrated people-centred health care systems has the potential to generate benefits to the health and health care of all people. It also acknowledges, as this Commission does, that "people centeredness" is an approach that adopts individuals', carers',

families' and communities' perspectives as participants and beneficiaries. The framework comprises five interdependent strategies to build more effective health services: empowering and engaging people and communities; strengthening governance and accountability; reorienting the model of care; coordinating services within and across sectors; and creating an enabling environment (figure 9).

## Figure 9: WHO's integrated people-centred health services framework

Many sub-Saharan countries are already experimenting with people-centred approaches, with some countries introducing several initiatives. Examples include: introducing community led initiatives with innovative approaches present in many countries (e.g. Senegal, Ethiopia, Ghana, Mali, Rwanda, Malawi, South Africa); adapting local human resources and introducing task sharing (e.g. Uganda, Tanzania, Liberia, Sierra Leone, Senegal, Malawi, South Africa, Ethiopia, Ghana, Zambia); providing specific training to health-care professionals on people-centred approaches (e.g. South Africa); and incorporating patients and families into the management of their conditions (e.g. DR Congo, Malawi, Swaziland). Whilst these are only illustrative examples, and many other initiatives exist across SSA, it is also true that these programmes are often small scale and in most cases yet to be incorporated into health systems or national programmes in other departments with adequate governance, funding, and human resource management.

That decision makers and implementers need to change the angle from which they think about and address health systems in SSA is well illustrated by several of the lessons from the Ebola epidemic in West Africa. Beyond the virus itself, and beyond any medical interventions to contain the epidemic, historical, contextual, socio-economic and socio-cultural factors, trust, power and politics at the global, national and sub-national levels all influenced the processes and outcomes.<sup>90</sup> Communities and citizens can also influence these systems by shaping the social norms and contexts in which they operate and can help hold systems accountable.

Key actions to promote people-centred health systems include softening institutional and social hierarchies that tend to concentrate power and resources at the centre by giving a real voice to people at all levels of the health system such as patients, family and community members, frontline purchasers and providers. This includes decisions related to all aspects of health systems and the services delivered, from agenda setting to implementation and management of programmes. Such reshaping of power relations and giving people at the bottom and frontline as well as the top a voice would strengthen community participation to improve health. Citizens' voice could be fostered by supporting citizens' hearings, community score cards, and other citizens' platforms. Also important will be designing supportive services with clear pathways, continuity of care, integrated service delivery, and strong community based health programmes. Critical to this will be a dismantling of the current fragmented project approaches, and an integration of such programmes into national policy agendas and action.

## Private sector engagement and accountability

Although the role of the private sector in health systems in SSA, and particularly in achieving UHC, is highly controversial among health system experts, various forms of private health-care provision are part of the reality in most countries. In countries as diverse as DR Congo, Malawi, and Nigeria, the majority of health care is provided by the private sector, including faith-based NGOs and traditional healers, and numerous community and prevention programmes are run by NGOs.<sup>91</sup>

A recent Lancet series discussing the role of the private sector in delivering health care highlighted the need to assure UHC as a collective goal independently of the private and public provider mix

available in each country. The authors argue that the private sector has a role to play in health systems of low- and middle-income countries and that the private and public sectors do not have to be mutually exclusive.<sup>92</sup> One key concern raised across all papers is that the evidence available on the merits and shortcomings of the private sector is weak or absent and therefore it thwarts the possibility of drawing sound policy options.

Three of the five types of private sector provision that have been identified in the Lancet series are present in SSA.<sup>93</sup> The first type, which includes DR Congo and Nigeria, has a private sector that is dominant in primary and secondary care; a high share of out-of-pocket spending as a percentage of total health expenditure; and a public sector often being deteriorated and relying on some form of fee charges. The second type, represented by South Africa, includes countries with a high reliance on the private sector for primary and secondary care; some type of private and social insurance; and a public sector that does not rely on fee charges. The third type, which includes countries such as Ghana, Malawi, and Tanzania, is characterised by high private expenditure falling over time; a stratified private sector available for those who can afford it; and a fluctuating public sector reliance on fees and charges.<sup>93</sup> The two types that are absent are a non-commercialised public sector with a complementary private sector, and a highly commercialised public sector.

When comparing the different types of private service provision the Lancet series argues that when the private sector dominates the health system, the poor struggle to access fee-for-service care.<sup>93</sup> Second, making the public sector more accessible, particularly for the poor and most vulnerable, can reduce reliance on private providers who are less likely to provide affordable and good quality services. Third, a good-quality and highly accessible public sector system can lead to a complementary private sector with similar characteristics. All the evidence presented suggests that governments should choose policies to cover the performance of the private sector as a whole and not focus on its specific parts.<sup>94</sup>

It is also important to understand the interactions of any private sector initiative with the public sector as the effects on the overall health system can be much more complex. For example, one might argue that dual practice (i.e. a general practitioner working both in the public and the private sector) has negative effects on the health system as it increases private sector referrals and costs for the patient, however it might also allow for health-care professionals to remain in the country and avoid migration to better paid health systems.<sup>95</sup>

Public and private sectors should be considered as part of a national health system, with the government having a key role in assuring quality, access, and equitable services for the whole population. Governments should take into account three premises. First, a well-functioning public sector will facilitate the appropriate functioning of an emerging or existing private sector. Second, any approach or policy considered to improve the performance of the private sector needs to adopt a broad health system's perspective and explore all the complex interactions and effects as illustrated earlier. Third and most importantly, African governments looking at reforming or improving the private sector should introduce appropriate mechanisms to minimise the many challenges faced by the poorest and the most vulnerable.

The private sector's role in health systems and its influence on health outcomes extends beyond health service provision. For example, with their track record of effective marketing and advertising, multinational companies can either have a negative impact on health (e.g. the sale of cigarettes, unhealthy foods, and alcohol) or they can use their distinct advantages to improve health. Through innovative initiatives, sometimes in partnerships with governments, NGOs and corporations can increase access to essential medicines and commodities, improve hygiene and nutrition, and

encourage the institutional and individual behaviours that make these changes sustainable. One of the oldest examples of a business having a positive impact on health is the addition of iodine to commercial salt to reduce goitre. Social marketing pioneered by organisations such as Population Services International plays a major role in family planning, condom, and bed net promotion, and access to safe drinking water.<sup>96</sup> Soap manufacturers are embedding handwashing with soap habit building in marketing strategies, and working through health and education systems.<sup>97</sup> Two examples are participating in the large-scale hand sanitation that was part of the Ebola response in West Africa and programmes in partnership with Ministries of Health that target reduction in neonatal mortality by training health workers and ensuring access to soap in health facilities.

## Addressing the social determinants of health

Ensuring better health and wellbeing depends on more than just the health system. That is why the values and the actions that refer to addressing the social determinants of health and linking health systems with other systems must pervade. To address the social determinants of health one needs to take into account that lifestyle factors and the socioeconomic, cultural, and environmental conditions of an individual through their life-cycle can influence their health outcomes. For example, for some groups and particularly for those living in poverty, the risks of adverse health outcomes are higher than for those who are more advantaged economically,<sup>98</sup> but influencing these risk determinants may often be outside the immediate power of the most marginalised or discriminated individuals, including women in some societies.

Acting upon the social determinants of health and addressing health inequities relies on understanding that the social and economic needs of patients and communities ought to be addressed in conjunction with their medical needs. However, most of the effective actions on social determinants can only happen outside the health sector, and rely on evidence from informed social and economic policies. A WHO review on the social determinants of health concluded that not acting on health inequities can be, in the long turn, detrimental in economic terms as they result in lost productivity and government revenue and represent a cost for health services.<sup>98</sup> Examples of introducing specific societal approaches to address social determinants of health and their related health inequities include promoting school enrolment for girls through cash transfers, ensuring schools and homes have adequate toilet facilities, particularly for girls and women, providing social protection to older people and their families (e.g. Lesotho, Malawi, South Africa), and promoting anti-discrimination campaigns as part of the HIV/AIDS response. Enabling citizens' participation and voice is as important for addressing social determinants as it is for improving access to and quality of health services.

Actions to address the social determinants of health and their related health inequalities and to tackle social exclusion are needed at three levels: i) address the health and social needs of an individual and communities by dedicated teams coordinating and proposing joint care and prevention; ii) tackle social exclusion and help vulnerable groups to mitigate some of the adverse health outcomes through the provision of adequate social protection according to need; iii) develop and promote multisectoral interventions to address the social determinants of health, health promotion, and health in all policies, including introducing broader programmes to access employment opportunities, poverty alleviation schemes, housing, sanitation, and education.

#### A focus on health outcomes to guide policies, management, and funding

The ultimate objective of any health system is to achieve better health for all members of the population it serves. As noted above, wide-ranging concepts such as UHC and "health system

building blocks" focus on implementing and evaluating key processes at the risk of losing focus on the health outcomes themselves. The reality is that core health indicators (e.g. life expectancy, mortality rates) in SSA are indeed better than they were 20 years ago, but have evolved in line with global trends at best. Closing the gap separating sub-Saharan countries from other low- and middleincome countries in terms of healthy life expectancy will require, among other things, bringing health outcomes to the forefront of the design, implementation, and evaluation of all health-related policies to ensure that progress is indeed being made.

Most attention in this area has gone to financing (see section 5)—the use of health outcomes for policy, planning, resource allocation, monitoring, and evaluation is still in an early stage. As a basic principle it can induce a cultural change, in terms of patient care, prevention activities, and management, which all are often driven by process outcomes. Equally important is including health outcomes measurement at all health system levels and incorporating health outcome measures in staff training and evaluation. However, it is also important to note that health outcomes are experienced a long time after the service is provided which makes it difficult therefore to provide rewards based primarily on health outcomes. For real and sustained change to happen there is a need for sub-Saharan countries to have ownership over the implementation of such programmes.

Health outcomes must be brought to the heart of designing and evaluating health policies by incorporating them in existing accountability frameworks for public health providers. This approach involves explicitly coupling health outcomes with financing, management, and service delivery. Three directions can particularly be considered. First, we advocate for a move towards explicitly including health outcomes in the evaluation frameworks of all types of providers in a way commensurate with their capacity and responsibilities. Second, invest in coupling demand- and supply-side interventions to achieve the targeted health outcomes and avoid formulating such policies in isolation. However, on the whole there have been too many partial successes (or downright failures) caused by a failure to address root problems jointly. Third, invest in outcome monitoring and surveillance systems, and provide feedback to both providers and people in the community.

Above all, countries must decide on the right mix between the different policy interventions and actions. While some countries lack health policies, in many countries the fundamental problem is the lack of managerial and administrative capacity to implement policy and translate good intentions into practical programmes and services. Moreover, health data and information systems will be critical for monitoring progress towards UHC and people-centred health systems, reviewing achievements and failures, and promoting accountability. Countries and global health leaders generally agree it is imperative to improve data quality, promote alignment and coordination of data, and strengthen statistical capacity for measurement and performance. The Health Data Collaborative (www.healthdatacollaborative.org), the Global Partnership on Sustainable Development Data (www.data4sdgs.org), the Service Delivery Indicator (www.sdindicators.org), and the Afrobarometer project (afrobarometer.org) are examples of initiatives supporting country efforts to improve data collection, reporting, and use.

# SECTION 4. STEWARDSHIP IN SHAPING THE FUTURE OF HEALTH IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

Effective stewardship, leadership, and governance are needed to drive the development of people centred health systems across SSA and the attainment of the SDGs and the AU's Agenda 2063. This section briefly discusses these inter-related concepts including fostering interministerial action and the engagement of non-state actors, tackling corruption, strengthening accountability, and changing development cooperation.

## Strategic leadership

Health systems in sub-Saharan countries often exist in contexts of turbulence, ambiguity, and resource challenges. In these environments, strategic leadership requires adaptive capacity, absorptive capacity, and managerial wisdom.<sup>99</sup> Policies and strategies that do not adequately take into account the complex adaptive character of health systems can lead to the kinds of crisis the Ghana health sector went through for almost a decade in relation to the additional duty hours allowance policy, a costly scheme which compensated doctors for hours worked beyond the standard 40 weekly hours.<sup>100</sup> One example of adaptive leadership capacity in the face of instability is the experience of Mozambique, where the Minister of Health at the time of independence, Dr Pascoal Mocumbi, helped mitigate the impact of an exodus of doctors and a severe staff shortage by training surgical technicians to care for pregnant women and war casualties.<sup>101</sup>

Absorptive capacity requires willingness to tolerate and learn from failures. One example of an initiative to build absorptive capacity is a leadership hub programme for nurses in Kenya, South Africa, and Uganda to improve HIV care through improved use of evidence. Action research on the initiative suggests absorptive capacity can be strengthened and consequently improve evidence-based HIV care but only if the initiatives are formally mainstreamed into the health authorities which can sustain them.<sup>102</sup>

A qualitative study involving interviews with health-care leaders in Ethiopia, Ghana, Liberia, and Rwanda identified five key themes central to effective leadership: "having an aspirational, value-based vision for improving the future health of the country; being self-aware and having the ability to identify and use complementary skills of others; investing in and managing relationships; using data in decision making; and sustaining a commitment to learning".<sup>103</sup> The study identified a gap in the use of data to monitor and improve performance. Health leadership capacity strengthening has generally focussed more on boosting technical competencies rather than on "softer" leadership skills such as relationship management.<sup>104</sup> This area needs to be prioritised in future.

Using data from a 360 degree feedback instrument in Egypt, and countries in West and Southern Africa, the Center for Creative Leadership found much innovation and creativity, but also that talented leaders were not receiving much structured support to develop their full leadership potential.<sup>105</sup> In a baseline assessment in Ghana, South Africa, and Uganda of the needs and competencies for strategic health sector leadership development, respondents were overwhelming in support of the need for a structured long-term capacity building effort that employed a mix of formal and informal mechanisms including coaching, mentoring, and peer-to-peer as well as peer-tofacilitator learning.<sup>106</sup> Capacity building approaches have tended to focus on disjointed short courses often driven by the availability of donor funding or particular interests rather than a systematic long-term sector building approach,<sup>107</sup> and this needs to change. For health to improve, leadership needs to be strengthened at team, operational, and strategic levels and to work in synergy. Tensions between and within these different levels of leadership can limit performance. For example in The Gambia, research demonstrates a "complicated power tussle" between leaders at the national government and sub-national level, particularly around how centralised budgetary control limits the latter's managerial capacity and decision-making capabilities.<sup>108</sup>

## Interministerial and multistakeholder engagement

All levels of leadership both within the health sector, and between health and other sectors and institutions that determine health outcomes (such as ministries of agriculture and education), interconnect and succeed where provision is made for intersectoral collaboration and governance. Collaboration with the Ministry of Finance is particularly crucial. There are numerous and long-standing examples of intersectoral HIV prevention programmes in Africa—Kenya's comprehensive HIV prevention roadmap is a strong and effective model.<sup>109</sup>

Leadership and interministerial action are also required to tackle risk factors for chronic diseases, especially smoking, alcohol, and high fat, sugar, and salt intake. For example, in 2013 South Africa enacted legislation requiring the food industry to reduce the salt content of a number of food products<sup>110</sup> as part of a strategic plan to reduce the burden of chronic conditions.<sup>111</sup> Leadership from several ministries is needed to establish and enforce legislation and public education to avert an epidemic of tobacco-related diseases, and to intervene with the local and multinational fast food industries, as it is likely that their food will become more popular, even if today only 5-10% of the food that people eat in a country like Ghana is "fast food". A high-profile health minister in the cabinet's inner circle is necessary to mobilise support for health in other ministries.

The landscape for health leadership is further complicated by the role of other stakeholders outside the government, such as foreign donor agencies, traditional medicine practitioners, NGOs, and forprofit and faith-based organisations, which provide or fund a high percentage of health services (see section 3). Leaders in all these stakeholder groups need to be engaged. For example, a study in South Africa reinforced the need to engage religious leaders in overweight and obesity prevention.<sup>112</sup> The systematic engagement of community leaders in northern Nigeria proved pivotal in the success of Global Polio Eradication Initiative in Nigeria, a lesson for other mass public health programmes in Africa (panel 2). With growing for-profit health-care provision, a key leadership challenge for governments and ministries is to pluralise leadership and ensure "the spread of leadership is channelled, rather than contested, for a coherent, lasting effect".<sup>104</sup>

Panel 2: Engagement of community leaders in polio eradication in northern Nigeria

## Addressing corruption, strengthening accountability

Corruption is the "abuse of entrusted power for private gain. It can be classified as grand, petty, or political, depending on the amounts of money lost and the sector where it occurs".<sup>113</sup> By diverting resources from desired public policy goals and creating perverse incentives for behaviour and related outcomes, corruption works against effective processes, outputs, and outcomes in all sectors including health and health-related sectors. While corruption is not unique to SSA or to any particular time, age, or civilisation, corruption is considered rife in the health sector in many African countries.<sup>114</sup>

In the socio-economic and political realm, corruption is an adaptable moving target requiring constant vigilance to thwart rather than any one single unchanging measure. The published empirical literature on health leadership, governance, and corruption in Africa remains limited. However, there is enough to show that it leads to inequities, inefficiencies, and poor responsiveness of services to people, making health systems less rather than more people centred. The negative effects on processes and outputs affects outcomes.<sup>115-117</sup> For example, research in South Africa illustrates the siphoning off of scarce resources can gravely affect health, with sorely needed health equipment failing to reach remote areas, and thus increasing the chance of adverse events for which frontline health workers will be held responsible.<sup>116</sup> In Chad, a study shows less than 1% of the nonwage funds allocated by the Ministry of Health to the regions reached local health facilities due to high level of leakage at regional level.<sup>118</sup> A review of gaps in health systems research identifies corruption as an area where there has been remarkably little research relative to its impact on sub-Saharan health systems.<sup>119</sup>

Corruption is an important area to address in any recommendations for the future of health in Africa.<sup>120,121</sup> Tackling corruption in the health sector requires a stronger stance from sub-Saharan governments and local health leaders that translates beyond rhetoric and into implementation. The governments of high-income countries and other donors also need to do the same.<sup>122</sup> For example, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria has taken a proactive stance in investigating and documenting large-scale corruption<sup>123</sup> and disseminating case studies of the deleterious impacts corruption can exert on health. At level of service delivery, lower-scale corruption such as what is known as quiet corruption whereby "public servants fail to deliver services or inputs that have been paid for by the government" gives way to a vicious cycle of low service utilisation by the public. This, in turn, reinforces the poor attendance or absenteeism of some health workers.<sup>114</sup>

Corruption is often not driven by a single cause, but rather by a constellation of factors, and any effort to reduce it requires a multi-faceted approach.<sup>124</sup> Social norms, moral and ethical beliefs, and values, attitudes, and personality can all contribute to the rationalisation of behaviours that favour corruption. Opportunities to abuse depend on the extent to which there is monopoly, accountability, citizen voice, transparency, and enforcement in a given health sector.<sup>124</sup> These tools are all an important part of ensuring people-centred health systems and provide a pathway to reducing corruption.

Accountability is part of health system governance, and involves the obligation of individuals, ministries, departments, and agencies to justify and provide information about their actions, and outputs to others. Ultimate accountability of the health system should be to Parliament, representing the people, and to local governments and community organisations. Strengthening political and social accountability has clear impacts on quality of care. For example, community involvement in the maternal death review process in Mchinji District, Malawi, identified twice as many maternal deaths as the previous existing facility review process, and encouraged multiple community actions to improve maternal health.<sup>125</sup> Regular reporting, transparency of accounts, and public hearings should be an integral part of the responsibilities of health leaders and managers.

The commitment of heads of state and government is necessary to drive progress in health.<sup>126</sup> Parliamentary support and debate are required to ensure that health is prioritised, even in times of economic hardship. Fortunately, health issues are increasingly becoming part of the political debate, inside the parliamentary system and in the media and civil society. This should benefit greater accountability in health. Particularly where political commitment is lacking and/or service delivery is absent or of poor quality, civil society and communities must become advocates, voicing their needs, demanding their right to health, and holding decision makers to account for the commitments they make and for how resources are spent. Much can be learned from the remarkable achievements of people affected by HIV and concerned communities, which included a shift to the paradigm of human rights in health service delivery, affordable antiretroviral drugs, and the scale up of treatment in Africa.<sup>12</sup> The report of the UNAIDS–*Lancet* Commission on HIV/AIDS explicitly recommended financial support to activist groups as a public good in health.<sup>12</sup> Another lesson from the AIDS response is that community involvement in the design and implementation of health promotion, prevention, and treatment programmes leads to better results.<sup>12</sup>

Governments and non-state actors can be more effective working together than in isolation.<sup>127</sup> For example, in Ethiopia, Community Advisory Boards were set up to inform mental health-care research and delivery, leading to community-led prioritisation of health needs and better understanding of the potential risks of implementing specific programmes. In Senegal, the Society for Women and AIDS in Africa engages closely with government and health officials as partners, strengthening their legitimacy to support health sector programmes.<sup>128</sup> The community structures that are already in place in sub-Saharan countries can be built on and further empowered to support local health-care delivery and strengthen accountability.

## Towards a new era of development cooperation

The post-colonial and post-cold war relationship between international "donors" and African countries is slowly evolving into a situation with African countries in the driving seat. There is more awareness of their sovereignty, more capacity to negotiate, clearer plans, and higher budgets for health in many countries. In general, international financing represents a minority of a country's health expenditure—though it can be critical in particular issues, such as HIV treatment or women's and children's health (see section 5). SSA remains by far the major beneficiary of health-related official development assistance from the UK, US, EU and Japan, which through TICAD (Tokyo International Conference on African Development) related initiatives is trying to match China's growing influence in Africa. The Global Fund and Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance are innovative forms of multilateral co-operation. The ultimate scope of China's, India's and Brazil's involvement in health in Africa may take a while to clarify as a new model of bilateral co-operation (panel 3).

## Panel 3: China, India, and Brazil-forging new partnerships in Africa

The New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) was ratified by the AU in 2002 in order "for African countries to take full control of their development agenda, to work more closely together, and to cooperate more effectively with international partners." One of NEPAD's objectives is to ensure that Africa's health, education, and sciences agendas are determined by and driven from within the continent. In 2011, the Busan Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation shifted the narrative from aid to development co-operation and set out common principles for all actors, including mutual benefit and equality between partners. The International Health Partnership Plus (IHP+) was launched in 2007 to accelerate progress on the health MDGs and is now called the International Health Partnership for UHC 2030. Its signatories commit to move towards using country systems. However, many of these envisaged changes have yet to materialise, and in several sub-Saharan countries there is still quite a lot of influence from donors on resource allocation and priority setting, some of which adversely affects coordination and programme effectiveness. Part of the reason is limited capacity in many African administrations, but also complex international political considerations. IHP+'s "seven behaviours" for how development partners should act remain highly relevant and merit renewed action:<sup>129</sup>

• support a single national health strategy

- record all funds for health in the national budget
- harmonise and align with financial management systems
- harmonise and align with national procurement and supply systems
- use one information and accountability platform
- support south-to-south and triangular cooperation
- provide well-coordinated technical assistance.

Alignment of donor priorities with those of governments is an important principle, though sometimes direct external support to NGOs may be justified in countries in fragile situations or to reach marginalised populations that the government may not want or be able to reach out to. In addition to aligning with the host country's priorities, harmonising the different global health mechanisms is key to reducing transaction costs of service delivery and reporting. One major difficulty has been getting donors to agree to country led evaluation frameworks, because in some cases Parliament or the Administration of the donor country only accepts its own conditionalities and accountability frameworks.

The Lancet Commission on Investing in Health proposes to reorient international development financing for health from direct investments in country level services to core global functions such as pandemic preparedness and research and development for neglected diseases.<sup>10</sup> However, particularly countries in crisis or in fragile situations will require more classic development assistance for the foreseeable future. The future of health in Africa also depends on redefining development co-operation to be broader than just traditional aid (i.e. grants, loans, and projects) in order to also include non-traditional actors. Examples include: investment vehicles such as private equity<sup>130</sup> and trade in products and services; the role of universities, institutions, and NGOs in research, problem identification, and partnerships for delivery; and private corporations as investors and employers. At the same time sub-Saharan countries need to be clear on the centrality of domestic financing into the future, both in terms of its quantity and its quality, and also on what evolving non-traditional partnerships mean for governance of the health sector.

The best guarantee that African countries are in control of their health financing, policies, and services is to strengthen their own governance and managerial and technical capacity, as well as to ensuring substantive government budgets for health.

## SECTION 5. TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FINANCING FOR HEALTH

## What are the funding needs?

Enacting the vision outlined in this report will require not only political commitment, inspired leadership, and unprecedented depth of cooperation, but also financial and human resources. Despite ongoing political commitment towards allocating appropriate resources for health, from Abuja (2001) to Addis Ababa (2015), and an overall increase of public resources for health over time, the funding gap between current health expenditure and the needs for delivering at scale basic health interventions has remained significant for most sub-Saharan countries. The 15% of government spending for health target in the Abuja Declaration was implemented incompletely and achieved little gains.<sup>131-133</sup> In 2014, half the countries in the region reported health allocations below the 10% mark.

While the central role of public spending for progress towards UHC is undisputed, there is no single benchmark to determine funding needs.<sup>134</sup> The Africa Scorecard for Domestic Financing, launched by the AU in September 2016,<sup>135</sup> aims to drive domestic investment in health, improve accountability, and show how realistic it is to meet the domestic funding targets. It tracks national health spending against multiple targets: the Abuja Declaration 15% target, the per capita target proposed by the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health (2001),<sup>136</sup> the per capita target proposed by the High Level Taskforce on Innovative International Financing for Health Systems (2005, updated in 2009), and the two targets proposed in the McIntyre and Meheus study for Chatham House (US\$ 86 public spending per capita and 5% of GDP for health). The scorecard shows that most sub-Saharan countries still require a major effort to achieve the targets, while there are also countries that are on track to achieving several or more of the financial targets (e.g. Namibia, Republic of Congo, and Swaziland).

It is worth noting that the targets suggested by McIntyre and Meheus<sup>137</sup> refer to achieving a package of services that includes primary level care for chronic conditions and mental health, reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health (RMNCH), and communicable diseases (see web appendix for methodology). This package does not include, however, hospital care and public health activities, therefore the \$86 public spending per capita is by any account an underestimate of providing services across the entire spectrum. In 2014, 32 sub-Saharan countries spent less than 3% of GDP on health, which suggests the 5% target remains aspirational, particularly for low-income countries. For half the countries even reaching such a spending level would leave them substantially below the minimum \$86 per capita spending level. This gap remains in any case conservative because primary health care spending, to which the \$86 value refers, represents only a share of total public spending for health.

The Global Health 2035 report<sup>10</sup> used One Health Tool<sup>138</sup> to estimate the absolute costs of scaling up selected health interventions to reduce mortality rates from infections and RMNCH disorders in lowand middle-income countries to the levels of four high-performing countries (Chile, China, Costa Rica, and Cuba) by 2035. For the 23 low-income sub-Saharan countries modelled in the Global Health 2035 exercise, programme scale-up costs for a limited number of infectious disease and MCH interventions alone range from less than 10% of the current total health expenditure (THE) in countries like the Comoros, Nigeria, and Rwanda to as high as 47% in Malawi (figure 10). For seven countries (Burundi, Central African Republic, DR Congo, Eritrea, Guinea, Madagascar, and Malawi) annual health expenditure must double or even triple (Central African Republic) to reach target levels. It must be acknowledged that this figure does not account for a range of other areas like adult malnutrition, injuries, and surgery – therefore it is in any case an underestimate of true scale-up costs even for basic care.

Progress on raising funds for health has been markedly unequal across sub-Saharan countries. Closing the funding gap from domestic sources is now within reach for some, while others will continue to require sustained health financing reform and development assistance for health (DAH). Going forward, governments need to see beyond domestic public funding, which is set to be at the centre of financing efforts,<sup>139</sup> and DAH, which will remain important to some countries. Channelling contributions from philanthropists may also play a role,n,<sup>140</sup> but is unlikely to ever be a substitute for government or individual contributions. Harnessing this potential will nevertheless require sustained stewardship efforts from governments to engage in coordinating and maintaining dialogue with such actors and other partners in order to ensure alignment with national priorities.<sup>141</sup> *Figure 10: Global Health 2035 programme scale up costs for* maternal, newborn, and child health, TB, and HIV/AIDS interventions as a proportion of total health expenditure (2013) in 23 low-income sub-Saharan countries

## Financing national health

Health financing arrangements across SSA are as diverse as their health financing needs. The health financing directions to maintain progress towards UHC are known from the WHO work on public financing for health in Africa: prioritise health even when the economic prospects deteriorate; ensure consistency of funding, both domestic and external; improve budget execution; and improve resource allocation with a focus on primary care and service coverage for the poor.<sup>139</sup> Making fiscal policy choices that improve the efficiency and compliance of tax collection without compromising equity will be essential going forward.<sup>142,143</sup>

Two issues are prominent and relevant to all from a sustainability perspective: the reliance on outof-pocket (OOP) payments and the substantive contribution of external funding. OOP payments remain a major contributor to financing health services: despite overall progress during the past decade, some countries have had little reduction in OOP as a share of THE. In more than a third of the countries such payments make up more than 40% of THE.<sup>144</sup> In only five countries (Botswana, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, and South Africa) OOP contributions represent less than 10% of THE.

On the other hand, the volume of external resources for health as a percentage of THE has grown four-fold in the entire African region over the past two decades and remains comfortably higher than in any other region.<sup>145</sup> Some countries have had relatively constant external assistance relative to THE since 2000 (e.g. Cameroon and Malawi), others have seen marked increases (e.g. DR Congo, Kenya, and Mali), while others have relied less and less on external funding (e.g. Chad). HIV, malaria, and RMNCH have received the most attention—with some countries highly dependent on foreign funding for their HIV treatment programme—while DAH for non-communicable diseases has been minimal (figure 11).

Globally, however, the outlook of health aid is uncertain and this lack of predictability threatens progress made to date. Funding for HIV from donor governments decreased in 2015 (for the first time in 5 years) by more than \$1 billion compared to 2014, after accounting for dollar appreciation and delays in payments.<sup>146</sup> In the short-term, plateaus or even drops are projected for the African region.<sup>147</sup> Long-term projections point to overall increases, albeit with substantial uncertainty around estimates.<sup>148</sup> As countries in Africa become classified as middle income, the requirement to transition or graduate to financing from domestic sources may limit the sustainability of achievements and gains. Recognising this risk, the report from the Equitable Access Initiative recommends not using GNI per capita as the "principle basis for classifying countries and determining eligibility for external financial support".<sup>149</sup> It proposes a new policy framework to guide health financing decision making that is based on a broader set of economic and health indicators. Renewed and accelerated DAH commitments for SSA in order to meet the chronic conditions challenge and to strengthen health services are complicated by a focus on short-term outcomes and the need to reform the DAH system itself towards better governance and increased predictability.<sup>150</sup> Furthermore, it is necessary to couple the transition agenda with the efficiency improvement agenda in order to fully address the challenge and avoid the pitfall of seeking more resources in the future for the same approach of organising service delivery as today. While a generous range of proven, facility-level efficiency-improving strategies are available,<sup>151</sup> their implementation is unlikely to be the only challenge. The African experience with integrating HIV services and reproductive health

services highlights the bigger challenge of ensuring alignment between such strategies and broader health system functions, which invites for rigorous research and careful planning before assuming that such gains are within reach.<sup>152</sup>

## Figure 11: Total development assistance for health by disease area in sub-Saharan Africa

Progress towards UHC depends to a large extent on sustaining health financing. Improving the consistency of funding is a key direction for African countries.<sup>139</sup> Furthermore, sustainability goes beyond ensuring necessary funding (e.g. increasing the share of domestic funding in THE and reducing dependence on external aid) and equally applies to reforms that aim to improve financial risk protection and equity. To complement the cross-sectional nature of existing progress tracking instruments such as the Africa Scorecard, we examined the dynamic nature of African countries' health financing efforts towards UHC over time. Specifically, we used 2009-2014 WHO Global Health Expenditure Database data on three indicators – share of OOP payments from THE, share of external resource from THE, and share of government health expenditure from general government expenditure – and calculated an average measure of the trend in each indicator over the 2009-2014 interval, namely the average of year-on-year percentage change. Further, we classified average percentage change in three categories, as per table 4. The 5% cut-off was informed by the median progress/regress of countries in the sample for the three indicators.

The results of this typology are shown in table 5. Most countries have been able to sustain progress in at least one of the indicators. For example, 16 countries have constantly allocated more resources for health as a share of government expenditures at annual increase rates higher than 5%. The share of external resources for health offers the most mixed landscape, with some impressive progress (e.g. Namibia 8% average annual decrease as a share of THE, and South Africa 7%). At the other extreme, Senegal and Swaziland have increasingly used external resources, thus increasing donor dependency, by an annual average of 11% and 21%, respectively. Stability is arguably more important than progress in either direction in order to ensure funding predictability. Most countries have had stable progress in the proportion of OOP payments, which is in line with the slow decreasing trends at a regional level referred to above. Several countries, however, stand out. Chad and Republic of Congo have had continuous reductions in OOP levels, while Botswana, Mozambique, and Tanzania have had significant increases.

## Table 4: Classification of health financing efforts

## Table 5: Outlook of sustainability of health financing efforts

The results of this classification are to be read in conjunction with absolute values of key indicators, such as those in the Africa Scorecard and country financing profiles. It attempts to quantify and present in context the extent to which progress in health financing reforms towards UHC has been sustained over time. It is designed to be an aid for national-level decision makers, helping them identify the health financing objectives that require either stability in order to ensure predictability or sustained action in order to turn around a negative trend. Needless to say, it must be read with caution as it does not claim to capture the entirety of governments' efforts in the area of health financing. Evolutions in the three dimensions also need to be read in conjunction, not in isolation, for a given country: for example, a relative decrease in the proportion of OOP levels may be linked to a comparable increase in external support. Furthermore, cross-checking the data against National Health Accounts (NHA) data would provide additional reassurance towards their validity and interpretation, however few countries have recently completed NHA. If any, its merit is that it puts

the evolution of key health financing indicators in a dual perspective, over time and across selected key indicators.

## Progress in improving financial risk protection

Ensuring financial risk protection for service users against catastrophic health spending and impoverishing health spending is integral to achieving UHC. However, the representative data required to measure financial risk protection robustly at a national level are often lacking – in the First Global Monitoring Report of UHC such data were available only for 37 countries (2002-2012), of which only nine in SSA.<sup>63</sup> More broadly, many African governments have embarked on reforms towards reducing reliance on out-of-pocket expenditure and increasing the share of pre-paid contributions under public pooled insurance.

The impact of user fee removal on service utilisation has generally been positive, despite it having been implemented with insufficient preparation in most African countries,<sup>153</sup> but the evidence is mixed at best for improved equity, quality, and financial risk protection. In Zambia, for example, there are indications that removing user fees in primary care facilities starting from 2006 benefitted the rich much more than the poor.<sup>154</sup> The risk of catastrophic health payments remains concentrated among the poorest of the poor, and transport cost is the main determinant of limited protective effect.<sup>155</sup> It is important to acknowledge that financial barriers are only one of many considerations for inadequate access to care; others include different price elasticities across health services, the opportunity cost of time for the poor, high non-medical direct costs (e.g. transport) or medical costs borne outside facilities (e.g. drugs), and perceptions of poor quality of care.<sup>156</sup>

Removing financial barriers to access is important, but it must be complemented with broader measures that address the relevant causes. Findings from the evaluation of Sierra Leone's user fee removal initiative, Free Health Care Initiative (FHCI), point to important lessons: despite a comparably hasty implementation, FHCI took a systemic approach and used FHCI as a platform to trigger sector-wide reforms (e.g. human resources for health, introducing performance-based financing to replace resources foregone in facilities).<sup>157</sup> Maintaining quality of care is another key consideration to keep in mind when introducing such policies. In Niger, user fee removal and improvements in utilisation came at the cost of deteriorating quality of service, particularly in areas where health facilities were not supported by NGOs. These shortcomings may seem unintended consequences, but were in place long before the implementation of fee exemption policies, which only made them more visible. More broadly, one must safeguard against the risks of creating a two-tier system: free and low quality services for the poor on the one hand, and paid for and better quality for the non-poor, on the other.<sup>158</sup>

The uptake of various health insurance models has increased in SSA since 2000. Community-based health insurance (CBHI) has proved more popular, with adopters including Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Rwanda, and Senegal, while social health insurance (SHI) has been rolled out in countries such as Ghana (panel 4). The evidence on the impact of health insurance in African countries has been generally mixed.<sup>159</sup> While both CBHI and SHI are associated with improved financial protection and service utilisation for enrolees, there is no guarantee that introducing health insurance increases service quality, ameliorates inequity or, in the case of CBHI, empowers communities. Given the exceptionally high cost of introducing or scaling up national health insurance schemes, governments need to have clarity on the exact purposes of insurance schemes and approach the issue from the perspective of assessing the opportunity costs relative to reforming existing systems. For example, strengthening financial management and contracting capacity in Ministries of Health may prove to

bring, depending on the context, more substantial equity gains than rolling out a full blown insurance scheme.

## Panel 4: Examples of health insurance in Ghana, Rwanda and Senegal

Two broad categories of challenges remain particularly relevant: ensuring that individuals who would benefit the most from having insurance do enrol; and ensuring that people can access the benefits that are relevant to them once enrolled.<sup>160</sup> When national health insurance plans start by enrolling the formal and civil sector workers, it later becomes difficult to extend the scheme to other groups, which undermines the equity objectives of the entire scheme.<sup>161</sup> The National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS) in Nigeria provides a useful example: launched in 1999, the scheme covers less than 5% of the population and expansion into the informal sector has been low to date. The financial, institutional, and communication efforts required to extend coverage towards the poor are substantial irrespective of the approach and there is no substitute for full commitment towards this goal. Despite the insurance enrolment camps, heavy subsidisation, and exemptions from contributions, the poor are still at least twice less likely to be enrolled in Ghana's NHIS than the rich.<sup>162</sup> This is partially due to policy incoherence e.g. one of the stipulated criteria to identify the core poor is not having a fixed place of residence, which is only rarely the case and in effect disqualifies many of the poor. Low awareness among the poor of exemptions they are entitled to is another contributing factor.<sup>163</sup> Further, poverty identification strategies must combine statistical information, relevance, and community acceptability in order to be viable.<sup>164</sup> As such, translating pro-poor policies in practice is often a matter of implementation. Without close consideration of all relevant aspects, the impact of pro-poor policies may well depend on the initiatives of district health managers/administrators and frontline workers.<sup>165</sup>

Enforcing the mandatory character of insurance comes with political and operational challenges, hence pooling remains fragmented in many African countries. This raises issues of adverse selection, inequity, and financial viability, particularly for voluntary schemes addressing the informal sector. Reducing fragmentation by merging the different insurance pools is essential to promote equity in the utilisation of health services, create opportunities for cross-subsidisation, and ensure the financial sustainability of the schemes. This, however, also raises significant challenges and is a key consideration for countries that are yet to pursue national health insurance schemes and face a choice between the pragmatism of starting with enrolling the formal sector and the difficulties of enforcing nationwide enrolment. Tanzania started making steps towards bringing together its two major health insurance schemes, the National Health Insurance Fund (NHIF), the compulsory formal sector scheme, and the Community Health Funds (CHF), the voluntary scheme for those in the informal sector, in a move to increase insurance coverage. In 2009, NHIF took over the management of CHF and an early evaluation suggested an increase in insurance coverage, particularly in the informal sector, however harmonising legal frameworks is an essential pre-condition and administrative costs did not decrease.<sup>166</sup>

Progress to date in improving financial risk protection needs to be sustained further. The poor in Africa still have disproportionately less access to health services and are more exposed to impoverishing expenditure compared to the non-poor. First, capitalising on the existing health financing learning network is essential to take stock of lessons learned. Second, the design of the insurance schemes can be further improved. For example, group enrolment (rather than individual or household) and incorporating lead-in time following enrolment have been found to be effective against adverse selection. Third, taking a systemic view of reforms aimed at improving coverage and financial risk protection, which includes combined action on demand side, e.g. improved targeting, and supply side determinants e.g. partnering with faith-based and private sector providers in areas with poor coverage of government facilities and using performance-based financing to stimulate enrolment and improve health service.

## Improving health spending efficiency

Sub-Saharan countries have lower per capita spending on health than most countries in other regions. However, spending more money on health is only part of the answer to achieving UHC and, ultimately, better health: efficiency, understood as achieving better health outcomes with the same resources, is crucial.<sup>75</sup> The consequences of inefficiency are anything but trivial: it has been estimated for OECD countries that improving efficiency to the standard of best performing countries would bring, on average, an increase of 2 years in life expectancy, compared with 4 months brought by a 10% increase in public health expenditure per capita.<sup>167</sup> Investing in efficiency and demonstrating value can strengthen the dialogue between African Ministries of Health and Ministries of Finance<sup>168</sup> and help convince Ministers of Finance of the returns associated with allocating much needed resources for health.

Evidence suggests that the African region has the least efficient health spending in the developing world.<sup>169</sup> Africa reports higher per capita health spending and worse health outcomes than South Asia, the most comparable region in terms of health expenditure.<sup>170</sup> This categorisation again masks important between-country imbalances: Namibia and Togo are among the most efficient spenders, while Lesotho, Mali, and Sierra Leone lie at the other extreme. When contrasting additional years to be gained in health-adjusted life expectancy from increasing public health expenditure per capita and more efficient health spending to continental averages, it emerges that improving efficiency would bring at least comparable gains to mere increased spending (figure 12). In countries like Lesotho, Sierra Leone, and Zambia, addressing inefficiencies would largely outweigh benefits from spending increases. As such, health spending efficiency must become as high a priority in sub-Saharan countries as increasing public health spending itself. Simply spending more without improvements in efficiency would yield less benefits than maintaining spending at today's levels, but with improved efficiency.

# Figure 12: Potential gains in health adjusted life expectancy (years) from reaching the regional average in public health expenditure per capita and health spending efficiency, respectively, in selected sub-Saharan countries

Where does inefficiency lie? Low budget execution (an estimated \$10 to \$100 million in unused fiscal space for health across African countries),<sup>139</sup> disproportionate spending on tertiary care to the detriment of primary care, procurement, inappropriate workforce distribution and motivation (financial and non-financial), medical errors, and corruption have all been indicated as key inefficiency sources.<sup>75</sup> Emerging evidence suggests that African countries with higher corruption levels also experience lower health outcomes.<sup>171,172</sup> One area of interest concerns the purchasing of health services, which ensures the link between revenue generation and service delivery. The term "strategic purchasing" was coined as early as 2007<sup>173</sup> with reference to maximising health system performance by continuously optimising how interventions are purchased and has been highlighted as a means to support UHC advances.<sup>174</sup> However, research on the extent to which it is actually conducted and guidance on how strategic purchasing practices can be adopted in public, integrated systems (the model in most sub-Saharan countries) is only building up.<sup>175</sup> Experiences from countries like Nigeria,<sup>176</sup> Kenya,<sup>177</sup> and South Africa<sup>178</sup> suggest that while some elements of strategic purchasing are in place, they fall short of the strategic purchasing ideal and much more progress is needed. Ghana's experience with a series of reforms comprising the introduction of Diagnosis

Related Groups and, more recently, capitation also offers insights into how the public discourse on strategic purchasing is shaped.<sup>179</sup>

Several priorities emerge for improving efficiency. First, improving the financial management of health resources is key.<sup>139</sup> Second, a systemic approach to reform must be taken.<sup>180</sup> This entails linking, among others, health financing with service delivery, domestic funding with donor funding, financial resources with human resources, and so on. DR Congo offers an example of substantial gains following reforms in the pharmaceutical sector, which came as part of a comprehensive domestic effort that reclaimed leadership and governance of the health sector, leading to better alignment of international partners' resources through concerted reforms in financing, service delivery, and governance. Before the National Health Sector Development Plan 2011-2015 there were close to 100 drug distribution channels and 85% of health sector partners used their own channel. There was significant duplication and wastage, and the Government had little control over drug distribution. By aligning donors with the national procurement and supply system, injecting domestic resources into the national procurement and supply system, and pooling resources for the transport of supplies, drug transport costs decreased leading to \$3.5 million estimated annual savings.<sup>181</sup> Third, using regional networks can enable governments to build capacity quicker and undertake essential functions more efficiently. To take the example of pharmaceutical spending further, domestic initiatives such as those in DR Congo can be complemented with regional efforts in better procurement and knowledge sharing, illustrated by initiatives such as the Southern African Development Community's Strategy for Pooled Procurement of Essential Medicines and Health Commodities.182

## SECTION 6. ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL HEALTH COMMODITIES

Achieving UHC will require access to good quality and affordable drugs and vaccines, medical devices, and medical consumables. At the same time, the issue of antimicrobial misuse due unregulated access to pharmaceuticals through unauthorised access points or without prescriptions, and also prescribed inappropriately, is clearly one of Africa's major problems. It is a threat for the development of antimicrobial resistance and therefore a threat to the treatment and control of many diseases including malaria, HIV/AIDS, and TB (MDRTB and XDRTB). It also relates to inefficiencies in the health system.

Sub-optimal access to such health commodities has long been a serious issue in SSA, an unwanted nexus of high commodity costs relative to the local purchasing power, inefficient procurement practices (e.g. multiple tendering processes each year), counterfeit medicines, and stock imbalances.<sup>183,184</sup> In general, the availability of essential medicines has been problematic in SSA, more so than in any other region.<sup>185</sup> The average availability of essential medicines in SSA is around 40% in the public sector and 60% in the private sector, drastically below the WHO target of 80% medicines availability in all sectors.<sup>186</sup> The target is nearly met in countries like Sudan<sup>187</sup> and Burkina Faso,<sup>188</sup> but not in others such as Malawi,<sup>189</sup> and data gaps remain significant for many countries (table 6).<sup>190</sup> Moreover, the availability of essential medicines is often superior in the private sector compared to the public sector, for essential medicines compared to non-essential medicines, and in urban compared to rural settings.<sup>191,192</sup>

Medicine procurement also appears to bear a strong link with historical disease burden trends: medicines for chronic conditions have on average nearly 40% less availability (absolute terms) in the public sector compared to medicines for acute conditions,<sup>191</sup> a reflection of health priorities to date. In terms of affordability, buying medicines in SSA can have devastating impoverishing effects for households.<sup>193</sup> There is evidence that large-scale multi-stakeholder initiatives like Affordable Medicines for Malaria can lower prices and improve access through manufacturer negotiations, subsidies, and communication campaigns, but they cannot be reproduced to cover the entire spectrum of health needs.<sup>194</sup> The rise of chronic conditions will add to the growing need for affordable quality medicines, though most of the drugs needed to treat common chronic conditions are available as generics.

# *Table 6: Median availability (%) of selected generic medicines in public and private facilities, selected countries, 2007–2013*

While the principles of ensuring health commodity security are well known,<sup>195</sup> the practical realities of SSA call for enduring political commitment and targeted financial investment to enact these principles. A recent report by the Lancet Commission on Essential Medicines for universal health coverage estimated that between \$13 and \$25 per capita is required to finance a basic package of essential medicines in all LMICs, whereas most low-income countries were spending less than \$13 a person.<sup>196</sup> Several directions have strategic value to improving commodity availability and affordability: stimulating local commodity production, harmonising legislation, and investing in regulatory capacity. These directions are amenable to direct government intervention, while others depend more on joint action from governments and private sector partners. An example of the latter is overcoming the dysfunctionalities of pharmaceutical supply chains in SSA. High levels of fragmentation in the distribution chain prevent agents to achieve the scale required to obtain optimal efficiency. Some of these are a result of conditionalities imposed by external donors. Furthermore, low multiplicity (usually one distributor covers a given geographical area) hinders competition and innovation.<sup>197</sup> Both factors directly affect affordability and availability through high mark-ups and frequent stock outs, respectively. The stewardship role of governments is essential in recognising the particular supply chain model that applies to their given countries and formulating policy that stimulates the uptake of technological innovation and market consolidation.

From the perspective of production capabilities, approximately 70% of the African pharmaceutical market is imported and although more than 30 sub-Saharan countries have some form of pharmaceutical production capabilities, only South African companies produce active pharmaceutical ingredients.<sup>198</sup> The substantial foreign aid received by African countries during the past decades to support TB, HIV, and malaria medicines has led to large scale generic drug imports, primarily from Indian companies.<sup>199,200</sup> Whereas the availability of bona fide generic antiretrovirals from India have made it possible to treat over 10 million people living with HIV in SSA, a recent pilot study found that antibiotics and TB drugs of Indian origin are more likely to be of substandard quality in Africa compared to other markets.<sup>201</sup> More broadly, the issue of counterfeit medicines has global proportions but is even more stringent in SSA than in other regions,<sup>202,203</sup> with a median of 20% of the population reporting to have been a victim of counterfeit drugs.<sup>204</sup> In theory, relying more on locally produced generic medicines could lower consumer prices via shorter supply chains and would stimulate local economies. Despite the strong intuitive appeal of such mechanisms and

supporting evidence from high-income settings, they are yet to be backed by evidence in SSA and must be advanced with due caution.<sup>205</sup>

Investing to harmonise production with international industry standards will be a necessary and also lofty first hurdle. The AU's Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa aims to support the local industry to reach international standards of production through an array of initiatives that include a Good Manufacturing Practice roadmap, specialist human resource development policies in African universities, and lobbying to extend the TRIPS Agreement flexibilities beyond 2016.<sup>206</sup> Complying with international production standards and producing at competitive costs is achievable for African pharmaceutical producers, though by no means easy,<sup>207</sup> and it can also generate positive spillovers. Evidence from Tanzania suggests that locally produced medicines are less subject to the so-called "urban bias" (higher availability in urban vs rural settings) compared to imported medicines even when import prices and purchasing power are accounted for, thus suggesting that locally produced medicines are more trusted by purchasers and therefore more accessible than imports.<sup>208</sup> However, the time to strengthen local production capacity is now. More than 30 sub-Saharan countries are currently classed by the UN as least developed countries and, as such, are eligible to refuse to grant patents for pharmaceuticals until July 2021 under the transitional provisions in the TRIPS Agreement.<sup>209</sup>

Second, regulatory capacity building requires substantial investment. Most national regulatory agencies in sub-Saharan countries lack the capacity to perform their basic functions, such as conducting timely, good quality technical assessments of product dossiers and verifying the marketing authorisation of products on importation.<sup>210</sup> To give just one example, only five countries (Kenya, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zimbabwe) have WHO prequalified laboratories for drug quality testing.<sup>197</sup> Staff shortages, insufficient and fluctuating funding, and precarious information management systems directly impact medicines availability and patients' health. It can take up to 5 years or longer for medicines to become available to African patients than in other parts of the world.<sup>211</sup> Regulatory power is only starting to consolidate, for example in the form of the African Vaccine Regulatory Forum, the Developing Country Vaccine Regulators' Network, and the First Scientific Conference on Medicines Regulation in Africa,<sup>212</sup> but efforts must be thoroughly supported and accelerated by national governments. The example of countries in the East African Community, the first sub-regional entity to set up a harmonised medicines registration system, demonstrates that regulatory strengthening is possible through coordinated regional initiatives, although legislative and capacity challenges remain prominent.<sup>213</sup>

Furthermore, substandard and counterfeit medicines continue to pose severe threats to human health in Africa.<sup>214,215</sup> More than 100 000 deaths in children under five in SSA were estimated to be associated with poor quality antimalarials in 2013 alone.<sup>190</sup> While the scope of the problem is enormous, it remains difficult to quantify with precision. For example, a 2014 review of the Worldwide Antimalarial Resistance Network's antimalarial quality database found no information for 17 of the 44 malaria-endemic sub-Saharan countries.<sup>216</sup> NGO initiatives such as the Ghanaian-born mPedigree Network (panel 8) empower patients and health professionals to identify falsified drugs and are an excellent example of health-care innovation in practice. They cannot substitute the functions of central regulators, rather they are an additional tool to enhance regulatory effectiveness.<sup>217</sup>

Reforming Central Medical Stores (CMS) towards granting them more autonomy in order to improve their performance has yielded encouraging results.<sup>218</sup> Still, CMS in many countries continue to face challenges in infrastructure, human resources, management, and operational capacity. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that improving CMS overall performance automatically leads to improvements in perceived availability of drugs (or at least of all drugs) by frontline staff.<sup>219</sup> Aligning the incentives of the many stakeholders in the supply chain is essential and the introduction of performance-based financing in supply chains is an alternative worth considering,<sup>220</sup> as illustrated by recent encouraging results from Mozambique.<sup>221</sup>

Finally, national legislation requires alignment with efficient purchasing objectives. The UN Commission on International Trade Law Model Law on Procurement of Goods and Services<sup>222</sup> provides countries with a template for national procurement legislation, generally under a decentralised procurement system with central oversight. Framework agreements, which can be used when the procuring entity expects the need for procurement to arise on a repeated, indefinite, or urgent basis during a given period of time, are an effective and cost-effective option to ensure predictability and competitive prices given the long-term and price discounts. Such contractual arrangements are suitable for generic drugs and routine consumables and less so for medical devices as they also tend to limit competition and are, thus, suitable for mature products where new entrants are not expected to enter the market during the contract's enforcement duration. Framework contracts are already enacted in countries like Ghana, Kenya, and Zambia, while in others such as Mozambique legislative barriers still prevent their enactment.<sup>223</sup> Even where procurement itself is effective, post-procurement management of commodities is critical, as the experience of Ghana's CMS illustrates.

The Commission advocates for an integrative approach towards achieving commodity security and access to essential medicines in SSA, an approach that considers the commodity pathway in its entirety, from manufacturing/importation, market registration, procurement, and purchasing. The Commission also supports the main recommendations of the Lancet Commission on Essential Medicines for UHC, such as paying for a basket of essential medicines, making essential medicines affordable, assuring the quality and safety of medicines, promoting quality use of medicines, developing missing essential medicines.<sup>196</sup> It is obvious that achieving sustainable in-flows of good quality, affordable medical products cannot happen overnight, but, as demonstrated by recent examples of successful initiatives mentioned above, solid progress is already taking place. Capitalising on this progress can immediately deliver better public health outcomes, but only with continuous commitment and leadership on all fronts—industry, regulatory capacity, and legislation—as well as strengthened institutional and regional cooperation. This should also be a priority for international support and highlights the importance of using evidence more to inform policies and practice as one approach to improving efficiency in service delivery to improve outcomes.

# SECTION 7. STRENGTHENING PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEMS AND CONTAINING EPIDEMIC THREATS

With their focus on preventing disease and promoting health among the population as a whole, public health systems are an essential part of health systems. Among other things, they provide

much-needed data on population health and epidemic threats, informing the need for, and evaluation of, health interventions, thus facilitating evidence-based decision making.<sup>224</sup> Multidisciplinary and multisectoral in nature, public health systems should work closely with treatment and caring for the sick, as has been the hallmark of HIV control programmes, and now is also needed to deal with chronic diseases. In addition to traditional prevention and management, sub-Saharan countries may have to meet the needs of patients with chronic diseases outside traditional clinical care, which will require innovative public health systems.

Historically, very different public health systems emerged in Africa, with francophone countries often having very centralised services, quite independent from mainstream health-care services. Investments in public health systems have frequently been driven by efforts to control infectious diseases such as HIV, polio, and malaria. More recently the US-inspired global health security agenda<sup>225</sup> has driven public health systems development in response to concerns relating to emerging infections with pandemic potential and to bioterrorism.

#### Lessons from Ebola

The importance of public health systems is most dramatically illustrated by the Ebola epidemic in West Africa, a part of Africa which had not previously experienced outbreaks of the virus. It caused over 11 000 deaths (as compared with over 300 for the largest outbreak in Central Africa), involved almost the entirety of three nations (Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone), including their capitals, and lasted over 2 years.<sup>226</sup> It illustrated that a "perfect storm"<sup>227</sup>—which may not be repeated as such—can turn a limited outbreak into a humanitarian crisis. In any case, it exemplified how grave deficiencies in public trust, national and global leadership, epidemic preparedness, and health systems can have catastrophic health, social, political, and economic consequences.<sup>228</sup> In addition, a legacy of civil war and corrupt dictatorship in the three countries affected made them ill prepared for any catastrophic event, even if they were all on the road to economic and societal recovery.

Delays in detection and response allowed the outbreak to spiral out of control, overwhelm local health systems, and disseminate regionally and globally. Fear of the economic and political consequences of declaring a public health emergency of international concern by WHO further delayed the response. Actions such as halting international flights and travel restrictions, clear violations of the International Health Regulations (IHR),<sup>229</sup> had a punitive impact on the affected countries and could be seen as a major disincentive for openness about future epidemics. Countries must be supported to declare public health threats early, so as to ensure timely mobilisation of international resources for containment, both in the affected country, and in countries at risk of importation.

Poor infection control practices and a lack of resources increased the risk of health-care worker infection and death (over 500 health-care workers were killed by Ebola in West Africa)<sup>226</sup> further depleting the already scarce workforce.<sup>230</sup> Health facilities became a source of transmission for the virus.<sup>231</sup> Consequently, uptake of routine services declined due to fear of contagion,<sup>232</sup> with expected increases in non-Ebola related morbidity and mortality likely to exceed the direct effects.

Community distrust and resistance severely hampered control efforts, thus illustrating the importance of community engagement in the design and delivery of disease control programmes.

Early engagement of communities and civil society organisations is a critical component of any effective public health response and should be done as a matter of routine.<sup>233,234</sup> Such community action and "people science" played a major role in several areas to control the epidemic.<sup>235</sup>

On a positive note, just as in the AIDS epidemic in Africa, for the first time during an outbreak of haemorrhagic fever, research was conducted successfully on vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics, and social behaviour.<sup>236</sup> To address the need to provide incentives for the development of vaccines where there is market failure, a public-private partnership called the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations was launched to finance research on vaccines against diseases with epidemic potential. <sup>237</sup> Although the conduct of research during this epidemic set an important precedent for incorporating more pro-active clinical, epidemiological, and social science research in future outbreaks, it is sobering to reflect on the number of unanswered questions on critical topics such as: the best approach to supportive care, the long-term consequences, the potential for endemicity, and the virus reservoir.

Examples such as the African Vaccine Regulatory Forum, which expedited the regulatory review of Ebola candidate vaccines,<sup>238</sup> demonstrate the importance and utility of regional collaboration in mobilising resources and technical expertise, and in supporting public health systems. Countries such as the DR Congo and Uganda have extensive experience in promptly and successfully responding to outbreaks of Ebola and Marburg virus infections, and their experience should be capitalised on more.<sup>239</sup> Similarly, it will be important to learn from attempts to control a recent yellow fever outbreak in Central Africa<sup>240</sup> and from responses to the re-emergence of wild poliovirus in northern Nigeria.<sup>241</sup>

In addition to robust public health systems, strong national leadership at the highest levels is critical to respond effectively to epidemic threats. In Senegal, the resolute leadership of the government was effective in limiting the spread of Ebola from an imported case. In Nigeria, the emergency operations centre established for polio eradication, as well as the availability of a sufficient number of trained public health staff experienced in its operation, enabled rapid containment and elimination of the Ebola virus.<sup>225</sup>

It is notable that both Sierra Leone and Guinea suffered from a large-scale cholera outbreak in 2012. In Sierra Leone, the outbreak lasted almost one year, affected almost 23 000 people across 12 of the country's 13 districts, and was declared a humanitarian emergency by the President.<sup>242,243</sup> Although cholera differs substantively from Ebola, the epidemic response was in some ways similar, involving the establishment of an emergency operations centre, and enhanced processes for outbreak management, surveillance, data management, community mobilisation, behaviour change, and treatment.<sup>243</sup> Yet it is questionable whether this capacity was sustained and available in country at the time of the Ebola outbreak. Despite clear heterogeneity in the risk of viral haemorrhagic fever and other epidemics across the continent,<sup>244,245</sup> it is highly likely that such epidemics will occur again in Africa, in addition to pandemics such as influenza.

#### Current public health capacity in sub-Saharan Africa

According to WHO, many African countries lack adequate, functioning, and resilient public health systems. Like health systems in general, they are often fragmented and under-resourced, and often

have a disease-specific focus, with multiple systems running in parallel.<sup>246</sup> Many countries lack the capacity for timely surveillance, preparedness, and response to public health emergencies, and have yet to fully develop the required core capacities as stipulated by the IHR. In the 2013 IHR report, data on compliance with the regulations are missing for almost 25% of African countries, and compliance is less than 70% across all indicators for those countries self reporting data, probably providing an optimistic picture of the realities on the ground.<sup>247</sup>

The delivery of an effective public health service is dependent upon adequate public health infrastructure, a competent workforce, and core health promotion, epidemiological, surveillance, and laboratory capacity. Of 47 countries in the WHO African region, only 17 have designated national institutes of public health,<sup>248</sup> and fewer than 400 laboratories are accredited to international standards, of which 90% are in South Africa.<sup>249</sup> Almost half of all countries lack basic capacity for public health workforce training and development, only 23 countries offer postgraduate public health education, and only 18 offer field epidemiology and laboratory training programmes.<sup>250</sup>

Health promotion to address risk behaviours for ill-health is an important but under-resourced component of public health systems in the region. In the past 10 years, WHO AFRO has assisted 28 countries in developing national health promotion policies and strategic plans.<sup>251</sup> Challenges to the implementation of effective health promotion include: inadequate leadership; disengagement of community groups, civil society, academia, and regulatory and legislative organisations; a lack of skilled practitioners at the community level; a lack of financing; and a lack of evaluation of interventions.<sup>251</sup>

Many sub-Saharan countries lack adequate information systems to support public health. An assessment of civil registration and vital statistics systems indicated that 16 of 47 countries had very low quality systems and no data were available for a further 28 countries.<sup>252</sup> In the absence of such systems, alternative approaches to the acquisition and reporting of valuable population level health data have been developed, despite limited resources. Examples include: retrospective household surveys, such as demographic and health surveys, multiple indicator cluster surveys, and the health and demographic surveillance systems (HDSS).

Routine disease surveillance is largely implemented through the integrated disease surveillance and response (IDSR) system (currently in 43 sub-Saharan countries).<sup>224,246</sup> Unfortunately, implementation has been limited by a number of systemic challenges.<sup>246</sup> For instance, systems suffer from a lack of core funding for basic resources such as laboratories, communication systems, and transport, and for their day-to-day operation.<sup>246</sup> There are severe shortages of basic equipment,<sup>253</sup> trained surveillance staff, epidemiologists, and laboratory staff.<sup>224,249</sup> Surveillance systems frequently exclude private health-care providers, despite the fact that a substantive and increasing proportion of health care in Africa is delivered privately.<sup>246</sup> Community-based surveillance is lacking, and surveillance systems are primarily passive.<sup>246</sup> Laboratory data are under-utilised to inform surveillance,<sup>246</sup> the quality of testing performed is frequently unacceptable, and data on antimicrobial resistance is scarce.<sup>253</sup>

Coordination across different elements of the system is generally poor and there is rarely any evaluation of the system, nor are data collected to facilitate such an evaluation.<sup>246</sup> Furthermore information technology is underutilised for the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data.<sup>246</sup>

Systems mostly focus on human diseases, despite the large burden of emerging infections caused by zoonotic and vector-borne pathogens.<sup>246,254</sup> Current surveillance systems generally exclude chronic conditions, maternal and child health, and environmental risks,<sup>224,246</sup> thus impeding effective planning, management, and development of interventions to address these problems.

#### Strengthening public health systems in Africa

Generally and throughout the world, far less attention and fewer resources are devoted to population health and disease prevention than to clinical care, even if many preventive interventions have been shown to be highly cost-effective and beneficial.<sup>255</sup> To achieve the Commission's vision and the health-related SDG targets listed in table 3, sub-Saharan countries will have to invest significantly more in developing effective public health systems, including developing the requisite IHR core capacities, which is a matter of priority.

Effective models for public health system development in SSA, such as the IDSR, do exist. An assessment of existing public health systems capacity should be undertaken by each country to identify gaps and needs for systems development and improvement, and these gaps and needs should be systematically addressed within a broader programme of health system strengthening.<sup>224,256</sup>

Disease specific programmes may provide opportunities to evolve into a broader public health focus, but this intent will need to become a core goal of such programmes as the risk exists that they are disconnected from the broader health agenda. For example, funding from PEPFAR was used for multi-disease laboratory system strengthening.<sup>224</sup> The upcoming end of the polio eradication programme provides an opportunity to repurpose and transfer its infrastructure and capacity to the general public health system.<sup>257</sup> Capacity developed to prepare and respond to the Ebola epidemic in both affected and non-affected countries, such as community event based surveillance systems, could also be used as a foundation for public health system development.<sup>258</sup>

Given the weakness of public health systems, the lack of critical mass in many countries, and the potential for infectious disease threats to cross borders, there is much to be gained from more proactive sharing of data as well as regional and international technical expertise. Pooling resources among countries and adopting common regional standards and approaches for training, disease surveillance, emergency response, governance and regulatory procedures, and research and development would benefit countries and the region as a whole.

Numerous initiatives are underway to strengthen capacity across the region (table 7). These collaborations can help to address specific gaps in public health infrastructure and capacity through training and development and are particularly useful for infectious disease outbreaks.<sup>259</sup> Political and economic regional alliances such as the AU and Economic Community of West African States can greatly help in removing political and economic barriers to resource mobilisation and in fostering cooperation between member states, and were active in the Ebola response in West Africa.<sup>258</sup>

Most important for Africa's epidemic preparedness is the recent launch of the Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention by the AU under the leadership of John Nkengasong with subregional hubs, and of centres of surveillance and disease control by the West African Health Organisation, are as is the establishment of WHO's African Public Health Emergency Fund<sup>260</sup> to

support national efforts to respond to public health emergencies. Engagement of global partners, such as philanthropic organisations, NGOs, and technical organisations, is also critical for system development and mobilising technical experts in public health emergencies as exemplified by the work of the WHO Global Outbreak Alert and Response Network.<sup>259</sup> Some countries like Nigeria, Senegal, and the three countries most affected by Ebola are consolidating or building national centres for epidemic preparedness and response. As these are all in their infancy, much will depend on the support and commitment from the AU and WHO and its member states.

#### Table 7: Selected initiatives for public health capacity building in Africa

The Ebola crisis in West Africa has clearly demonstrated the value of even rudimentary public health systems in the detection of, response to, and management of public health emergencies. Sub-Saharan countries need to invest significantly more in developing robust and resilient public health systems, not only for preparedness, but also for preventing chronic diseases, improving health in general, and decreasing the burden on expensive health-care services and hospitals. Above all, current efforts to ensure UHC in Africa must include a strong and protected population health and disease prevention agenda.

# SECTION 8. A HEALTH WORKFORCE COMMENSURATE WITH AFRICA'S HEALTH NEEDS

It is widely recognised that all cadres of health workers in SSA are in extremely short supply, particularly in rural areas. Of the 57 countries with a health workforce shortage in 2006, 36 were in SSA.<sup>261</sup> Since then, several African and global reports and declarations have documented the extent and impact of the shortages and proposed solutions, including scaling up and transforming the education and training of health workers.<sup>131,262-265</sup> Many African countries are implementing national human resources for health plans, and there has been progress. However, as figure 13 shows, Africa still lags far behind other WHO regions. We hope that the recommendations from the High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth, chaired by the Presidents of France and South Africa, and the global strategy on human resources for health<sup>49,266</sup> adopted by the Wold Health Assembly in 2016, will catalyse action. We also support the refreshing perspective of Mandeville et al stating that "after a decade of advocacy with limited success, it is time to move out of the crisis mode and towards sustainable solutions" and calling for "long-term local responses aligned with available evidence and resources".<sup>267</sup>

#### Figure 13: Health workforce to population ratios, by WHO region

Health workforce shortages vary widely among and within African countries. For example, the number of physicians per 10 000 population ranges from as low as 0.1 in Liberia, and 0.8 in Cameroon and Mali, to 4.1 in Nigeria, 7.8 in South Africa, and 10.7 in the Seychelles (table 1). The disparities are similar for nursing and midwifery personnel: with the exception of Gabon and South Africa, countries have less than 50 nurses per 10 000 population<sup>268</sup> with ratios ranging from 1.4 in Niger, to 8.6 in Kenya, to 33.5 in Botswana.<sup>269</sup> In addition, urban/rural and public/private maldistribution of health workers is a huge problem across SSA. According to an International Labour

Organisation (ILO) report, an estimated 77% of the rural population in Africa went without access to health-care services in 2015 due to health worker shortages (compared with 50% of people in urban areas).<sup>270</sup> This shortage is compounded by a high level of absenteeism of health workers from public facilities in SSA, for example, Uganda (52%) and Kenya (29%), with the highest absence rate in larger urban health centres for the latter.<sup>114,271,272</sup>

Two examples highlight the multiple reasons behind the maldistribution of physicians within countries. A study in Togo<sup>273</sup> found that of 890 trained doctors, 250 migrated, 20 retired, 20 were unemployed, 200 had full-time employment in the private sector and were concentrated in the capital city where 20% of the population live, and 400 worked full-time in the public sector. Only 150 public sector doctors worked in rural areas where 80% of the population lives.<sup>273</sup> Figure 14 from the Sub-Saharan Medical School Study<sup>274</sup> shows where doctors were 5 years after graduation.

#### Figure 14: Where are doctors 5 years after graduating from a medical school in sub-Saharan Africa

Business-as-usual projections are dire. Using ILO's proposed threshold of 3.45 health professionals per 1000 population, one analysis<sup>275</sup> put the health worker deficit in SSA at 2 103 770 in 2012, rising to 3 757 522 in 2030. This means a 10.21% average annual growth rate is required to meet the need for physicians, nurses, and midwives by 2030.<sup>275</sup> Few African countries are currently on this growth trajectory. A study looking at current and projected density of health workers in selected countries estimated the following increases would be required to meet the 3.45 per 1000 threshold by 2035: 2100% in Ethiopia; 386% in Ghana; 528% in Kenya; 1864% in Mozambique; 1307% in Senegal; and 383% in Sudan.<sup>276</sup> The authors concluded that the feasibility of achieving these thresholds was "least likely".

These and other estimates show that even with massive investment—and time—many African countries will struggle to produce, employ, and retain the health workers needed to achieve UHC and the other health-related SDG targets.<sup>71,277</sup> In some countries it will be decades before the minimum thresholds are reached. Therefore, much more investment is needed in pre-service education and training to increase the supply of all types of health workers, including less familiar cadres that are relatively quick to train and able to meet local health needs.<sup>49,267</sup> It is clear that the health outcomes promoted by this Commission cannot be achieved without improving the working environment of health-care workers in rural areas and developing new approaches to health service delivery that are not centred exclusively around physicians and nurses.<sup>267</sup> For example, the more the private sector integrates the SDGs in their business models, the more they may bring workforces that can be useful, especially for health promotion. Brands can talk about nutrition, hygiene, and water saving, and can help bring resources that did not exist in the health sector.

The High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth's recommendations included shifting education models "away from narrow specialisations to focus on lifelong building of locally relevant competencies", relaxing unnecessary barriers to entry, and attracting young people to careers in the health sector.<sup>49</sup> At the same time, task shifting, task sharing, and alternative modes of delivering health care that make optimal use of the available workforce, including clinical officers, community health workers (CHWs), pharmacy assistants, chemists, and informal health-care providers, must urgently be pursued. The attainment of UHC and improvement in health care can be

accelerated by sustained political commitment and leadership to match population health needs with a health workforce that is fit for purpose and fit to practice.<sup>278</sup>

However this approach should not be at the expense of training higher level types of personnel because they are required to plan for the health system, and provide much needed leadership, guidance, support, and supervision of less trained health workers.

Amidst the pressing demands for the health service providers in SSA, researchers and research managers and administrators are almost always forgotten. The need to invest in these essential health workforce cadres is discussed in more detail in Section 9.

All health workers need to be supported, able to work (and live) in decent environments, and earn decent salaries, a much neglected aspect of the workforce literature, especially in the African context. A carefully considered package of financial incentives (e.g. hardship allowances) and non-financial incentives (e.g. enhanced scopes of practice) are required to better support health workers and reduce attrition among those employed in remote and rural areas.<sup>279</sup>

#### Health workforce education capacity

The number of health workforce training institutions is rapidly increasing in SSA, though quality is highly variable.<sup>264</sup> For example, the Sub-Saharan Medical School Study found a rapid expansion of medical schools between 1990 and 2009: 58 responding schools opened since 1990, and 43 of 168 medical schools in 2009 were private institutions (for profit and non-profit, including faith-based).<sup>274</sup> However, among sub-Saharan countries with populations of 2 million or more, 1 had no medical school and 14 had only one medical school.<sup>274</sup>

A study in Kenya found the annual student enrolment in nurse training to have doubled between 1999 and 2010.<sup>280</sup> The number of training places for family medicine specialists in Africa has also increased through initiatives such as the Primary Care and Family Medicine Education Network,<sup>281</sup> a South-South collaboration. The Government of Ethiopia pursued a rapid workforce scale-up by mandating increases in class sizes in medical schools while investing in physical infrastructure including a new teaching hospital. First-year enrolment in one medical school rose from 250 in 2009 to 400 in 2013.<sup>282</sup> In Tanzania, government loans and grants have helped more students take up the increasing numbers of private training places since 2010. Innovation in curricula such as the community- and field-based training programmes in Malawi expose students to locally relevant health and health-related managerial issues and prepare them to serve those most in need in their communities.<sup>274</sup> These training programmes and the health science institutions that host them demonstrate their social accountability as described in the Global Consensus on Social Accountability for Medical Schools by aligning their training programmes and curricula with pressing local health needs and anticipated health priorities.<sup>283</sup>

However, up-to-date data are needed to enable comprehensive assessments of trends in training facilities and programmes for doctors, nurses, midwives, dentists, and other types of health workers in SSA.

Insufficient numbers of qualified teachers, poor infrastructure, and inadequate coordination between ministries of education and health were amongst the most significant deficiencies

identified by the authors of the Sub-Saharan Medical School Study. The authors made ten recommendations to promote and improve medical education and population health in SSA including: launching campaigns to develop capacity of medical school faculties; increasing investment in medical education infrastructure; promoting inter-ministerial collaboration for medical education; and promoting community oriented education based on principles of primary health care.<sup>274</sup>

To ensure effective approaches to health workforce development, it is important that SSA educational institutions increase their capacity in the disciplines of medical and other health professional education. Examples include the US-funded Medical Education Partnership Initiative (MEPI) and the Foundation for Advancement of International Medical Education and Research (FAIMER), both of which supported capacity development in this direction. The Nursing Education Partnership Initiative (NEPI) has formed partnerships with governments and key stakeholders to address the chronic underinvestment of pre-service nursing and midwifery education.<sup>274</sup> But this is only a beginning and much more needs to be done.

There is great value in African medical and other health professional schools collaborating within and across countries on issues such as educational standards, curriculum development, common exams, and capacity building. This approach enhances the quality of their outputs and increases the relevance of their work. For example, MEPI has supported the Medical Education for Equitable Services for All Ugandans Consortium, which is helping training institutions address their challenges and needs in medical education by sharing resources, ideas, and innovations.<sup>284,285</sup> In West Africa, the existence of several colleges including of surgeons, physicians, nurses, and pharmacists have successfully established a standardised curriculum for all these specialities. Recently, with help from the Royal College of Physicians, London, an East African College of Physicians has been established.

Given the ongoing harmonisation of training curricula by sub-regional health organisations and assuming quality standards are harmonised across training institutes, the expansion of health professional schools is an encouraging sign in relation to the needs that SSA currently faces and will face in the coming years. At the same time, there is also a need to establish or strengthen transparent regulatory processes and professional accreditation mechanisms, and to enforce them.

#### Innovation is key

Distance learning (both "e-learning" and mobile learning) is one way to increase student intake and strengthen pre-service and in-service education and training. In Ethiopia, for example, a mobile phone app has been developed for the official upgrade training programme for Health Extension Workers. Findings from a recent systematic review of studies mostly from high-income countries showed that students acquire knowledge and skills through e-learning as well as or better than they do through traditional teaching.<sup>286</sup> The authors concluded that e-learning has an "under-exploited potential to support health workforce capacity building in different contexts, and can empower health workers to take charge directly of their own competency development".<sup>286</sup> However, this will require a major investment in courses that are fully adapted to the realities of working in various African contexts. Furthermore, clinical skills acquired through interactions with patients cannot be completely substituted by distance learning.

Innovative approaches to educating and training health personnel with competencies that correspond to local needs and who are more likely to work in rural and underserved areas can be found across SSA. Rural placement is increasingly part of the curricula for different cadres of health workers. For example, at Makerere Medical School in Uganda the medical, nursing, pharmacy, and dental curriculum revolves around innovative student-centred learning that includes a 2-3 month annual compulsory placement in rural communities. In addition, the Master of Public Health is based on the "School of Public Health Without Walls" concept whereby students learn as they work with district level managers and practitioners to identify and solve health issues in real time.<sup>287</sup>

Targeted admission policies to increase enrolment of students from rural areas, scholarship schemes aimed at disadvantaged rural students, and locating health professional schools outside of the capital are among the approaches being used to address the urban/rural maldistribution.<sup>279</sup>

The engagement of less costly to train and employ clinical officers (also known as accelerated medically trained clinicians) has traditionally been a feature of health services in many countries on the continent (see panel 5 for examples). It is vital that these cadres are valued in the health system, and complement traditional health professionals.<sup>288</sup> A systematic review showed that with the right approaches, mid-level health workers provide effective care.<sup>289</sup> The right approach is the same as for all health-care professionals and other health workers: formal guidelines for education and training, registration, licensing, practice regulated by a national authority, appropriate supervision, and continuing professional development. However, in much of SSA these different components of the right approach do not exist at all or are not well implemented for these lower level health or allied health workers.

#### Panel 5: Accelerated medically trained clinicians in sub-Saharan Africa, selected examples

CHWs may also improve access to and affordability of health services, though there has been little formal evaluation and results have been mixed. CHWs who provide basic primary care, modern contraceptives, and advice on healthy lifestyles, HIV testing and care, nutrition, water, sanitation, and hygiene—all of which are traditionally delivered by nurses, health visitors, or environmental health officers—have been part of various health programmes in SSA for many years.<sup>290</sup> Examples include Mozambique's Agentes Polivalentes Elementares Programme and Uganda's Village Health Teams. Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme (HEP) was introduced to provide a package of quality health services at the community level.<sup>291</sup> This set of health interventions included basic and essential preventive and curative services to reach all households, with a particular focus on mothers and children. 35 000 Health Extension Workers—women 18 years of age or older with at least grade 10 secondary education, and selected by the community in which they live—received one year of training and then were deployed to provide these services to households and to train voluntary CHWs to assist them. As part of the HEP Ethiopia also began training Health Officers on a mass scale in 2004 and there are now more than 5000 in service, mostly working in rural health centres.

A growing body of evidence confirms that CHWs can improve health and nutrition outcomes and provide a vital link between communities and health and social services.<sup>292</sup> However, the performance of interventions and programmes is greatly influenced by numerous contextual factors, an area that requires further study.<sup>293</sup> It is important to distinguish between community members who volunteer for a few hours a week and full-time CHWs. All CHWs need adequate training,

certification, and supervision; full-time CHWs should be remunerated, have opportunities for career advancement, and be formally recognised as part of the health system.<sup>292</sup>

In summary, each sub-Saharan country needs a health workforce strategy (based on national data) that will lead to the right quantity and quality of health workers, and the appropriate mix of different cadres of health workers, that are fit-for-purpose to work in rural and urban environments and can be retained within their boundaries or regions. This involves a considerable amount of forecasting (e.g. future population needs, economic growth etc.) Countries need to develop capacities over time to be able to do this but initially need support from the international community. The planning and implementation of national health workforce strategies should involve ministries of education, health, finance, labour, and public service, local governments, the private sector, and civil society organisations. Finally, the place and importance of research should be elevated. Research is vital to: inform what kind of health workforce a country should pursue; to develop innovative approaches to education, recruitment, and retention; to evaluate performance against set targets; and to determine whether both pre-service and in-service education are producing health workers with the right competencies to meet people's health needs.

### SECTION 9. RESEARCH AND HIGHER EDUCATION: KEY DRIVERS OF BETTER HEALTH AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Higher education is not only at the centre of nation building processes, it is also vital for health workforce development and informing policy and action on health. All health professionals should have opportunities for higher education and research as part of their career paths. Within Africa's "youth bulge" are the next generation of health professionals, researchers, and entrepreneurs who will help solve some of the continent's greatest health and development challenges. Taking advantage of this opportunity will require increasing the number of secondary school graduates, increased investment in higher education and research, and more attention to quality. Sub-Saharan countries that fail in these areas face a high risk of not becoming competitive on a global scale.

There are some positive signs. A growing number of African-based institutions are advocating change, including African universities themselves, the AU, the African Academy of Sciences, and the Planet Earth Institute, an Angola-based international NGO working for scientific independence for Africa. Fifteen universities from eight countries have formed the African Research Universities Alliance, with the aim of strengthening research and post-graduate training in Africa. The first African Higher Education Summit on Revitalizing Higher Education for Africa's Future held in Dakar, Senegal in 2015 produced a detailed action plan to expand, transform, and increase investment in higher education and ensure African universities become engines of socio-economic growth and development.<sup>294</sup> A key concern is the low number of qualified instructors and the potential effect on education quality.

#### Health research in Africa today

Research for health spans multiple disciplines from biomedicine to epidemiology, to physical sciences, to social sciences. Research provides the evidence base for national policies that impact on

health, directly (e.g. clinical research and health systems research) or indirectly (e.g. research on the health impact of climate change, and of agriculture and food policies). Because of the importance of context in promoting health and delivering health services, local research is the main way to identify challenges, set priorities, devise solutions, and make the best use of limited resources. Local research is also needed to understand and address the health priorities, service problems, and socio-cultural issues of vulnerable groups.<sup>109,295</sup>

Although Africa is starting from a very low base there are glimmers of hope that research will be one of the drivers of the region's progress towards better health and sustainable development, as envisaged in WHO AFRO's 10-year research for health strategy<sup>296</sup> and the AU's 10-year Science, Technology and Innovation Strategy for Africa.<sup>297</sup> A bibliometric analysis of PubMed articles from the WHO African Region published between 2000 and 2014 found the number of publications increased from 3623 in 2000 to 12 709 in 2014.<sup>298</sup> This is a relative growth of 251% as compared to 96% globally. However, Africa only accounts for 2.4% of the world's output of scientific papers and most of this output is from South African universities.<sup>299</sup>

Part of the problem is Africa's critical shortage of researchers—there are about 80 researchers per million people compared with a global average of 1081—and a lack of reasonably paid career paths. Another challenge is that a large percentage of researchers spend less than 2 years in African institutions.<sup>300</sup>

Financial support for science in Africa varies widely, with countries contributing between 0.01% of GDP (Lesotho) and 0.89% (South Africa) per annum between 2007 and 2014.<sup>21</sup> Almost all political commitments to increase investments in research have yet to be honoured by most African governments.<sup>301-304</sup> As a result, gross domestic spending on R&D as a percentage of GDP in sub-Saharan countries is among the lowest in the world. Some are on par with Latin American countries (e.g. 0.38% in Chile, 0.54% in Mexico, and 0.61% in Argentina), but all countries invest far less than Asian countries (e.g. 4.29% in South Korea, 2.19% in Singapore, and 2.05% in China). The world average is 2.12%.<sup>21</sup>

Lessons can perhaps be learnt from southeast Asian countries' experience in increasing spending on R&D, especially given that they were low-income countries at the time African nations gained independence: for example, in 1965 South Korea's GDP per capita (US\$ 105 in 2016's value) was lower than that of Senegal (US\$ 262).<sup>21</sup> Strong government leadership in expanding all levels of education and building research capacity, particularly in the STEM fields (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics), has been prominent in South Korea since the end of World War II and in China since Deng Xiaoping's Open Door Policy from the late 1970s. Similarly, strong leadership adapted to African countries' realities is essential if African research institutes and universities are to become research engines contributing to national development. Effectively harnessing the energy and aspirations of Africa's youth has enormous potential to enable rapid acceleration.

One major constraint is that the power relations in terms of setting the research agenda are still very uneven. Most research in Africa is still conceived outside of Africa and published by non-Africans.<sup>298</sup> This imbalance needs to shift. Leadership on Africa's health, scientific, and development challenges must come from Africans in close collaboration with the global research community. The African diaspora could play a part in enabling such a power shift and reversing the 'brain drain' into 'brain

circulation'. For example, initiatives such as the Alumni Diaspora Programme by the University of Witwatersrand has demonstrated the potential of capitalising some of the intellectual capacity lost to migration by fostering international collaborations between medical and health sciences alumni with current faculties in SSA to strengthen local research capacity.<sup>305</sup>

National research agendas with clearly formulated aims, national health research systems, and networks of regional research institutions and centres of excellence all deserve more support.

Some countries are leading the way. For example, the National Health Research Committee of South Africa has, in consultation with stakeholders, has developed a set of strategic priorities to be implemented by 2020.<sup>306</sup> Ghana, Kenya, Rwanda, Senegal, and Tanzania, among others, have taken a similar approach to developing national health research agendas and defining research priorities. However, according to WHO AFRO, 23 out of 47 countries lack a functional health research system and 24 out of 47 have no health research policy; even in countries with a research strategy investments remain very low.

All countries need a 10–20 year strategic plan for national health research, coupled with a financing strategy, as well as advocacy for creating and strengthening ministries or departments of research/science and technology that are responsible for all areas of research. WHO AFRO's research for health strategy 2016–2025<sup>296</sup> offers a template for countries to create an enabling environment for research: governance (plans, priorities, legal frameworks, regulations, ethics), building and sustaining research capacities (researchers and institutions), producing high-quality research, translating research findings into policy and practice, financing, coordinating, and tracking investments. The strategy has broad support from members of this Commission.

#### The need for investment in health research and institutional strengthening

At an AU Summit in Algiers in 2008, African governments agreed to increase R&D funding to at least 1% of GDP and to "allocate at least 2% of national health expenditure and at least 5% of external aid for health projects and programmes to research and research capacity building and to invest more in research aimed at improving health systems".<sup>301</sup> Governments need to set targets for progressive increases in R&D investment and also to create national research funds (e.g. South Africa and, more recently, Kenya). Data from South Africa show that increased funding and funding mechanisms can lead to a rapid rise in research output: gross expenditures on R&D rose from around US\$ 2 billion in 2001 to \$4.3 billion in 2008 and the number of publications doubled from around 4500 to 9000.<sup>299</sup>

In relation to strengthening research capacity, institutional arrangements must be in place to bring together a critical mass of skilled individuals across disciplines working together. There are two main models: part of a university and specific research institutions. The latter should be closely linked with higher education as it supports excellence in teaching and will attract young people into research. Those chosen to lead these centres must be selected based on their merit and their competencies (i.e. not political appointments), and be accountable to a board of directors.

Providing better research opportunities and improving the supporting culture will encourage more of the best African researchers to stay in their respective countries. At present, many researchers find institutions in Europe and North America more attractive places to work. Joint PhD programmes where students spend most of the time in an African university with a stay in a non-African university are beneficial. Expanding post-doctoral programmes on the continent is key to raising the quality of higher education and developing early stage researchers so that they have the opportunity to grow into scientific leaders who can identify and advance local research agendas. Paid post-doctoral positions are necessary stepping stones for researchers' career progression from PhDs to scientists winning international competitive grants, being principal investigators, and doing world-class health research in Africa—for Africa.

Going forward it will be important to develop expertise in knowledge translation in order to strengthen links between researchers and policymakers and increase the uptake of research results.<sup>307-310</sup>

Whereas international agencies are increasingly investing in research in Africa, they rarely provide core funding to strengthen institutions involved in such research. In addition, caps on overheads by some western research funders for African research institutions limit institutional development. It is now imperative that external funders support strengthening of higher education capacity in SSA as part of their development agenda. There is some encouraging progress on this front. For example, the World Bank's Africa Higher Education Centers of Excellence Project<sup>311</sup> has been supporting universities in Western, Eastern and Southern Africa. The US PEPFAR and NIH's MEPI initiative is strengthening research capacity in African medical schools by twinning them with American universities. The European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP) supports phase II and III clinical trials of new or improved vaccines, treatments, and diagnostics for HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and other prevalent infectious diseases in SSA. The UK's Wellcome Trust supports individuals as part of its long-standing programmes on medical research capacity building. The DELTAS programme, funded by Wellcome Trust and the UK's Department for International Development and managed by the African Academy of Sciences based Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Science in Africa (AESA), aims to establish world-class research environments at African universities while focusing on creating training opportunities for the next generation of African research leaders.<sup>312</sup>

#### **Research collaborations and networks**

Africa's research transformation will only happen through investment, collaboration, and partnerships. In 2012, 79% of all research in East Africa, 70% in Southern Africa outside South Africa, and 45% in West and Central Africa and South Africa was produced through international collaborations.<sup>299</sup> It is striking that collaboration by African-based institutions on African health issues is overwhelmingly with non-African institutions, rather than with other African countries. Some exceptions include the Africa-led research networks on tuberculous pericarditis and rheumatic heart disease, which have linked multiple African and other global institutions to combat poverty-related heart diseases.<sup>313,314</sup>

National Science Academies around the world, especially in high-income countries, are contributing to advancing health in an unbiased manner and could play a similar role in Africa in the coming decades. Already there are 23 academies, which are united through the Network of African Science Academies. This and other African research networks should be nurtured and supported, including, where appropriate, by fostering collaboration across industry, academia, national medical regulatory agencies, laboratories, and hospitals.

Research partnerships between African and non-African universities are rich opportunities for mutual gains and bringing together complementary resources. One of their greatest merits is that they motivate young African researchers to remain in their countries. However, at present many international research collaborations outside South Africa are characterised by a power imbalance due to the African partner's limited institutional capacity and very unequal resources.<sup>298</sup>

International partnerships should be reshaped around two principles: mutual agenda setting and benefit, and equality in decision making between partners (see panel 6 for what makes a successful collaboration). Overseas partners could do more to foster accountability and to promote leading roles for African institutions in such collaborations; African partners need a greater sense of ownership and the ability to initiate action. Improving country capacity should be a primary purpose of any research partnership or collaboration.

#### Panel 6: What makes a successful research collaboration

Although inter-Africa collaborations (without South Africa) around higher education and research are getting stronger, they account for less than 3% of Africa's total research output and depend largely on personal relationships. More formal institutional arrangements and agreements are necessary. The WHO Regional Office for Africa, the AU, and the four sub-regional political entities all have roles to play in fostering long-term, sustainable collaborations including strengthening regional networks of centres of excellence, coordinating research within the region, actively building research to policy and practice links, and funding research.<sup>296</sup>

In conclusion, higher education and research are critical for planning, monitoring, and evaluating a country's health system and moving forward the quality and quantity of health services and hence central to addressing inequities. Research gives important evidence that should be used to inform health services, policies and practice as one approach to improving health outcomes. Both African governments and international donors must increase their support for higher education institution building as part of a long-term development and anti-poverty agenda.

### SECTION 10: EMBRACING INNOVATION

Innovative tools and approaches can greatly reduce the managerial, geographic, and financial barriers standing in the way of improving health in SSA.<sup>315</sup> Innovation is essential to all of our 12 strategic options and to achieving the health-related SDGs, especially since it is highly unlikely that sufficient health professionals can be trained for many decades. It is reasonable to hope for "leapfrogging" in health, and for SSA to industrialise new approaches ahead of the rest of the world.

Innovations in health should cover development of new services (prevention and treatment), new ways of working, and new technologies to achieve improved health, reduced illness, improved value for services (efficiency and cost-effectiveness), and improved coverage and quality.

Despite the potential of technological innovation to transform health outcomes, it also poses a number of challenges. First, the uncontrolled proliferation in the use of technologies such as ICT, e-health, and m-health to improve health service delivery makes it difficult to assess their usefulness

and effectiveness.<sup>315,316</sup> There are some 40 000 mobile health apps, hundreds of platforms aimed at improving health-care communications and coordination, and new types of medical sensors or wearable devices making headlines every week.<sup>316</sup> Second, there are significant barriers to the adoption of such technologies, including a dearth of evidence of their impact on cost and outcomes, and a lack of collaboration between health providers and technologists in product development.<sup>316</sup> Third, there is a lack of standardisation, regulation, and coordination in the use of innovation within health systems.

The following are examples of innovations that may be particularly useful for African countries.

#### Improved access

- Extending geographical and population access to services and prevention programmes through the use of non-traditional outlets, such as private chemists in Ghana screening for hypertension (panel 7), and through mobile phones, the radio, and telemedicine.
- Providing patients and communities with easier access to information about their health, their rights, and the health system, including through social marketing and social media.
- Introducing health insurance cards, particularly for the poor, to increase effective coverage and raise awareness about the benefits and entitlements of health insurance.

#### Improved tools

- More effective preventive technologies, such as new and more stable vaccines, simpler immunisation devices, and more effective cold chains and circumcision devices.
- Improving diagnosis at various levels of the health system through the use of rapid and simple point-of-care tests (e.g. for malaria and HIV viral load) and portable devices for reading and interpreting diagnostic microscopy.<sup>317</sup>
- Smart phones equipped with special devices (e.g. "PEEK" for eye examination<sup>6</sup>, CardioPad for cardiac monitoring<sup>318</sup>) and miniaturised ultrasound and other imaging.
- Wearables and apps to promote healthy living and behaviour (e.g. Solar Ear, solar-powered digital hearing aid unit<sup>319</sup>).

#### Better quality of services

- Improving decision making, resource allocation, and monitoring and evaluation of health services through web-based health information and data management systems, particularly at facility and district level.<sup>320</sup>
- Improving efficiency of distribution of essential medicines and family planning commodities in lower level health facilities (e.g. Kenya's Mobile Inventory Management System).
- Strengthening patient adherence to antiretroviral therapy and treatment for diabetes and other chronic conditions through patient clubs and mobile texting.
- Mitigating fraud and abuse by verifying medical products (e.g. anti-counterfeiting technology, panel 8) and patient identity.

#### Addressing health workforce constraints

- Task shifting and task sharing to increase coverage of essential health services, part of an
  increasing number of national health plans in SSA including Ethiopia, Ghana, Malawi,
  Mozambique, Rwanda, and South Africa (e.g. nurses instead of only physicians for cervical
  cancer screening; nurses and midwives instead of only specialist physicians for basic
  emergency obstetric and newborn care; and CHWs instead of only nurses and midwives for
  HIV counselling and rapid diagnostic testing).
- Training and education of health professionals and continuing professional education through online courses and interactive training programmes (e.g. e-learning and Massive Open Online Courses).
- Supervision and support to staff through the use of tablets at health centres (e.g. pilot projects in Ghana and Tanzania), telemedicine networks to reduce isolation of health-care professionals in remote areas (e.g. RAFT<sup>320</sup>), and mobile phones for CHWs.

Invention is hard but adoption may be even harder; it requires investment. Public and professionals' perception and trust are key for adoption. For example, health professionals may feel threatened by new delivery modes or may feel disempowered by some innovative approaches that bypass classic medical expertise. Therefore, it is as much about delivery of innovation as innovation of delivery.

Panel 7: Innovative integration of private and public services: use of community health nurses and private drug outlets to control hypertension in Ghana

Panel 8: mPedigree: anti-counterfeiting technological innovation

### SECTION 11. SECURING THE FUTURE: AN AGENDA FOR ACTION

Sub-Saharan countries have unprecedented opportunities to dramatically improve health outcomes within a generation, largely with their own resources. The path to longer and healthier lives for all Africans by 2030 that is set out in this report requires strong leadership, adjusted strategies, increased and strategic investment, and more research and innovation at all levels of the health system. New ways to address challenges are needed that are rooted in human rights, guided by scientific evidence, and span health and several non-health sectors. A comprehensive approach and system-wide changes are required—a fragmented health agenda will deliver some results but it will not succeed in strengthening health service delivery and public health systems, and it will not address the determinants of health. Broad partnerships beyond the medical and health community are essential to move the health agenda forward. Without a serious shift in mindsets across all levels of society, all sectors of government, and all institutions, it will be difficult to have meaningful and sustainable change. Africa's young people will be key to bringing about the transformative changes needed to rapidly accelerate efforts to improve health and health equity.

We summarise the actions in sections 3–10 into the following key messages and recommendations.

# **1.** A paradigm shift is needed to deliver better health outcomes through people-centred health systems and universal health coverage.

Current paradigms rely on hospitals and individual care and are unlikely to lead to the achievement of greatly improved health for all Africans. A rapid expansion of new, African-bred approaches to

people-centred health systems focused on prevention, primary care, and public health supported by clinical referral systems and quality tertiary care is required to move to the next stage of better health. UHC should be designed with local values, sustainability, and equity in mind from the onset.

#### Actions

- i. Involve communities and civil society in the design and implementation of people-centred health systems—pay as much attention to keeping people healthy as to treating them when they are sick.
- ii. Use health outcomes to guide policies, management, and funding, and include health outcomes in the evaluation frameworks of policies, services, and providers.
- iii. Ring fence funding for public health as part of UHC, reinvigorate public health training, and strengthen laboratory infrastructure and information systems.
- iv. Accelerate training of all cadres of health professionals with competencies that correspond to the needs of people, pursue alternative modes of delivering health services, and better support the existing health workforce, especially in rural and underserved areas.
- v. Take an integrative approach towards commodity security—start with revising legislation in a way that allows rapid efficiency gains in commodity procurement while working on medium- and long-term measures such as strengthening regulatory capacity and developing domestic manufacturing capability.

#### 2. There are historic, not to be missed opportunities to improve health within the next decade.

Given the region's economic growth and societal changes, and building on the momentum from the beginning of the SDG era, most sub-Saharan countries have an opportunity to bring some traditional health challenges under control and to prevent others from taking hold and having the same devastating impact seen in other regions of the world. Some landmark achievements are within reach.

#### Actions

- i. Eliminate polio and guinea worm.
- ii. Finish the work of achieving the health-related MDGs, an opportunity to make great strides in reducing preventable morbidity and mortality.
- iii. Fully meet demand for family planning and modern contraceptives, an opportunity to slow population growth.
- iv. Fully implement the Framework Convention for Tobacco Control, a one-off chance to prevent an epidemic of tobacco-related diseases in Africa.
- v. Complete the unfinished agendas for controlling HIV, malaria, TB, and diarrhoeal and respiratory diseases.
- vi. Prevent an escalation in the burden of cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes, and mental disorders through a combination of public health and medical interventions, legislation, policy changes, and public education.

# **3.** Achieving good health for all citizens should be a political priority for every sub-Saharan country.

In addition to a better life for people, investing more in health will contribute to economic growth and sustainable development. Good health for all citizens is a central responsibility of the state and its elected bodies, requiring considerable investment of public funds, a legislative framework, and a whole-of-society response. In 21st century Africa there is no place for extreme poverty, huge health inequities, female genital mutilation, child marriage, criminalisation of homosexuality, and other human rights abuses. Accountability requires mechanisms to hold duty-bearers to account, and people need to have the capacity to demand their rights.

#### Actions

- i. Make health a basic right of citizens and improved health outcomes a specific objective of programmes related to poverty alleviation, nutrition, water supply, sanitation, transport, urban planning, climate change, fiscal policies, and the environment.
- ii. Strengthen legal frameworks to enable equitable access to quality health services (including health promotion and disease prevention); and support civil society organisations as health advocates and implementers.
- iii. Strengthen management and technical capacity of the Ministry of Health with accountability frameworks for departments and individuals.
- iv. Harness private sector resources and capabilities in a manner that contributes significantly to equitable and sustainable health systems.

#### 4. Each country needs to chart its own path to improve health outcomes.

Each country needs home-bred solutions, building the required systems based on its own culture while making maximal use of regional and international experiences and evidence, strengthened stewardship of health, and commitment to accountability. All domestic and external resources for health should be aligned to a country's national health strategy, with actions evaluated by specific health outcomes.

#### Actions

- i. Develop and implement a national, multisector strategy to achieve better health outcomes informed by a detailed country-specific financial needs assessment.
- ii. Review existing delivery services, policies, and training to strengthen the path to peoplecentred health systems.
- iii. Invest in ICTs to provide the up-to-date, accurate, and disaggregated data required to inform national and local health policy and planning, and day-to-day management.
- iv. Reshape the relationship with international funders around national priorities and make medium- and long-term plans to gradually reduce dependency on external sources with increasing access to domestic resources, global finance and economy to achieve grand convergence in health
- v. Dedicate resources to strengthening capacity in leadership and governance in health sector institutions, and support empirical research to understand contextual issues such as accountability and corruption.
- vi. In countries in conflict or in fragile situations, preserving health services and essential prevention programmes such as vaccination should be a top priority for those in political and military control, and for humanitarian and other international actors.

#### 5. All governments can and should invest more in health and do more to address inefficiencies.

As the role of domestic financing for health is set to become increasingly prominent, governments need to focus not only on identifying new funding sources, but equally on maintaining steady

progress over time towards increasing the share of pre-paid contributions in total health expenditure and towards prioritising health in domestic budgets. Improving access and outcomes for the poor must remain a priority and requires more effort in identifying (e.g. improve the performance of targeting mechanisms) and reaching these groups (e.g. engage and partner with service providers beyond the public sector). Improving public financial management is the foundation of better health spending and must be complemented with taking a systemic approach to implementing reforms towards reducing fragmentation across health system functions, public sector portfolios, and stakeholders' efforts.

#### Actions

- Sustain and increase government health expenditure, using international targets (e.g. 5% GDP, 15% of government expenditure, and US\$ 86 per capita) as an indication of spending requirements (exact spending levels need to be determined on a country-by-country basis), including the use of dedicated taxes with proven health benefits and revenue generation effects (e.g. tobacco tax).
- ii. Expand publicly pooled pre-paid financing arrangements, ensuring that efficient pooling and coverage for the poor and disadvantaged are present from the outset.
- iii. Improve substantially both health spending performance and health sector efficiencies, including through strategic purchasing practices and service integration wherever possible.
- iv. With an increasing number of countries "graduating" to middle-income status, any eligibility policies to external financing should be informed by health needs relative to country's income and capacity so as to mitigate any risk of losing health gains when external finance decreases.
- v. Strengthen accountability mechanisms and use an explicit legal and operational framework to improve processes that minimise corruption.

#### 6. Closing health equity gaps should be a core concern for policy and action.

All efforts to improve health must explicitly address the crying inequities within countries. Health inequities are greatest among the very poor, people in slums and rural areas, those who are marginalised, and those who live in humanitarian settings and conflict zones.

#### Actions

- i. Measure the success of health policies and programmes in terms of how much they improve health outcomes in geographic areas and population groups with the worst health outcomes.
- ii. Protect all citizens from catastrophic health expenditures, and explicitly account for the equity implications of UHC and any new mechanisms to increase domestic health financing before their implementation.
- iii. Donors and agencies should provide specific support to states in fragile situations to protect population health, targeting the most vulnerable communities, and ensure that humanitarian action includes a proactive health component.

# 7. Investments in higher education and research are essential for better health and sustainable development.

Higher education is vital for developing an adequate and skilled health workforce and increasing health research capacity and should receive a higher priority in national and regional agendas. Because of the importance of context in improving health and delivering health services, local research is necessary to identify challenges, set priorities, devise original solutions, and make the best use of limited resources.

#### Actions

- Develop a 10–20 year national health research strategy coupled with a financing strategy that includes allocating 2% of national health expenditure to research and research capacity building, leverage emerging industry expenditure on R&D, and invest more in research aimed at improving health systems.
- ii. Support medical, nursing, and allied health sciences schools through adequate public financing and ensure public and private schools meet international standards for education and research.
- iii. Invest in internationally-competitive centres of scientific excellence, including by selecting leaders based on their competencies, and expand post-doctoral programmes to raise the quality of higher education and research.
- iv. Expand research and education collaborations, particularly within Africa, and reshape international research partnerships around mutual agenda setting and benefit.
- v. Urge academic institutions in sub-Saharan countries to invest in the development of contextually relevant health sector governance and leadership programmes and coherent and integrated national, sub-regional, and regional strategies.

#### 8. Generating and using innovation will accelerate better health outcomes and reduce inequities.

Capitalising on innovation is key to the future of health in sub-Saharan Africa and can support "leapfrogging" health improvements. There is huge scope for innovative, low-cost, new vaccines, diagnostics, therapies, and IT applications for prevention and care. Also urgently needed are innovations in health professional education, health service delivery, and governance, particularly those using ICTs.

#### Actions

- Use innovation to "leapfrog" approaches ahead of the rest of the world, ensuring technological innovations work with existing infrastructure constraints (e.g. irregular power supply); encourage the weaving of big and small technological innovations, e-health, and mhealth into the service delivery fabric and into health workforce education and training.
- ii. Foster innovative approaches to address health workforce shortages.
- iii. Enforce standards in the private health sector to inspire innovation and tap innovative approaches in the broader corporate sector, such as innovative financing, data driven performance management techniques, and ICT applications to create greater efficiencies in health system performance.
- iv. Use innovative technologies to engage communities and civil society in efforts to improve health outcomes, as well as to deepen capacity for accountability and responsiveness of government agencies and institutions.

#### 9. Stronger regional cooperation will add value to national health efforts.

Pooling resources among sub-Saharan countries and collaborating on issues related to commodity security, surveillance, emergency response, governance, the health workforce, and research and development would benefit population health and the quality of care in countries and the region as a whole, and would facilitate more proactive sharing of data, innovations, and technical expertise.

#### Actions

- i. Support reform of the WHO Regional Office for Africa.
- ii. Pursue efficient regional approaches to the supply and regulation of medicines, vaccines, and other health commodities.
- iii. Harmonise standards for health professional education and training and adopt common certification requirements for different cadres of health professionals.
- iv. Catalyse research collaborations between African countries and support African-relevant research through national and regional funding partnerships.
- v. Support the development of the Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention.

#### Conclusion

Sub-Saharan countries face difficult development agendas in the decades to come, but also immense opportunities to be acted upon today. A key message of this Commission is that the opportunities ahead cannot be unlocked with more of the same. This is why we are advocating an approach based on people centred health systems and inspired by recent progress that can be adapted in line with each country's specific needs. Moreover, we believe firmly that better health will not only benefit countries' populations directly, it will also act as a catalyst enabling the successful pursuit of all other development agendas. Through sustained commitment towards good governance and health investment, cross-sectoral action, and leadership geared towards innovation, closing the health gap in a generation is well within reach.

#### Contributors

The report was constructed in various meetings and through the contributions of all Commissioners. Commissioners contributed to the ideas, structure, and recommendations, wrote parts of the report, and commented on drafts. The writing team included Commissioners IA, PL, BM, NS and PP, as well as AG, HLQ, MO, EN, JE, and JM. AG did the financial analysis. All authors approved the final version of the report.

#### **Declaration of interests**

//To be added//

#### Acknowledgements

The Commission was partly supported financially by the UK's Department for International Development (DFID), the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and the King Baudouin Foundation. The funding covered travel, accommodation, and meals for three face-to-face meetings of the Commission as well as the costs for country and other consultations.

Special thanks to Joy Lawn at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) for her expert advice on maternal, neonatal, and child mortality, and to Kara Hanson (LSHTM) and Diane McIntyre (University of Cape Town) for their expert advice on our economic analyses.

Thanks to Alastair Robb (DFID), Richard Horton and Selina Lo (*The Lancet*), and Donna Bowers, Sarah Curran, Elizabeth Huntley, and Heidi Larson (LSHTM) for their support throughout the process.

#### REFERENCES

1. Kiple KF. The Cambridge World History of Human Disease. New York City: Cambridge University Press; 1993.

2. Headrick DR. Sleeping Sickness Epidemics and Colonial Responses in East and Central Africa, 1900–1940. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 2014; **8**(4): e2772. DOI:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002772.

3. Patterson KD, Pyle GF. The geography and mortality of the 1918 influenza pandemic. *Bull Hist Med* 1991; **65**(1): 4-21,

https://pida.nihlibrary.com/sites/pida.nihlibrary.com/files/pdf\_files/1991\_K.David%20Patterson\_Th e%20geography%20and%20mortality%20of%20the%201918%20influenza%20pandemic..pdf (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

4. Snow RW, Amratia P, Kabaria CW, Noor AM, Marsh K. Chapter 4 - The Changing Limits and Incidence of Malaria in Africa: 1939–2009. In: Rollinson D, Hay SI, eds. Advances in Parasitology: Academic Press; 2012: 169-262.

5. Roelsgaard E, Iversen E, Bløcher C. Tuberculosis in tropical Africa: An epidemiological study. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 1964; **30**(4): 459-518,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2554833/ (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

6. Greenwood B. Manson Lecture: Meningococcal meningitis in Africa. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 1999; **93**(4): 341-53. DOI:10.1016/s0035-9203(99)90106-2.

7. Schneider WH. Smallpox in Africa during Colonial Rule. *Medical History* 2009; **53**(2): 193-227, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2668906/ (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

8. Coovadia H, Jewkes R, Barron P, Sanders D, McIntyre D. The health and health system of South Africa: historical roots of current public health challenges. *Lancet* 2009; **374**(9692): 817-34. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60951-x.

9. WHO Regional Office for Africa. The work of WHO in the African region, 2015-2016: Report of the Regional Director. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: WHO 2016.

10. Jamison DT, Summers LH, Alleyne G, et al. Global health 2035: a world converging within a generation. *Lancet* 2013; **382**(9908): 1898–955. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62105-4.

11. Langer A, Meleis A, Knaul FM, et al. Women and Health: the key for sustainable development. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(9999): 1165–210. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60497-4.

12. Piot P, Abdool Karim SS, Hecht R, et al. Defeating AIDS—advancing global health. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(9989): 171–218. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60658-4.

13. Rydin Y, Bleahu A, Davies M, et al. Shaping cities for health: complexity and the planning of urban environments in the 21st century. *Lancet* 2012; **379**(9831): 2079–108. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60435-8.

14. Watts N, Adger WN, Agnolucci P, et al. Health and climate change: policy responses to protect public health. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(10006): 1861–914. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60854-6.

15. Whitmee S, Haines A, Beyrer C, et al. Safeguarding human health in the Anthropocene epoch: report of The Rockefeller Foundation–Lancet Commission on planetary health. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(10007): 1973–2028. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60901-1.

16. United Nations. The Millennium Development Goals Report 2015. New York: United Nations, 2015.

17. Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Oza S, et al. Every Newborn: progress, priorities, and potential beyond survival. *Lancet* 2014; **384**(9938): 189–205. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60496-7.

18. World Bank. Projections to 2030 by MDG Indicator. 2015.

http://data.worldbank.org/mdgs/trends-and-projections-of-each-mdg-indicator-for-each-country (accessed Aug 14, 2015).

19. GBD 2015 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10053): 1659-724. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31679-8.

 African Union. African Regional Nutritional Strategy 2005-2015 2015. <u>http://sa.au.int/en/sites/default/files/African Nutritional strategy.pdf</u> (accessed Oct 17, 2016).
 World Bank. World Development Indicators 2016.

http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-development-indicators (accessed Oct 19, 2016).

22. Miller MA, Sentz JT. Vaccine-Preventable Diseases. In: Jamison DT, Feachem RG, Makgoba MW, et al., eds. Disease and Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa 2nd edition. Washington DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2006.

23. WHO. World malaria report 2015. Geneva, Switzerland; 2015. p. 280.

24. UNAIDS. AIDSinfo. 2016. <u>http://aidsinfo.unaids.org/</u> (accessed Sep 16, 2016).

25. GBD 2015 HIV Collaborators, Wang H, Wolock TM, et al. Estimates of global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and mortality of HIV, 1980–2015: the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet HIV* 2016; **3**(8): e361-e87. DOI:10.1016/S2352-3018(16)30087-X.

26. Greenwood B. The contribution of vaccination to global health: past, present and future. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences* 2014; **369**(1645): 20130433. DOI:10.1098/rstb.2013.0433.

27. Morris CN, Morris SR, Ferguson AG. Sexual Behavior of Female Sex Workers and Access to Condoms in Kenya and Uganda on the trans-Africa Highway. *AIDS behav* 2009; **13**(5): 860-5. DOI:10.1007/s10461-008-9431-z.

28. GBD 2015 DALYs and HALE Collaborators, Kassebaum NJ, Arora M, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 315 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE), 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet* 2016; **388**(10053): 1603-58. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31460-X.

29. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Estimated Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide in 2012. Lyon: World Health Organization; 2012.

30. Roth GA, Murray CJ. The Global Burden of Disease Study 2010 does not show a rise in the age-standardized mortality rate for cardiovascular disease in sub-Saharan Africa. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases* 2013; **56**(3): 278–80. DOI:10.1016/j.pcad.2013.10.010.

31. Mayosi BM. The 10 'Best Buys' to combat heart disease, diabetes and stroke in Africa. *Heart* 2013; **99**(14): 973–4. DOI:10.1136/heartjnl-2013-304130.

32. Plains packaging. *The Economist*, 2016. <u>http://www.economist.com/news/middle-east-and-africa/21702475-young-africans-are-lighting-up-alarming-rate-plains-</u>

packaging?fsrc=scn%2Ftw%2Fte%2Fpe%2Fed%2Fplainspackaging (accessed Oct 25, 2016).

33. Ataklte F, Erqou S, Kaptoge S, Taye B, Echouffo-Tcheugui JB, Kengne AP. Burden of undiagnosed hypertension in sub-saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hypertension* 2015; **65**(2): 291–8. DOI:10.1161/hypertensionaha.114.04394.

34. Wojcicki JM. The double burden household in sub-Saharan Africa: maternal overweight and obesity and childhood undernutrition from the year 2000: results from World Health Organization Data (WHO) and Demographic Health Surveys (DHS). *BMC Public Health* 2014; **14**: 1124. DOI:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1124.

35. Wagner KH, Brath H. A global view on the development of non communicable diseases. *Prev Med* 2012; **54**: S38–S41. DOI:10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.11.012.

36. WHO. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2014. <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd-profiles-2014/en/</u>. (accessed Feb 19, 2016).

37. Patel V. Global mental health: from science to action. *Harvard review of psychiatry* 2012; **20**(1): 6–12. DOI:10.3109/10673229.2012.649108.

38. Charlson FJ, Diminic S, Lund C, Degenhardt L, Whiteford HA. Mental and Substance Use Disorders in Sub-Saharan Africa: Predictions of Epidemiological Changes and Mental Health Workforce Requirements for the Next 40 Years. *Plos One* 2014; **9**(10): 11. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0110208.

39. Collins PY, Musisi S, Frehywot S, Patel V. The core competencies for mental, neurological, and substance use disorder care in sub-Saharan Africa. *Global Health Action*, Mar 16, 2015, 2015. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4363204/ (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

40. GBD 2015 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators, Wang H, Naghavi M, et al. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet* 2016; **388**(10053): 1459-544. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1.

41. International Labour Office. Safety and health in agriculture: A set of fact-sheets. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2000. <u>http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/publication/wcms\_110193.pdf</u>. (accessed Jan 29, 2016).

42. ICF Macro. Millennium Development Goals in Ghana: A new look at data from the 2008 Ghana Demographic and Health Survey. Calverton, Maryland, USA, 2010.

http://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/OD60/OD60.pdf. (accessed Oct 18, 2016).

43. Ghana Statistical Service, Ghana Health Service, Marco International. Ghana Maternal Health Survey 2007. Calverton, Maryland, USA, 2009.

http://www.statsghana.gov.gh/nada/index.php/catalog/58/download/220. (accessed Oct 18, 2016). 44. Mayosi BM, Lawn JE, van Niekerk A, et al. Health in South Africa: changes and challenges since 2009. *Lancet* 2012; **380**(9858): 2029–43. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61814-5.

45. Mayosi BM, Flisher AJ, Lalloo UG, Sitas F, Tollman SM, Bradshaw D. The burden of noncommunicable diseases in South Africa. *Lancet* 2009; **374**(9693): 934–47. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(09)61087-4.

46. Cohen JE. Make secondary education universal. *Nature* 2008; **456**(7222): 572–3. DOI:10.1038/456572a.

47. World Bank. Global Economic Prospects, June 2016: Divergence and Risks. Washington, DC: World Bank. <u>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/663121463605621005/Global-Economic-Prospects-June-2016-Sub-Saharan-Africa-analysis.pdf</u>. (accessed Oct 18, 2016).

48. McKinsey Global Institute. Lions on the move II: realizing the potential of Africa's economies 2016.

http://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Global%20Themes/Middle%20East%20and%20Africa /Realizing%20the%20potential%20of%20Africas%20economies/MGI-Lions-on-the-Move-2-Fullreport-September-2016v2.ashx. (accessed Oct 19, 2016).

49. WHO. Working for health and growth: investing in the health workforce. Report of the High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth. Geneva, Switzerland; 2016.

50. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs/Population Division. World Population Prospects: The 2015 Revision, key findings and advance tables. New York: United Nations, 2015. <u>http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/publications/Files/Key\_Findings\_WPP\_2015.pdf</u>. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

51. Guengant J-P, May JF. African Demography. *Global Journal of Emerging Market Economies* 2013; **5**(3): 215–67. DOI:10.1177/0974910113505792.

52. Madsen EL. What's Behind West and Central Africa's Youthful Demographics? High Desired Family Size. 2015. <u>https://www.newsecuritybeat.org/2015/05/whats-west-central-africas-youthful-demographics-high-desired-family-size/</u> (accessed Oct 19, 2016).

53. Bloom D, Canning D, Sevilla J. Demographic Dividend: New Perspective on Economic Consequences Population Change. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation; 2003.

54. Pate M. Nutrition Beyond Agriculture: Investing in Africa's Grey Matter. Dakar High-Level Conference on Agricultural Transformation 2015. Dakar, Senegal; 2015.

55. United Nations. World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision. New York: United Nations, 2014. <u>http://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2014-Report.pdf</u>. (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

56. Forum WE. Global Risks 2015 Report - Part 2.3: City Limits: The risk of rapid and unplanned urbanization in developing countries. 2016. <u>http://reports.weforum.org/global-risks-2015/part-2-risks-in-focus/2-3-city-limits-the-risks-of-rapid-and-unplanned-urbanization-in-developing-countries/</u> (accessed Jan 16, 2017).

57. Mutanga C, Zulu E, De Souza R-M. Population Dynamics, Climate Change, and Sustainable Development in Africa. Washington DC: Population Action International, African Institute for Development Policy, 2012.

58. Diboulo E, Sié A, Rocklöv J, et al. Weather and mortality: a 10 year retrospective analysis of the Nouna Health and Demographic Surveillance System, Burkina Faso. *2012* 2012; **5**. DOI:10.3402/gha.v5i0.19078.

59. Checchi F, Robinson WC. Mortality among populations of southern and central Somalia affected by severe food insecurity and famine during 2010-2012: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2013.

60. Lloyd SJ, Kovats RS, Chalabi Z. Climate Change, Crop Yields, and Undernutrition: Development of a Model to Quantify the Impact of Climate Scenarios on Child Undernutrition. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2011; **119**(12): 1817-23. DOI:10.1289/ehp.1003311.

61. Amegah AK, Rezza G, Jaakkola JJK. Temperature-related morbidity and mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review of the empirical evidence. *Environment International* 2016; **91**: 133-49. DOI:10.1016/j.envint.2016.02.027.

62. Ermert V, Fink AH, Morse AP, Paeth H. The Impact of Regional Climate Change on Malaria Risk due to Greenhouse Forcing and Land-Use Changes in Tropical Africa. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2012; **120**(1): 77-84. DOI:10.1289/ehp.1103681.

63. WHO, World Bank Group. Tracking universal health coverage: first global monitoring report. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2015.

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/universal\_health\_coverage/report/2015/en/. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

64. de-Graft Aikins A, Unwin N, Agyemang C, Allotey P, Campbell C, Arhinful D. Tackling Africa's chronic disease burden: from the local to the global. *Globalization and Health* 2010; **6**(1): 5, http://www.globalizationandhealth.com/content/6/1/5.

65. Harding R, Selman L, Powell RA, et al. Research into palliative care in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Oncology* 2013; **14**(4): e183–e8. DOI:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70396-0</u>.

66. Breuer E, Myer L, Struthers H, Joska JA. HIV/AIDS and mental health research in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *African Journal of AIDS Research* 2011; **10**(2): 101–22. DOI:10.2989/16085906.2011.593373.

67. Olafsdottir A, Reidpath D, Pokhrel S, Allotey P. Health systems performance in sub-Saharan Africa: governance, outcome and equity. *BMC Public Health* 2011; **11**(1): 237, http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/237.

68. Masters SH, Burstein R, DeCenso B, et al. Pharmaceutical Availability across Levels of Care: Evidence from Facility Surveys in Ghana, Kenya, and Uganda. *PLoS ONE* 2014; **9**(12): e114762. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0114762.

69. O'Connell K, Gatakaa H, Poyer S, et al. Got ACTs? Availability, price, market share and provider knowledge of anti-malarial medicines in public and private sector outlets in six malariaendemic countries. *Malaria Journal* 2011; **10**(1): 326,

http://www.malariajournal.com/content/10/1/326.

70. Harding R, Simms V, Penfold S, et al. Availability of essential drugs for managing HIV-related pain and symptoms within 120 PEPFAR-funded health facilities in East Africa: A cross-sectional survey with onsite verification. *Palliative Medicine* 2014; **28**(4): 293–301. DOI:10.1177/0269216313498637.

71. Willcox M, Peersman W, Daou P, et al. Human resources for primary health care in sub-Saharan Africa: progress or stagnation? *Human Resources for Health* 2015; **13**(1): 76. DOI:10.1186/s12960-015-0073-8.

72. WHO Regional Office for Africa. Health Systems in Africa: community perceptions and perspectives. Brazzaville: World Health Organization, 2012. <u>http://www.afro.who.int/en/clusters-a-programmes/hss/health-policy-a-service-delivery/features/3800-health-systems-in-africa-community-perceptions-and-perspectives.html</u>. (accessed Sep 23, 2015).

73. Babirye J, Engebretsen I, Rutebemberwa E, Kiguli J, Nuwaha F. Urban settings do not ensure access to services: findings from the immunisation programme in Kampala Uganda. *BMC Health Services Research* 2014; **14**(1): 111, <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/14/111</u>.

74. WHO. Fifty-Eighth World Health Assembly - Resolutions and Decisions. Geneva, 16-26 May 2005. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2005. <u>http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA58-REC1/english/A58\_2005\_REC1-en.pdf</u>. (accessed Dec 16, 2016).

75. WHO. World Health Report 2010. Health systems financing: the path to universal coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2010.

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44371/1/9789241564021\_eng.pdf. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

76. Global Coalition for Universal Health Coverage. United Nations General Assembly Sixtyseventh session Global Health and Foreign Policy adopted 12 December 2012.

http://universalhealthcoverageday.org/un-resolution/ (accessed Nov 25, 2015).

77. Kutzin J. Health financing for universal coverage and health system performance: concepts and implications for policy. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2013; **91**(8): 602–11. DOI:10.2471/BLT.12.113985.

78. Fusheini A, Eyles J. Achieving universal health coverage in South Africa through a district health system approach: conflicting ideologies of health care provision. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2016; **16**(1): 558. DOI:10.1186/s12913-016-1797-4.

79. Bennett S, Ozawa S, Rao KD. Which Path to Universal Health Coverage? Perspectives on the
World Health Report 2010. *PLoS Med* 2010; 7(11): e1001001. DOI:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001001.
80. Schmidt H, Gostin LO, Emanuel EJ. Public health, universal health coverage, and Sustainable

Development Goals: can they coexist? *Lancet* 2015; **386**(9996): 928–30. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60244-6.

81. Giedion UA, Eduardo Andres; Diaz, Yadira. The impact of universal coverage schemes in the developing world : a review of the existing evidence. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank Group, 2013. <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2013/01/17291221/impact-universal-coverage-schemes-developing-world-review-existing-evidence</u>. (accessed Sep 9, 2015).

82. Moreno-Serra R, Smith PC. Broader health coverage is good for the nation's health: evidence from country level panel data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)* 2015; **178**(1): 101–24. DOI:10.1111/rssa.12048.

83. Macha J, Harris B, Garshong B, et al. Factors influencing the burden of health care financing and the distribution of health care benefits in Ghana, Tanzania and South Africa. *Health Policy and Planning* 2012; **27**(suppl 1): i46–i54. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czs024.

84. Summers LH. Economists' declaration on universal health coverage. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(10008): 2112-3. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00242-1.

85. WHO/AU. First meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO. Volume 1: Ministerial meeting. Luanda, Angola: WHO, African Union, 2014.

http://www.afro.who.int/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_download&gid=9370&Itemid= 2593. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

86. Agyepong IA, Orem JN, Hercot D. Viewpoint: When the 'non-workable ideological best' becomes the enemy of the 'imperfect but workable good'. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2011; **16**(1): 105-9. DOI:10.1111/j.1365-3156.2010.02639.x.

87. Sheikh K, Ranson MK, Gilson L. Explorations on people centredness in health systems. *Health policy and planning* 2014; **29 Suppl 2**: ii1–5. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czu082.

88. Aberese-Ako M, van Dijk H, Gerrits T, Arhinful DK, Agyepong IA. 'Your health our concern, our health whose concern?': perceptions of injustice in organizational relationships and processes and frontline health worker motivation in Ghana. *Health policy and planning* 2014; **29 Suppl 2**: ii15–28. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czu068.

89. WHO. Sixty-ninth World Health Assembly - Resolution WHA69.24: Strengthening integrated, people-centred health services. . Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2016.

http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA69/A69\_R24-en.pdf. (accessed Jan 16, 2017). 90. Wigmore R. Contextualising Ebola rumours from a political, historical and social perspective to understand people's perceptions of Ebola and the responses to it. 2015, <u>http://www.ebola-anthropology.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Contextualising-Ebola-rumours-from-a-political.pdf</u> (accessed Dec 16, 2016).

91. Olivier J, Tsimpo C, Gemignani R, et al. Understanding the roles of faith-based health-care providers in Africa: review of the evidence with a focus on magnitude, reach, cost, and satisfaction. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(10005): 1765–75. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60251-3.

92. Horton R, Clark S. The perils and possibilities of the private health sector. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10044): 540-1. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30774-7.

93. Mackintosh M, Channon A, Karan A, Selvaraj S, Cavagnero E, Zhao H. What is the private sector? Understanding private provision in the health systems of low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10044): 596-605. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00342-1.

94. McPake B, Hanson K. Managing the public-private mix to achieve universal health coverage. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10044): 622-30. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00344-5.

95. Morgan R, Ensor T, Waters H. Performance of private sector health care: implications for universal health coverage. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10044): 606-12. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00343-3.
96. Freeman MC, Stocks ME, Cumming O, et al. Hygiene and health: systematic review of handwashing practices worldwide and update of health effects. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2014; **19**(8): 906-16. DOI:10.1111/tmi.12339.

97. Curtis VA, Garbrah-Aidoo N, Scott B. Ethics in public health research: masters of marketing: bringing private sector skills to public health partnerships. *Am J Public Health* 2007; **97**(4): 634-41. DOI:10.2105/ajph.2006.090589.

98. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Review of social determinants and the health divide in the WHO European Region. Final report. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013.
99. Boal KB, Hooijberg R. Strategic leadership research: Moving on. *The Leadership Quarterly* 2000; **11**(4): 515-49. DOI:10.1016/S1048-9843(00)00057-6.

100. Ruwoldt P, Perry S, Yumkella F, Sagoe K. Assessment of the Additional Duties Hours Allowance (ADHA) Scheme: Final Report. Chapel Hill, N.C. : IntraHealth International, Inc., 2007. <u>https://www.intrahealth.org/page/assessment-of-the-additional-duties-hours-allowance-adha-scheme-final-report</u>. (accessed Dec 2, 2016).

101. Omaswa F, Crisp N. African Health Leaders : Making Change and Claiming the Future. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2014.

102. Edwards N, Kaseje D, Kahwa E, et al. The impact of leadership hubs on the uptake of evidence-informed nursing practices and workplace policies for HIV care: a quasi-experimental study in Jamaica, Kenya, Uganda and South Africa. *Implementation science : IS* 2016; **11**(1): 110. DOI:10.1186/s13012-016-0478-3.

103. Curry L, Taylor L, Chen PG, Bradley E. Experiences of leadership in health care in sub-Saharan Africa. *Human resources for health* 2012; **10**: 33. DOI:10.1186/1478-4491-10-33.

104. Swanson RC, Atun R, Best A, et al. Strengthening health systems in low-income countries by enhancing organizational capacities and improving institutions. *Global Health* 2015; **11**: 5. DOI:10.1186/s12992-015-0090-3.

105. Eckert R, Rweyongoza S, Campbell M. Leadership development in Africa: A focus on strengths. Brussels, Belgium Center for Creative Leadership, 2010.

http://www.humancapitalreview.org/Articles/2010/June/CCL\_Africa\_Whitepaper.pdf. (accessed Nov 21, 2016).

106. Agyepong IA, U. L, Rutemberberwa E, et al. Strategic Leadership Capacity Building for Sub-Saharan African Health Systems and Public Health Governance: A multi-country assessment of essential competencies and optimal design for a Pan African DrPH (unpublished). 2016.

107. Agyepong IA, Frimpong E, Kwamie A, Lehmann U, Gilson L. Report on scoping of potential for developing Doctor of Public Health (DrPH) training for Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). Accra: Consortium for Health Policy and Systems Analysis in Africa, 2015. <u>http://www.hpsa-</u>

africa.org/images/DrPH\_scoping\_document\_Jan2015V2\_for\_web.docx. (accessed Nov 22, 2016). 108. Chigudu S, Jasseh M, d'Alessandro U, Corrah T, Demba A, Balen J. The role of leadership in people-centred health systems: a sub-national study in The Gambia. Health Policy and Planning Special Issue on People-Centred Health Systems. *Health Policy and Planning* 2014: 1-12. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czu078.

109. Ministry of Health of Kenya. Kenya HIV Prevention Revolution Road Map - Count Down to 2030. In: Baird J, Isbell M, Siringi S, editors. Kenya: Ministry of Health, Kenya; 2014.

110. Sookram C, Munodawafa D, Phori PM, Varenne B, Alisalad A. WHO's supported interventions on salt intake reduction in the sub-Saharan Africa region. *Cardiovascular Diagnosis and Therapy* 2015; **5**(3): 186–90. DOI:10.3978/j.issn.2223-3652.2015.04.04.

111. Libman K, Freudenberg N, Sanders D, Puoane T, Tsolekile L. The role of urban food policy in preventing diet-related non-communicable diseases in Cape Town and New York. *Public health* 2015; **129**(4): 327–35. DOI:10.1016/j.puhe.2014.12.007.

112. Pradeilles R, Rousham EK, Norris SA, Kesten JM, Griffiths PL. Community readiness for adolescents' overweight and obesity prevention is low in urban South Africa: a case study. *BMC Public Health* 2016; **16**(1): 763. DOI:10.1186/s12889-016-3451-9.

113. Transparency International. What is Corruption? 2016. <u>http://www.transparency.org/what-is-corruption/</u> (accessed Nov 7, 2016).

114. Arbache JS, Habyarimana J, Molini V. Silent and lethal : how quiet corruption undermines Africa's development efforts. Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2010.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/316051468009960660/Silent-and-lethal-how-quietcorruption-undermines-Africas-development-efforts. (accessed Mar 28, 2017).

115. Udoh IA, Stammen RM, Mantell JE. Corruption and oil exploration: expert agreement about the prevention of HIV/AIDS in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. *Health education research* 2008; **23**(4): 670-81. DOI:10.1093/her/cym042.

116. Rispel LC, de Jager P, Fonn S. Exploring corruption in the South African health sector. *Health policy and planning* 2016; **31**(2): 239-49. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czv047.

117. Kirigia JM, Barry SP. Health challenges in Africa and the way forward. *Int Arch Med* 2008; **1**(1): 27. DOI:10.1186/1755-7682-1-27.

Gauthier B, Wane W. Leakage of Public Resources in the Health Sector: An Empirical Investigation of Chad. *Journal of African Economies* 2009; **18**(1): 52-83. DOI:10.1093/jae/ejn011.
Phillips JF, Sheff M, Boyer CB. The Astronomy of Africa's Health Systems Literature During the MDG Era: Where Are the Systems Clusters? *Glob Health Sci Pract* 2015; **3**(3): 482-502. DOI:10.9745/ghsp-d-15-00034.

120. Huss R, Green A, Sudarshan H, et al. Good governance and corruption in the health sector: lessons from the Karnataka experience. *Health policy and planning* 2011; **26**(6): 471-84. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czq080.

121. Ensor T. Informal payments for health care in transition economies. *Social science & medicine (1982)* 2004; **58**(2): 237-46.

122. Mostert S, Njuguna F, Olbara G, et al. Corruption in health-care systems and its effect on cancer care in Africa. *The Lancet Oncology* 2015; **16**(8): e394-404. DOI:10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00163-1.

123. Dybul M. Speak out now against corruption. 2016.

http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/blog/2016-04-21\_Speak\_Out\_Now\_Against\_Corruption/ (accessed Nov 22, 2016).

124. Vian T. Review of corruption in the health sector: theory, methods and interventions. *Health Policy and Planning* 2008; **23**(2): 83-94. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czm048.

125. Bayley O, Chapota H, Kainja E, et al. Community-linked maternal death review (CLMDR) to measure and prevent maternal mortality: a pilot study in rural Malawi. *BMJ Open* 2015; **5**(4). DOI:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007753.

126. Kuruvilla S, Schweitzer J, Bishai D, et al. Success factors for reducing maternal and child mortality. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2014; **92**(7): 533–44. DOI:10.2471/BLT.14.138131.

127. Mishra CK, Thomas J, Kumar R, et al. National leadership: driving forward the updated Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health. *BMJ* 2015; **351**: h4282. DOI:10.1136/bmj.h4282.

128. Dalberg, AMREF. Contribution of Civil Society Organisations to Health in Africa. Nairobi, Kenya: The African Medical and Research Foundation, 2013.

http://amref.org/download/5214bd0e2665d/. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

129. IHP+. Seven Behaviours: How development partners can change for the better. 2016.
 <u>http://www.internationalhealthpartnership.net/en/about-ihp/seven-behaviours/</u> (accessed Nov 21, 2016).

130. Tyson JE. Sub-Saharan Africa and international equity: policy approaches to enhancing its role in economic development: Overseas Development Institute, 2015.

https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9880.pdf. (accessed Apr 19, 2017).

131. WHO. The Abuja Declaration: ten years on. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2011. <u>http://www.who.int/healthsystems/publications/abuja\_declaration/en/</u>. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

132. UNAIDS. Abuja+12: Shaping the future of health in Africa. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2013. http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2013/JC2524\_Abuja\_report. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

133. Govender V, McIntyre D, Loewenson R. Progress towards the Abuja Target for government spending on health care in East and Southern Africa. *Discussion Paper 60 (Regional Network for Equity in Health in Southern Africa)*, 2008.

http://www.equinetafrica.org/bibl/docs/DIS60finABUJA.pdf (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

134. Jowett M, Brunal MP, Flores G, Cylus J. Spending targets for health: no magic number. Health financing working paper No. 1. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2016. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250048/1/WHO-HIS-HGF-HFWorkingPaper-16.1-eng.pdf</u>. (accessed Apr 18, 2017).

135. African Union. Africa Scorecard on Domestic Financing for Health2016.

http://www.au.int/en/sites/default/files/documents/31331-doc-au\_scorecard - final\_english.pdf (accessed Oct 11, 2016).

136. Taskforce on Innovative International Financing for Health Systems. Constraints to Scaling up and Costs. Working Group 1 report2009.

http://www.internationalhealthpartnership.net/fileadmin/uploads/ihp/Documents/Results Evide nce/HAE results lessons/WORKING%20GROUP%201%20REPORT%20-

<u>%20Constraints%20to%20Scaling%20Up%20and%20Costs.pdf</u> (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

137. McIntyre D, Meheus F. Fiscal Space for Domestic Funding of Health and Other Social Services. London: Chatham House, 2014.

https://www.chathamhouse.org/publications/papers/view/198263. (accessed Feb 17, 2016). 138. Futures Institute. OneHealth Tool. 2011. <u>http://www.avenirhealth.org/software-onehealth.php</u> (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

139. WHO. Public financing for health in Africa: from Abuja to the SDGs. Geneva, Switzerland, 2016. <u>http://www.who.int/health\_financing/documents/public-financing-africa/en/</u>. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

140. UBS Philanthropy Advisory, Trust Africa. Africa's Wealthy Give Back. Zürich, Switzerland, 2014. <u>http://uhnw-greatwealth.ubs.com/media/7455/ubs-philanthropy-africareport.pdf</u>. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

141. United Nations. Report of the third International Conference on Financing for Development. New York, 2015. <u>http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/CONF.227/20</u>. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

142. Meheus F, McIntyre D. Fiscal space for domestic funding of health and other social services. *Health Economics, Policy and Law* 2017; **12**(2): 159-77. DOI:10.1017/S1744133116000438.

143. Barroy H, Sparkes S, Dale E. Assessing fiscal space for health expansion in low- and middleincome countries: a review of the evidence. Health financing working paper No. 3. Geneva, Switzerland, 2016. <u>http://who.int/health\_financing/documents/assessing-fiscal-space/en/</u>. (accessed Apr 18, 2017).

144. WHO Regional Office for Africa. WHO African Region Expenditure Atlas, November 2014. Brazzaville: World Health Organization, 2014. <u>http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/145197</u>. (accessed Feb 17, 2016).

145. WHO Regional Office for Africa. Atlas of African Health Statistics 2014: Health situation analysis of African Region. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: World Health Organization, 2014. http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/104444. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

146. Kates J, Wexler A, Lief E. Financing the Response to HIV in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: International Assistance from Donor Governments in 2015. Menlo Parlk, CA: The Kaiser Family Foundation, UNAIDS, 2015.

http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2016/financing-reponse-to-HIV-in-low-andmiddle-income-countries. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

147. OECD. Global Aid Outlook. 2015. http://www.oecd.org/dac/aid-

architecture/aidpredictability.htm (accessed Oct 24, 2015).

148. Dieleman JL, Schneider MT, Haakenstad A, et al. Development assistance for health: past trends, associations, and the future of international financial flows for health. *Lancet* 2016; **387**(10037): 2536-44. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30168-4.

149. Equitable Access Initiative. The Equitable Access Initiative Report. Geneva, Switzerland: The Global Fund, 2016.

http://www.theglobalfund.org/documents/eai/EAI\_EquitableAccessInitiative\_Report\_en/. (accessed Dec 14, 2016).

150. Moon S, Omole O. Development Assistance for Health: critiques and proposals for change. Centre on Global Health Security Working Group Papers. London: Chatham House; 2013.

151. Berman P, Pallas S, Smith AL, Curry L, Bradley EH. Improving the Delivery of Health Services: A Guide to Choosing Strategies. Washington, DC, 2011.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/244571468161648828/Improving-the-delivery-of-health-services-a-guide-to-choosing-strategies. (accessed Apr 18, 2017).

152. Hope R, Kendall T, Langer A, Bärnighausen T. Health Systems Integration of Sexual and Reproductive Health and HIV Services in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Scoping Study. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes (1999)* 2014; **67**(Suppl 4): S259-S70. DOI:10.1097/QAI.0000000000381.

153. Meessen B, Hercot D, Noirhomme M, et al. Removing user fees in the health sector: a review of policy processes in six sub-Saharan African countries. *Health policy and planning* 2011; **26 Suppl 2**: ii16-29. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czr062.

154. Lépine A, Lagarde M, Le Nestour A. Free primary care in Zambia: an impact evaluation using a pooled synthetic control method. *Social Science Research Network (SSRN)* 2015. DOI:10.2139/ssrn.2520345.

155. Masiye F, Kaonga O, Kirigia JM. Does User Fee Removal Policy Provide Financial Protection from Catastrophic Health Care Payments? Evidence from Zambia. *PLoS One* 2016; **11**(1): e0146508. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0146508.

156. Fenny AP, Asante FA, Enemark U, Hansen KS. Treatment-seeking behaviour and social health insurance in Africa: the case of Ghana under the National Health Insurance Scheme. *Global Journal of Health Science* 2014; **7**(1): 296–314.

157. Witter S, Brikci N, Harris T, et al. The Sierra Leone Free Health Care Initiative (FHCI): process and effectiveness review, 2016. <u>http://eresearch.qmu.ac.uk/4358/1/eResearch%204358.pdf</u>. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

158. Ridde V, Olivier de Sardan J-P, Brouillet P, de Peretti C. Abolishing user fees for patients in West Africa: lessons for public policy. Paris, France: Agence Française de Développement; 2013.
159. Spaan E, Mathijsen J, Tromp N, McBain F, ten Have A, Baltussen R. The impact of health insurance in Africa and Asia: a systematic review. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2012; **90**: 685–92.

160. UNICEF. National health insurance in Asia and Africa. Advancing equitable Social Health Protection to achieve universal health coverage. New York: UNICEF; 2012.

161. Maeda A, Araujo EC, Cashin C, Harris J, Ikegami N, Reich MR. Universal Health Coverage for Inclusive and Sustainable Development: A Synthesis of 11 Country Case Studies. Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2014.

162. Kotoh AM, Van der Geest S. Why are the poor less covered in Ghana's national health insurance? A critical analysis of policy and practice. *International journal for equity in health* 2016; **15**: 34. DOI:10.1186/s12939-016-0320-1.

163. Kanchebe Derbile E, van der Geest S. Repackaging exemptions under National Health Insurance in Ghana: how can access to care for the poor be improved? *Health policy and planning* 2013; **28**(6): 586-95. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czs098.

164. Kuwawenaruwa A, Baraka J, Ramsey K, Manzi F, Bellows B, Borghi J. Poverty identification for a pro-poor health insurance scheme in Tanzania: reliability and multi-level stakeholder perceptions. *International journal for equity in health* 2015; **14**: 143. DOI:10.1186/s12939-015-0273-9.

165. Maluka SO. Why are pro-poor exemption policies in Tanzania better implemented in some districts than in others? *International journal for equity in health* 2013; **12**: 80. DOI:10.1186/1475-9276-12-80.

166. Borghi J, Maluka S, Kuwawenaruwa A, et al. Promoting universal financial protection: a case study of new management of community health insurance in Tanzania. *Health research policy and systems / BioMed Central* 2013; **11**: 21. DOI:10.1186/1478-4505-11-21.

167. Joumard I, Andre C, Nicq C. Health care systems: efficiency and institutions. Paris: OECD Publishing, 2010. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5kmfp51f5f9t-en</u>. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

168. Musango L, Orem JN, Elovainio R, Kirigia J. Moving from ideas to action - developing health financing systems towards universal coverage in Africa. *BMC International Health and Human Rights* 2012; **12**(1): 30. DOI:10.1186/1472-698X-12-30.

169. Grigoli F, Kapsoli J. Waste Not, Want Not: The Efficiency of Health Expenditure in Emerging and Developing Economies. New York: IMF, 2013.

<u>http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/cat/longres.aspx?sk=40899</u>. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

170. World Bank. Africa Health Forum 2013. Finance and Capacity for Results. Washington, DC: World Bank, 2013. <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTAFRICA/Resources/AHF-health-financing-and-fiscal-health-in-africa.pdf</u>. (accessed Sep 23, 2015).

171. Witvliet MI, Kunst AE, Arah OA, Stronks K. Sick regimes and sick people: a multilevel investigation of the population health consequences of perceived national corruption. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2013; **18**(10): 1240–7. DOI:10.1111/tmi.12177.

172. Pinzón-Flórez CE, Fernández-Niño JA, Ruiz-Rodríguez M, Idrovo ÁJ, Arredondo López AA. Determinants of performance of health systems concerning maternal and child health: a global approach. *PLoS ONE* 2015; **10**(3): e0120747. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0120747.

173. Preker AS, Liu X, Velenyi EV, Baris E. Public Ends, Private Means. Strategic Purchasing of Health Services. Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2007.

174. Marten R, McIntyre D, Travassos C, et al. An assessment of progress towards universal health coverage in Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa (BRICS). *Lancet* 2014; **384**(9960): 2164–71. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60075-1.

175. RESYST. What is strategic purchasing for health? London, UK: Resilient and Responsive Health Systems, 2014. <u>http://resyst.lshtm.ac.uk/resources/what-strategic-purchasing-health</u>. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

176. Etiaba E, Onwujekwe O, Ogochakwu I, Uzochukwu B. The Nigerian Formal Sector Social Health Insurance Programme in Nigeria, 2016. <u>http://resyst.lshtm.ac.uk/resources/strategic-</u> purchasing-universal-health-coverage-nigerian-formal-sector-social-health. (accessed Oct 11, 2016).

177. Munge K, Mulupi S, Chuma J. A critical analysis of the purchasing arrangements in Kenya: the case of the National Hospital Insurance Fund, Private and Community-based health insurance, 2016. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a0898b40f0b64974000130/WorkingPaper-7-Kenya-purchasing.pdf. (accessed Oct 11, 2016).

178. Honda A, McIntyre D. Medical Schemes in South Africa, 2016. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a0896240f0b652dd0001d0/Purchasing-

summary\_Medical-schemes-SA.pdf. (accessed Oct 11, 2016).

179. Atuoye KN, Vercillo S, Antabe R, Galaa SZ, Luginaah I. Financial sustainability versus access and quality in a challenged health system: an examination of the capitation policy debate in Ghana. *Health policy and planning* 2016; **31**(9): 1240-9. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czw058.

180. Yip W, Hafez R. Reforms for improving the efficiency of health systems: lessons from 10 country cases. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2015.

http://www.who.int/health\_financing/documents/synthesis\_report/en/. (accessed Feb 17, 2016). 181. Ntembwa H, Van Leberghe W. Democratic Republic of the Congo: Improving aid

coordination in the health sector. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2015. http://www.who.int/health\_financing/documents/Efficiency\_health\_systems\_Congo/en/. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

182. Southern African Development Community. Strategy for Pooled Procurement of Essential Medicines and Health Commodities, 2013-2017. Gaborone, Botswana: SADC Secretariat; 2013.

183. WHO. The World Medicines Situation 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.184. Nayyar GM, Breman JG, Herrington JE. The global pandemic of falsified medicines:

laboratory and field innovations and policy perspectives. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2015; **92**(6 Suppl): 2–7. DOI:10.4269/ajtmh.15-0221.

185. Cameron A, Ewen M, Ross-Degnan D, Ball D, Laing R. Medicine prices, availability, and affordability in 36 developing and middle-income countries: a secondary analysis. *Lancet* 2009; **373**(9659): 240–9. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61762-6.

186. WHO. WHO Medium-Term Strategic Plan 2008-2013. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2009. <u>http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/MTSP2009/MTSP4-en.pdf</u>. (accessed Oct 9, 2015).

187. Cheraghali A, Idries A. Availability, affordability, and prescribing pattern of medicines in Sudan. *Pharm World Sci* 2009; **31**(2): 209–15. DOI:10.1007/s11096-009-9282-3.

188. Saouadogo H. Measuring availability, affordability and management of essential medicines in public hospitals of Burkina Faso. *World Hospital Health Services* 2011; **47**(1): 8–11.

189. Mhlanga BS, Suleman F. Price, availability and affordability of medicines. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine* 2014; **6**(1): 6. DOI:10.4102/phcfm.v6i1.604

190. WHO. World Health Statistics. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2015.

191. Cameron A, Roubos I, Ewen M, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK, Leufkens HGM, Laing R. Differences in the availability of medicines for chronic and acute conditions in the public and private sectors of developing countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2011; **89**: 412–21. DOI:10.2471/BLT.10.084327.

192. Bazargani YT, Ewen M, de Boer A, Leufkens HGM, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK. Essential Medicines Are More Available than Other Medicines around the Globe. *PLoS ONE* 2014; **9**(2): e87576. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0087576.

193. Niëns LM, Cameron A, Van de Poel E, Ewen M, Brouwer WBF, Laing R. Quantifying the Impoverishing Effects of Purchasing Medicines: A Cross-Country Comparison of the Affordability of Medicines in the Developing World. *PLoS Med* 2010; **7**(8): e1000333.

DOI:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000333.

194. Tougher S, Ye Y, Amuasi JH, et al. Effect of the Affordable Medicines Facility—malaria (AMFm) on the availability, price, and market share of quality-assured artemisinin-based combination therapies in seven countries: a before-and-after analysis of outlet survey data. *Lancet* 2012; **380**(9857): 1916–26. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61732-2.

195. Raja R, Mellon P, Sarley D. Procurement Strategies for Health Commodities: An examination of options and mechanisms within the commodity security context. Arlington, VA: DELIVER, for the U.S. Agency for International Development, 2006.

http://deliver.jsi.com/dlvr\_content/resources/allpubs/policypapers/ProcStraHealComm.pdf. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

196. Wirtz VJ, Hogerzeil HV, Gray AL, et al. Essential medicines for universal health coverage. *Lancet* 2017; **389**(10067): 403-76. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31599-9.

197. Rickwood S, Rosen D. Supply chain optimisation in Africa's private sector: reducing the price to patient. [recorded live webinar]. 2014. <u>https://youtu.be/XGzZ1WcyYno</u> (accessed Feb 20, 2016).
198. Lopes C. Manufacturing Pharmaceuticals: An Untapped Opportunity. 2014.

http://www.uneca.org/es-blog/manufacturing-pharmaceuticals-untapped-opportunity (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

199. Empower School of Health. Dynamics of pharmaceutical quality systems for export of pharmaceuticals from India to Africa. Knowledge Partnership Programme.2014.

http://www.ipekpp.com/admin/upload\_files/Report\_2\_20\_Dynamics\_4145711718.pdf (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

200. Chaudhuri S, Mackintosh M, Mujinja PGM. Indian generics producers, access to essential medicines and local production in Africa: An argument with reference to Tanzania. *Eur J Dev Res* 2010; **22**(4): 451–68. DOI:10.1057/ejdr.2010.27.

201. Bate R, Zhe Jin G, Mathur A, Attaran A. Poor Quality Drugs and Global Trade: A pilot study. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 20469. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2014. <u>http://www.nber.org/papers/w20469</u>. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

202. Almuzaini T, Choonara I, Sammons H. Substandard and counterfeit medicines: a systematic review of the literature. *BMJ Open* 2013; **3**(8): e002923. DOI:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002923.

203. Nayyar GML, Breman JG, Newton PN, Herrington J. Poor-quality antimalarial drugs in southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2012; **12**(6): 488–96. DOI:10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70064-6.

204. Gallup. Fake medicine common in many Sub-Saharan African countries. 2011. http://www.gallup.com/poll/149942/fake-medicine-common-sub-saharan-african-countries.aspx (accessed Feb 20, 2016). 205. WHO. Local production and access to medicines in low- and middle-income countries. A literature review and critical analysis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.

206. African Union. Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa. Addis Ababa: African Union,2012.

http://www.unido.org/fileadmin/user\_media\_upgrade/Resources/Publications/Pharmaceuticals/PM PA\_Business\_Plan\_Nov2012\_ebook.PDF. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

207. Anderson T. Tide turns for drug manufacturing in Africa. *Lancet* 2010; **375**(9726): 1597–8. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60687-3.

208. Mujinja P, Mackintosh M, Justin-Temu M, Wuyts M. Local production of pharmaceuticals in Africa and access to essential medicines: 'urban bias' in access to imported medicines in Tanzania and its policy implications. *Globalization and Health* 2014; **10**(1): 12. DOI:10.1186/1744-8603-10-12.
209. Owoeye OA. Compulsory patent licensing and local drug manufacturing capacity in Africa.

Bulletin of the World Health Organization 2014; **92**(3): 214–9. DOI:10.2471/BLT.13.128413. 210. WHO. Assessment of medicines regulatory systems in sub-Saharan African countries.

Geneva: World Health Organization, 2010. <u>http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/en/d/Js17577en/</u>. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

211. IFPMA. Africa needs more efficient regulatory systems to improve access to medicines2015. <u>http://www.ifpma.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/PR\_-\_ARC-FINALENG.pdf</u> (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

212. African Medicines Regulatory Harmonisation (AMRH) Initiative. Building partnerships for sustainable capacity development on medicines regulation in Africa. Conference Report. First Scientific Conference on Medicines Regulation in Africa; 2013 2-3 December 2013; Johannesburg, South Africa 2013.

213. WHO support for medicines regulatory harmonization in Africa: focus on East African Community. *WHO Durg Information* 2014; **28**(1): 11–5.

214. Hajjou M, Krech L, Lane-Barlow C, et al. Monitoring the Quality of Medicines: Results from Africa, Asia, and South America. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 2015; **92**(Suppl 6): 68-74. DOI:10.4269/ajtmh.14-0535.

215. Newton PN, Tabernero P, Dwivedi P, et al. Falsified medicines in Africa: all talk, no action. *Lancet Global Health*; **2**(9): e509–e10. DOI:10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70279-7.

216. Tabernero P, Fernandez FM, Green M, Guerin PJ, Newton PN. Mind the gaps - the epidemiology of poor-quality anti-malarials in the malarious world--analysis of the WorldWide Antimalarial Resistance Network database. *Malar J* 2014; **13**: 139. DOI:10.1186/1475-2875-13-139.

217. mPedigree Network. mPedigree. 2015. <u>http://mpedigree.net/</u> (accessed Aug 14, 2015).
218. Govindaraj R, Herbst CH. Applying market mechanisms to central medical stores:

experiences from Burkina Faso, Cameroon, and Senegal. . Washington, DC: World Bank, 2010. <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/516521468003295292/Applying-market-mechanisms-to-central-medical-stores-experiences-from-Burkina-Faso-Cameroon-and-Senegal</u>. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

219. Khuluza F, Kadammanja P, Simango C, Mukhuna M. Did drug availability in Malawian central hospitals improve after the conversion of central medical stores to a trust? *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 2016; **10**(9): 145-50.

220. Eichler R, Ergo A, Serumaga B, Rosen J, Miles G, Tukai M. Options Guide: Performance-Based Incentives to Strengthen Public Health Supply Chains – Version 1. Bethesda, MD: Health Systems 20/20 project, Abt Associates Inc., 2012. <u>https://www.hfgproject.org/options-guide-performance-based-incentives-strengthen-public-health-supply-chains-version-1/</u>. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

221. Spisak C, Morgan L, Eichler R, Rosen J, Serumaga B, Wang A. Results-Based Financing in Mozambique's Central Medical Store: A Review After 1 Year. *Global Health: Science and Practice* 2016; **4**(1): 165-77. DOI:10.9745/ghsp-d-15-00173.

222. United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). UNCITRAL Model Law on Public Procurement. New York: United Nations, 2014.

http://www.uncitral.org/pdf/english/texts/procurem/ml-procurement-2011/2011-Model-Law-on-Public-Procurement-e.pdf. (accessed Nov 28, 2016).

223. Arney L, Yadav P, Miller R, Wilkerson T. Strategic contracting practices to improve procurement of health commodities. *Global Health, Science and Practice* 2014; **2**(3): 295–306. DOI:10.9745/GHSP-D-14-00068.

224. Nsubuga P, Nwanyanwu O, Nkengasong JN, Mukanga D, Trostle M. Strengthening public health surveillance and response using the health systems strengthening agenda in developing countries. *BMC Public Health* 2010; **10 Suppl 1**: S5. DOI:10.1186/1471-2458-10-S1-S5.

225. Heymann DL, Chen L, Takemi K, et al. Global health security: the wider lessons from the west African Ebola virus disease epidemic. *Lancet* 2015; **385**(9980): 1884–901. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60858-3.

226. WHO. Ebola Situation Report - 12 August 2015. 2015. <u>http://apps.who.int/ebola/current-situation/ebola-situation-report-12-august-2015</u> (accessed Nov 3, 2016).

227. Piot P. Ebola's perfect storm. *Science* 2014; **345**(6202): 1221. DOI:10.1126/science.1260695.

228. UNECA. Socio-Economic Impacts of Ebola on Africa. Revised Edition ed. Addis Ababas, Ethiopia: United Nations Economic Commission for Africa; 2015.

229. Panel of independent experts. Report of the Ebola Interim Assessment Panel - July 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2015.

http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/ebola/ebola-panel-report/en. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

230. Kilmarx PH, Clarke KR, Dietz PM, et al. Ebola virus disease in health care workers--Sierra Leone, 2014. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report* 2014; **63**(49): 1168–71,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25503921 (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

231. Faye O, Boelle PY, Heleze E, et al. Chains of transmission and control of Ebola virus disease in Conakry, Guinea, in 2014: an observational study. *The Lancet Infectious diseases* 2015; **15**(3): 320–6. DOI:10.1016/S1473-3099(14)71075-8.

232. Bolkan HA, Bash-Taqi DA, Samai M, Gerdin M, von Schreeb J. Ebola and indirect effects on health service function in Sierra Leone. *PLoS currents* 2014; **6**.

DOI:10.1371/currents.outbreaks.0307d588df619f9c9447f8ead5b72b2d.

233. Gostin LO, Friedman EA. A retrospective and prospective analysis of the west African Ebola virus disease epidemic: robust national health systems at the foundation and an empowered WHO at the apex. *Lancet* 2015; **385**(9980): 1902–9. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60644-4.

234. Siedner MJ, Gostin LO, Cranmer HH, Kraemer JD. Strengthening the detection of and early response to public health emergencies: lessons from the West African Ebola epidemic. *PLoS Med*, 2015. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25803303</u> (accessed Nov 3, 2016).

235. Richards P. Ebola: How a People's Science Helped End an Epidemic. London, UK: Zed Books;2016.

236. Plotkin SA, Mahmoud AA, Farrar J. Establishing a Global Vaccine-Development Fund. *The New England journal of medicine* 2015; **373**(4): 297–300. DOI:10.1056/NEJMp1506820.

237. Putting shots in the locker: How to anticipate epidemics. The Economist. 2016 Sep 3.

238. WHO. Ebola Research and Development Summit, Geneva, 11-12 May 2015. Executive Summary. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>http://www.who.int/medicines/ebola-</u>

<u>treatment/Executive-summary-WHO-Ebola-RandD-summit.pdf</u>. (accessed Feb 16, 2016). 239. McPake B, Witter S, Ssali S, Wurie H, Namakula J, Ssengooba F. Ebola in the context of

conflict affected states and health systems: case studies of Northern Uganda and Sierra Leone. *Conflict and health* 2015; **9**: 23. DOI:10.1186/s13031-015-0052-7.

240. WHO. Reining in Angola's yellow fever outbreak. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 2016. <u>http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/94/10/16-031016.pdf</u> (accessed Oct 28, 2016).

241. WHO. News release: Government of Nigeria reports 2 wild polio cases, first since July 2014. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.

242. WHO Regional Office for Africa. Outbreak Bulletin; 2(9) Brazzaville: World Health

Organization, 2012. <u>http://www.afro.who.int/en/clusters-a-programmes/dpc/epidemic-a-pandemic-alert-and-response/outbreak-news/3748-outbreak-bulletin-vol-2-issue-9-21-december-2012.html</u>. (accessed Oct 14, 2015).

243. WHO. Cholera in Sierra Leone: the case study of an outbreak. 2012.

http://www.who.int/features/2012/cholera\_sierra\_leone/en/ (accessed Feb 22, 2016).

244. Pigott DM, Golding N, Mylne A, et al. Mapping the zoonotic niche of Ebola virus disease in Africa. *eLife* 2014; **3**: e04395. DOI:10.7554/eLife.04395.

245. Pigott DM, Golding N, Messina JP. The co-distribution of contagious viral haemorrhagic fevers in Africa [Submitted for publication].

246. Phalkey RK, Yamamoto S, Awate P, Marx M. Challenges with the implementation of an Integrated Disease Surveillance and Response (IDSR) system: systematic review of the lessons learned. *Health policy and planning* 2015; **30**(1): 131–43. DOI:10.1093/heapol/czt097.

247. WHO. International Health Regulations. Summary of States Parties 2013 Report on the IHR Core Capacity Implementation, Regional Profiles. WHO/HSE/GCR/2014.10. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2014. <u>http://www.who.int/ihr/publications/WHO\_HSE\_GCR\_2014.10/en/</u>. (accessed Feb 20, 2016).

248. IANPHI: Public Health Institutes of the World, 2015.

[http://ianphi.org/membercountries/index.html] (accessed 11 August 2015).

249. African Society for Laboratory Medicine. ASLM2020: Strategies and Vision to Strengthen Public Health Laboratory Medicine in Africa. 2015. <u>https://aslm.org/what-we-do/aslm2020-vision/</u> (accessed Nov 3, 2016).

250. African Field Epidemiology Network. AFENET Training Programs. 2015.

http://www.afenet.net/new/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=113&Itemid=115&Ia ng=en (accessed Jul 22, 2015).

251. WHO Regional Office for Africa. Health Promotion: Strategy for the African Region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization, 2013.

http://www.afro.who.int/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_download&gid=9283&Itemid= 2593. (accessed Feb 22, 2016).

252. Mikkelsen L, Phillips DE, AbouZahr C, et al. A global assessment of civil registration and vital statistics systems: monitoring data quality and progress. *Lancet* 2015; **386**(10001): 1395–406. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60171-4.

253. Frean J, Perovic O, Fensham V, et al. External quality assessment of national public health laboratories in Africa, 2002-2009. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2012; **90**(3): 191–9A. DOI:10.2471/BLT.11.091876.

254. One Health Initiative. One World One Health Initiative. <u>http://onehealthinitiative.com</u> (accessed Jul 23, 2015).

255. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The Case for Investing in Public Health; A public health summary report for EPHO 8. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization, 2014. http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0009/278073/Case-Investing-Public-Health.pdf?ua=1. (accessed Aug 11, 2015).

256. World Bank. Public Health and World Bank Operations. Washington, DC: The World Bank, 2002. <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/HEALTHNUTRITIONANDPOPULATION/Resources/Peer-Reviewed-Publications/PHOperations.pdf</u>. (accessed Dec 13, 2016).

257. Cochi SL, Freeman A, Guirguis S, Jafari H, Aylward B. Global polio eradication initiative: lessons learned and legacy. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2014; **210 Suppl 1**: S540–6. DOI:10.1093/infdis/jiu345.

258. United Nations Development Programme. Recovering from the Ebola Crisis: A Summary Report. 2015. <u>http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/crisis-prevention-and-recovery/recovering-from-ebola-summary-report.html</u> (accessed Jul 28, 2015).

259. Bond KC, Macfarlane SB, Burke C, Ungchusak K, Wibulpolprasert S. The evolution and expansion of regional disease surveillance networks and their role in mitigating the threat of infectious disease outbreaks. *Emerging health threats journal* 2013; **6**. DOI:10.3402/ehtj.v6i0.19913.

260. WHO AFRO. African Public Health Emergency Fund (APHEF): Operations manual 2013. http://www.afro.who.int/en/aphef.html (accessed Nov 3, 2016).

261. WHO. The World Health Report 2006: Working together for health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2006. <u>http://www.who.int/whr/2006/en/</u>. (accessed Dec 9, 2016).

262. WHO AFRO. Ouagadougou Declaration on primary health care and health systems in Africa: Achieving better health for Africa in the new millennium. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: WHO Regional Office for Africa; 2008.

263. WHO, Global Health Workforce Alliance. The Kampala Declaration and Agenda for Global Action. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.

264. Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. *Lancet* 2010; **376**(9756): 1923–58. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61854-5.

265. Touré B, Avocksonma D, Nyoni J, Ahmal A. Road map for scaling up human resources for health for improved health service delivery in the African Region 2012-2025. *African Health Monitor* 2013; **18**: 20-6.

266. WHO. Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce 2030. Geneva, Switzerland; 2016.

267. Mandeville KL, Lagarde M, Hanson K, Mills A. Human resources for health: time to move out of crisis mode. *The Lancet* 2016; **388**(10041): 220-2. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30952-7.

268. WHO. WHO Global Health Workforce Statistics Database. 2014.

http://www.who.int/hrh/statistics/hwfstats/en/ (accessed Feb 19, 2016.

269. WHO AFRO. Atlas of African Health Statistics 2016: Health situation analysis of the African Region. Brazzaville, Congo: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa; 2016.

270. Scheil-Adlung XE. Global evidence on inequities in rural health protection: new data on rural deficits in health coverage for 174 countries. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2015.

http://www.social-protection.org/gimi/gess/RessourcePDF.action?ressource.ressourceId=51297. (accessed Dec 9, 2016).

271. Wane W, Martin G. Education and Health Services in Uganda : Data for Results and Accountability. Washington, DC: World Bank, 2013. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10986/16683</u>. (accessed Mar 30, 2017).

272. Martin G, Pimhidzai O. Education and health services in Kenya : data for results and accountability. Washington, DC: World Bank, 2013.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/627101468273659926/Education-and-health-servicesin-Kenya-data-for-results-and-accountability. (accessed Mar 30, 2017).

273. World Bank. Togo country status report. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2011.

274. Mullan F, Frehywot S, Omaswa F, et al. Medical schools in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet* 2011; **377**(9771): 1113–21. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(10)61961-7.

275. WHO. Synthesis paper of the thematic working groups: Towards a global strategy on human resources for health. Geneva, Switzerland; 2015.

276. GHWA, WHO. A universal truth: no health without a workforce. Forum report, third Global Forum on Human Resources for Health, Recife, Brazil. Geneva: Global Health Workforce Alliance, World Health Organization, 2013.

http://www.who.int/workforcealliance/knowledge/resources/hrhreport2013/en/. (accessed Dec 9, 2016).

277. Scheffler RM, Mahoney CB, Fulton BD, Dal Poz MR, Preker AS. Estimates of health care professional shortages in sub-Saharan Africa by 2015. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 2009; **28**(5): w849-62. DOI:10.1377/hlthaff.28.5.w849.

278. Campbell J, Buchan J, Cometto G, et al. Human resources for health and universal health coverage: fostering equity and effective coverage. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2013; **91**(11): 853-63. DOI:10.2471/blt.13.118729.

279. WHO. Increasing access to health workers in remote and rural areas through improved retention: Global policy recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.

280. Appiagyei AA, Kiriinya RN, Gross JM, et al. Informing the scale-up of Kenya's nursing workforce: a mixed methods study of factors affecting pre-service training capacity and production. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; **12**: 47. DOI:10.1186/1478-4491-12-47.

281. Primafemed. What is Primafamed? <u>http://www.primafamed.ugent.be/?q=general-network/about/what-primafamed</u> (accessed Dec 14, 2016).

282. Tsinuel G, Tsedeke A, Matthias S, et al. Establishing Medical Schools in Limited Resource Settings. *Ethiopian journal of health sciences* 2016; **26**(3): 277-84.

283. Woollard B, Boelen C. Seeking impact of medical schools on health: meeting the challenges of social accountability. *Medical education* 2012; **46**(1): 21-7. DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2011.04081.x.

284. Talib ZM, Kiguli-Malwadde E, Wohltjen H, et al. Transforming health professions' education through in-country collaboration: examining the consortia among African medical schools catalyzed by the Medical Education Partnership Initiative. *Human resources for health* 2015; **13**: 1. DOI:10.1186/1478-4491-13-1.

285. Middleton L, Howard AA, Dohrn J, et al. The Nursing Education Partnership Initiative (NEPI): innovations in nursing and midwifery education. *Acad Med* 2014; **89**(8 Suppl): S24-8. DOI:10.1097/acm.0000000000342.

286. Imperial College London, WHO. eLearning for undergraduate health professional education, A systematic review informing a radical transformation of health workforce development. In: Najeeb Al-Shorbaji RA, Josip Car, Azeem Majeed, Erica Wheeler, editor. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.

287. Tweheyo R, Nalwadda C, Ayebazibwe N, Mukanga D, Rutebemberwa E, Bazeyo W. Two decades of post-graduate training in Applied Public Health: The experience and challenges of the Uganda Public Health School Without Walls. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, Dec 15, 2011. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3266673/ (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

288. Eyal N, Cancedda C, Kyamanywa P, Hurst SA. Non-physician Clinicians in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Evolving Role of Physicians. *International journal of health policy and management* 2015; **5**(3): 149-53. DOI:10.15171/ijhpm.2015.215.

289. GHWA. Mid-level health workers for delivery of essential health services. A global systematic review and country experiences. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.

http://www.who.int/workforcealliance/knowledge/resources/mlp2013/en/. (accessed Dec 12, 2016).

290. Strachan DL, Kallander K, Nakirunda M, Ndima S, Muiambo A, Hill Z. Using theory and formative research to design interventions to improve community health worker motivation, retention and performance in Mozambique and Uganda. *Human resources for health* 2015; **13**: 25. DOI:10.1186/s12960-015-0020-8.

291. Ministry of Health. Health Service Extension Progamme - Draft Implementation Guideline. In: Ministry of Health, editor. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia; 2005.

292. Bhutta ZA, Lassi ZS, Pariyo G, Huicho L. Global experience of community health workers for delivery of health related Millennium Development Goals: A systematic review, country case studies, and recommendations for integration into national health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization, Global Health Workforce Alliance; 2010.

293. Kok MC, Kane SS, Tulloch O, et al. How does context influence performance of community health workers in low- and middle-income countries? Evidence from the literature. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 2015; **13**: 13. DOI:10.1186/s12961-015-0001-3.

294. TrustAfrica. Declaration and action plan from the 1st African Higher Education Summit on Revitalizing Higher Education for Africa's Future. Dakar, Senegal; 2015.

295. NIMR. The Fourth Tanzania National Health Research Priorities, 2013-2018. In: Mboera LEG, Makundi EA, Mashoto KO, Rumisha SF, Shayo EH, editors. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: National Institute for Medical Research; 2013.

296. WHO Regional Office for Africa. Research for health: a strategy for the African Region 2016-2025. N'Djamena, Republic of Chad: WHO AFRO; 2015.

297. African Union Commission. Science, Technology and Innovation Strategy for Africa 2024 (STISA-2024) Addis Ababas, Ethiopia, 2014. <u>http://au.int/en/sites/default/files/documents/29957-doc-stisa-published\_book.pdf</u>. (accessed Oct 24, 2016).

298. Uthman OA, Wiysonge CS, Ota MO, et al. Increasing the value of health research in the WHO African Region beyond 2015--reflecting on the past, celebrating the present and building the future: a bibliometric analysis. *BMJ Open* 2015; **5**(3): e006340. DOI:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006340.

299. World Bank, Elsevier. A decade of development in sub-Saharan African science, technology, engineering and mathematics research. Washington, DC: World Bank Group 2014.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2014/09/20240847/decade-development-subsaharan-african-science-technology-engineering-mathematics-research. (accessed 3 Nov 2015).

300. Kigotho W. Sub-Saharan Africa's share of global research rises. Oct 2, 2014.
 <u>http://www.universityworldnews.com/article.php?story=2014100213122987</u> (accessed Nov 3, 2015).

301. WHO Regional Office for Africa. The Algiers Declaration: Ministerial Conference on Research for Health in the African Region - Narrowing the knowledge gap to improve Africa's health. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: WHO; 2008.

302. WHO. Report from the Ministerial Summit on Health Research. Geneva; 2004.

303. WHO, Goverment of Mali. The Bamako Call to Action on Research for Health: Strengthening research for health, development, and equity. From the Global Ministerial Forum on Research for Health, Bamako, Mali, November 17-19, 2008. WHO; 2008.

304. African Union. Assembly of The African Union Eighth Ordinary Session - Decisions and Declarations. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia; 2007.

305. Hofman K, Kramer B. Human resources for research: building bridges through the Diaspora. *Global Health Action* 2015; **8**. DOI:10.3402/gha.v8.29559.

306. Mayosi BM, Mekwa NJ, Blackburn J, et al. National Health Research Summit Report: Strengthening Research for Health, Development and Innovation in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: Department of Health, 2011. <u>http://www.rmchsa.org/wp-</u>

<u>content/uploads/2014/04/National-Health-Research-Summit-Report-2011.pdf</u>. (accessed Feb 22, 2016).

307. Ongolo-Zogo P, Lavis JN, Tomson G, Sewankambo NK. Climate for evidence informed health system policymaking in Cameroon and Uganda before and after the introduction of knowledge translation platforms: a structured review of governmental policy documents. *Health research policy and systems / BioMed Central* 2015; **13**: 2. DOI:10.1186/1478-4505-13-2.

308. Mijumbi RM, Oxman AD, Panisset U, Sewankambo NK. Feasibility of a rapid response mechanism to meet policymakers' urgent needs for research evidence about health systems in a low income country: a case study. *Implementation science : IS* 2014; **9**: 114. DOI:10.1186/s13012-014-0114-z.

309. Moat KA, Lavis JN, Clancy SJ, El-Jardali F, Pantoja T, Knowledge Translation Platform Evaluation study t. Evidence briefs and deliberative dialogues: perceptions and intentions to act on what was learnt. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2014; **92**(1): 20–8. DOI:10.2471/blt.12.116806.

310. Odoch WD, Kabali K, Ankunda R, Zulu JM, Tetui M. Introduction of male circumcision for HIV prevention in Uganda: analysis of the policy process. *Health research policy and systems / BioMed Central* 2015; **13**: 31. DOI:10.1186/s12961-015-0020-0.

311. World Bank. Africa Higher Education Centers of Excellence Project.

http://www.projects.worldbank.org/P126974/strengthening-tertiary-education-africa-throughafrica-centers-excellence?lang=en&tab=overview (accessed Oct 27, 2016).

312. Wellcome Trust. Press release: Leading African scientists to drive continent's research agenda. Sep 10, 2015 2015. <u>https://wellcome.ac.uk/press-release/leading-african-scientists-drive-continents-research-agenda</u> (accessed Oct 27, 2016).

313. Zuhlke L, Engel ME, Karthikeyan G, et al. Characteristics, complications, and gaps in evidence-based interventions in rheumatic heart disease: the Global Rheumatic Heart Disease Registry (the REMEDY study). *European heart journal* 2015; **36**(18): 1115–22a. DOI:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu449.

314. Mayosi BM, Ntsekhe M, Bosch J, et al. Prednisolone and Mycobacterium indicus pranii in tuberculous pericarditis. *The New England journal of medicine* 2014; **371**(12): 1121–30. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1407380.

315. Lewis T, Synowiec C, Lagomarsino G, Schweitzer J. E-health in low- and middle-income countries: findings from the Center for Health Market Innovations. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2012; **90**: 332–40.

316. Hostetter M, Klein S, McCarthy D. Taking Digital Health to the Next Level: Promoting Technologies That Empower Consumers and Drive Health System Transformation. Washington, DC: The Commonwealth Fund, 2014. <u>http://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/fund-reports/2014/oct/taking-digital-health-next-level</u>. (accessed Oct 26, 2016).

317. Bates M, Zumla A. Rapid infectious diseases diagnostics using Smartphones. *Annals of translational medicine* 2015; **3**(15): 215. DOI:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.07.07.

318. Rolex Awards for Enterprise. Cardiac telemedicine brings hope in Cameroon. 2014. http://www.rolexawards.com/profiles/young\_laureates/zang\_arthur/project (accessed Apr 21, 2017).

319. Tshabalala S. Botswana's hearing aid pioneers are betting on solar power to go global. 2015. <u>https://qz.com/443630/botswanas-hearing-aid-pioneers-are-betting-on-solar-power-to-go-global/</u> (accessed Apr 21, 2017).

320. AfDB. Innovative e-Health Solutions in Africa Award. Investing in smart human capital innovations: Spreading inclusive growth capacities in Africa. Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: African Development Bank, 2014.

http://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Publications/Innovative\_e%E2%80%91He althb\_Solutions\_in\_Africa\_Award.pdf. (accessed Oct 26, 2016).